HAYWARD UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT AND HAYWARD EDUCATION ASSOCIATION, CTA/NEA

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2022

AGREEMENT

Signatures

In witness hereof, the Hayward Education Association (HEA) has caused this agreement to be signed by its president, and the Hayward Unified School District (HUSD) has caused this agreement to be signed by its president, and ratified by the parties on January 13, 2020.

K Mercedes Faraj K Mercedes Faraj (May 28, 2021 14:14 PDT)

Mercedes Faraj

President

Hayward Education Association

Dr. Annette Walker

President

Board of Education

Nicole Vove (May 28, 2021 14:35 PDT)

Nicole Love

Regional UniServ Staff, CTA

Dr. Matt Wayne

Superintendent

Hayward Unified School District

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	·	<u>Page</u>
PREAMBLE		1
ARTICLE 1	RECOGNITION	2
ARTICLE 2	SAVINGS PROVISION	3
ARTICLE 3	DISTRICT RIGHTS	4
ARTICLE 4	CONCERTED ACTIVITIES	5
ARTICLE 5	SUPPORT OF AGREEMENT	6
ARTICLE 6	NEGOTIATIONS: PROCESS, DURATION & COMPLETION	7
ARTICLE 7	DISCIPLINE LESS THAN DISMISSAL	9
ARTICLE 8	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	11
ARTICLE 9	EMPLOYEE SAFETY	15
ARTICLE 10	HOURS, PREPARATION PERIOD, STAFF MEETINGS	24
ARTICLE 11	LEAVES OF ABSENCE	38
ARTICLE 12	CLASS SIZE	53
ARTICLE 13	EVALUATION	62
ARTICLE 14	TRANSFER PROCEDURES	71
ARTICLE 15	ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	80
ARTICLE 16	NONDISCRIMINATION	84
ARTICLE 17	SUMMER SCHOOL & INTERVENTION PROGRAMS/TEACH	ERS 85
ARTICLE 18	COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD	87
ARTICLE 19	RETIREMENT OPTION	88
ARTICLE 20	MISCELLANEOUS RETIREMENT PROVISIONS	93
ARTICLE 21	PEER ASSISTANCE AND REVIEW	96
ARTICLE 22	COMPENSATION	103
ARTICLE 23	PERSONNEL FILES	115
ARTICLE 24	PROFESSIONAL GROWTH	120
ARTICLE 25	ACADEMIC FREEDOM	121
ARTICLE 26	CURRICULUM AND INSTRUCTION	123
ARTICLE 27	RESTRUCTURED COMPREHENSIVE HIGH SCHOOLS	124
ARTICLE 28	SITE BASED DECISION MAKING	128
ARTICLE 29	DISTANCE LEARNING	136

APPENDICES:

Α	Compensation for Extra Work Load 2020-2021	i
Α	Compensation for Extra Work Load 2019-2020	vi
B1	Teacher Salary Schedule 2020-2021 (200 Days)	xi
B2	Teacher Salary Schedule 2020-2021 (186 Days)	xii
ВЗ	Counselor/Speech Therapist Salary Schedule 2020-2021	xiii
B4	School Psychologist Salary Schedule 2020-2021	xiv
B5	Adult Education/School Nurse Salary Schedule 2020-2021	XV
B6	Adult Ed Hourly Salary Schedule 2020-2021	xvi
В7	Child Development Programs Salary Schedule 2020-2021 (225 Days)	xvii
B8	Child Development Programs Salary Schedule 2020-2021 (186 Days)	xviii
В9	Teacher Salary Schedule 2019-2020 (200 Days)	xix
B10	Teacher Salary Schedule 2019-2020 (186 Days)	xx
B11	Counselor/Speech Therapist Salary Schedule 2019-2020	xxi
B12	School Psychologist Salary Schedule 2019-2020	xxii
B13	Adult Education/School Nurse Salary Schedule 2019-2020	xxiii
B14	Adult Ed Hourly Salary Schedule 2019-2020	xxiv
B15	Child Development Programs Salary Schedule 2019-2020 (225 Days)	xxv
B16	Child Development Programs Salary Schedule 2019-2020 (186 Days)	xxvi
B17	Teacher Salary Schedule 2018-2019 (200 Days)	xxvii
B18	Teacher Salary Schedule 2018-2019 (186 Days)	xxviii
B19	Counselor/Speech Therapist Salary Schedule 2018-2019	xxix
B20	School Psychologist Salary Schedule 2018-2019	xxx
B21	Adult Education/School Nurse Salary Schedule 2018-2019	xxxi
B22	Adult Ed Hourly Salary Schedule 2018-2019	xxxii
B23	Child Development Programs Salary Schedule 2018-2019 (225 Days)	xxxiii
B24	Child Development Programs Salary Schedule 2018-2019 (186 Days)	xxxiv
B25	Teacher Salary Schedule 2017-2018 (200 Days)	XXXV
B26	Teacher Salary Schedule 2017-2018 (186 Days)	xxxvi
B27	Counselor/Speech Therapist Salary Schedule 2017-2018	xxxvii
B28	School Psychologist Salary Schedule 2017-2018	xxxviii
B29	Adult Education/School Nurse Salary Schedule 2017-2018	xxxix
B30	Adult Education Salary Schedule 2017-2018	xl
B31	Child Development Programs Salary Schedule 2017-2018 (225 Days)	xli
B32	Child Development Programs Salary Schedule 2017-2018 (186 Days)	xlii
B33	Teacher Salary Schedule 2016-2017 (200 Days)	xliii

SIDE LETTERS:

School Improvement Grant – Burbank	lxiv
School Improvement Grant – Longwood	lxix
School Improvement Grant – Tennyson	lxxiv
School Improvement Grant - Tennyson Summer Academy	lxxx
Adult School - Hourly Teachers - Change in Working Conditions	lxxxi
Adult School - Contracted Teachers - Change in Working Conditions	lxxxiii
Child Development Center	lxxxv
Transitional Kindergarten	lxxxvi
Reemployment Rights of K-12 Members Reemployed After Layoff	lxxxviii
Reemployment Rights of Permanent Adult School Teachers	xc
Nurse Staffing	xcii
Budget Forum	xciii
Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA) Stipend	xciv

PREAMBLE

The parties having met and negotiated pursuant to the Government Code Section 3540 et seq. have agreed to the following terms and conditions to be adopted by the Board of Education (herein called the "Board") as an agreement for the 2016-2019 school years. The terms and conditions of this contract shall become effective upon adoption by the Board at an official meeting. If any changes in these articles are contemplated by the parties, said changes cannot be made without mutual agreement. In the event of a bona fide emergency as defined by law, the District may suspend operation of any provision of this agreement by giving written notice of such suspension to the Association. Such suspension shall be limited in scope and duration to what is necessary for the District to respond reasonably to such emergency. The Association may challenge by grievance such suspension. If any such grievance proceeds to arbitration, the parties agree to process such arbitration under expedited rules of the American Arbitration Association.

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

The District recognizes Hayward Education Association, CTA/NEA ("Association" or "HEA") as the exclusive representative for the following group of employees:

All temporary, probationary and permanent full-time certificated employees, which include Interns, all temporary, probationary and permanent part-time certificated employees, which includes librarians, nurses, counselors, speech therapists, pre-school teachers, school psychologists, social workers, latchkey teachers, children center instructors, parent nursery teachers, program resource teachers, psychologists, Occupational Therapists and substitute teachers (other than those hired on a day-to-day basis) who are contracted to work more than 75% of the number of days the regular schools of the district are maintained, probationary and permanent certificated adult school teachers, hourly adult school teachers who work nine or more hours per week, and certificated summer school teachers.

The unit shall exclude the following management positions:

Superintendent, deputy superintendent, associate superintendent, executive director, director, assistant principal, coordinator, supervisor, principal, vice-principal and dean. The unit shall also exclude all supervisory and confidential employees designated pursuant to the requirement of the Rodda Act (Government Code Section et seq.)

ARTICLE 2 SAVINGS PROVISION

If any provision of this contract or any application thereof to any unit member or group of unit members is held to be contrary to law by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provisions or application would not be deemed valid or subsisting except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications will continue in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 3 DISTRICT RIGHTS

It is understood and agreed that the District retains all of its power and authority to direct, manage and control to the full extent of the law. Included in, but not limited to, those duties and powers are the exclusive right to: determine its organization; direct the work of its employees; determine the times and hours of operation; determine the kinds and levels of services to be provided, and the methods and means of providing them; establish its educational policies, goals and objectives; insure the rights and educational opportunities of students; determine staffing patterns; determine the number and kinds of personnel required; maintain the efficiency of District operations; determine the curriculum; build, move or modify facilities; establish budget procedures and determine budgetary allocation; determine the methods of revenue; contract out work; and take action on any matter in the event of a bona fide emergency. In addition, the Board retains the right to hire, classify, assign, evaluate, promote, terminate and discipline unit members.

The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the District, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this Agreement, and, then only, to the extent such specific and express terms are in conformance with law.

ARTICLE 4 CONCERTED ACTIVITIES

It is agreed and understood that there will be no strike, work stoppage, slow-down, picketing, or refusal or failure to fully and faithfully perform job functions and responsibilities, or other interference with the operations of the District by the Association or its officers, agents, or members during the term of this Agreement, including compliance with the request of other labor organizations to engage in such activity.

The Association recognizes the duty and obligation of its representatives to comply with the provisions of this Agreement and to make every effort toward inducing all unit members to do so. In the event of a strike, work stoppage, slow-down, or other interference with the operations of the District by unit members who are represented by the Association, the Association agrees, in good faith, to take all necessary steps to cause these unit members to cease such action.

It is agreed and understood that any unit member violating this Article may be subject to discipline.

It is understood that in the event this Article is violated, the District shall be entitled to withdraw any rights, privileges or services provided for in this Agreement or in District policy from any unit member and/or the Association.

In the event that the parties reopen this contract pursuant to mutual agreement, order to bargain or contractual reopeners, the no strike provisions of this article shall not apply after exhaustion of statutory impasse procedures.

ARTICLE 5 SUPPORT OF AGREEMENT

The District and the Association agree that it is to their mutual benefit to encourage the resolution of differences through the meet and negotiation process. Therefore, it is agreed that the District and the Association will support this Agreement and that the Association, for its term, will not appear before the Board to seek change or improvement in any matter explicitly and specifically covered by this agreement except by mutual agreement of the District and the Association.

- A. This Agreement, beginning July 1, 2019, shall remain in full force and effect up to and including June 30, 2022, and, thereafter, shall continue in effect year-by-year unless one of the parties notifies the other, in writing, no later than March 1st of its request to modify, amend or terminate the Agreement. For the 2021-22 school year, the parties shall reopen Article 22 Compensation (including Appendix A) and each party may open one (1) additional article. The parties shall notify each other in writing of their intent to negotiate by March 1, 2021.
- B. Notwithstanding the deadline in paragraph A, in the event that either party wishes to renegotiate the terms of the contract, in the six month period before this contract expires the parties shall work together in good faith in an effort to ensure a timely beginning to negotiations and an efficient negotiations process, to help meet the goal of reaching prompt agreement. Not later than the first regular Board meeting in February of the calendar year in which this Agreement expires, the Association shall submit its initial proposal for the ensuing Agreement. The District will present it to the public at the next Board meeting. At the subsequent Board Meeting, the Board shall conduct a hearing on the Association's proposal; and the parties shall meet and negotiate within five (5) days following the adoption of the Board's initial proposal, which shall not be later than April 1. At the first meeting, a negotiating calendar and schedule shall be mutually established. This calendar and schedule may be revised or augmented upon agreement of the parties.
- C. Either party may utilize the services of outside consultants to assist in the negotiations.
- D. The Board and the Association may discharge their respective duties by means of authorized officers, individual representatives, or committees.
- E. A reasonable number of representatives of the Association shall receive reasonable periods of release time without loss of compensation to meet and negotiate with the Board's representatives.
- F. Not later than November 1, the Board shall furnish the Association with the placement of personnel on the respective salary schedules as of October 1. Upon request, any change in placement and/or the addition of new bargaining unit personnel shall be reported to the Association.
- G. During negotiations, contract provisions tentatively agreed upon shall be reduced to writing and initialed by both parties. When tentative agreement has been reached on all matters being negotiated, the complete agreement shall be submitted to the Association and the Board for approval and signing.
- H. Either the Association or the Board may declare that an impasse has been reached in negotiations. The party declaring impasse may petition the PERB to appoint a mediator to assist in reconciling the differences and resolving the controversy on terms which are mutually acceptable to the parties.

ARTICLE 6 NEGOTIATIONS: PROCESS, DURATION & COMPLETION

- I. During the term of this Agreement, the Association expressly waives and relinquishes the right to meet and negotiate and agrees that the District shall not be obligated to meet and negotiate with respect to any subject of matter whether referred to or covered in this Agreement or not, even though each subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both the District or the Association at the time they met and negotiated on and executed this Agreement, and even though such subjects or matters were proposed and later withdrawn.
- J. The District will publish the contracts online and distribute hard copies to all unit members.

ARTICLE 7 DISCIPLINE LESS THAN DISMISSAL

- A. The District may discipline a unit member only for just cause.
- B. For purposes of this Article, "discipline" is a suspension without pay for up to fifteen (15) working days and any written warning or reprimand which is placed in a unit member's personnel file.
- C. A unit member may be dismissed only according to the provisions of the California Education Code.
- D. Suspensions without pay, which exceeded fifteen (15) days in length, shall be implemented according to the provisions of the California Education Code.
- E. Notices of suspension will be made in writing and served in person or by certified mail upon the unit member by the superintendent or designee. A copy will be provided to the Association at or about the same time notice is served on the employee. The notice of suspension will contain
 - 1. A copy of this Article;
 - 2. The proposed suspension;
 - A statement of the act(s) or infraction(s) upon which the suspension is based:
 - 4. Where applicable, a statement of rules, regulations or statutes which the bargaining unit member is alleged to have violated;
 - 5. Copies of the documentary evidence upon which the proposed suspension is based;
 - 6. A statement of the unit member's right to challenge the proposed suspension by requesting a hearing pursuant to the arbitration procedures of Article 8 Grievance Procedure of this agreement.
- F. Only suspensions without pay (up to 15 working days) may be appealed to arbitration under the grievance procedure in Article 8 Grievance Procedure, commencing with the superintendent or designee level (Level II).
 - 1. The Association must request a Level II grievance meeting by delivering written notice of appeal to the superintendent/designee within ten (10) working days after the employee's receipt of the suspension notice. Thereafter, all procedures and time limits are as specified in Article 8 Grievance Procedure.
 - 2. Regardless of whether or not the Association files a grievance, the suspension without pay may be imposed immediately by the District.
- G. Written warnings or reprimands are not subject to the grievance procedure, but are covered under the appeal procedure specified in Article 23E Personnel Files. However, during an arbitration hearing concerning a suspension, as noted above, the Association may challenge the just cause of any prior written warning or reprimand used by the District as a basis for the suspension. Such challenge

ARTICLE 7 DISCIPLINE LESS THAN DISMISSAL

may be made regardless of whether the written warning was appealed under Article 23E at the time of its issue.

- H. The parties will keep all information or proceedings regarding any actions or proposed actions pursuant to the Article confidential to the extent permitted by law.
- I. Nothing in this article shall apply to or limit the District from exercising its discretion to place employees on administrative leave with pay.

A. Definitions

- 1. Grievance A grievance is a claim regarding the interpretations or application of this Agreement.
- 2. Grievant A grievant may be the Association or any unit member of the District.
- 3. Day A day, for the purpose of this Section, is any day in which the District offices are open.

B. Level I

- 1. When a unit member has a grievance, the unit member shall first discuss the matter in an informal conference with the administrator with immediate administrative responsibilities for the position to which the unit member is assigned.
- 2. If the matter is not resolved at the informal conference, the unit member may, within thirty (30) days after the occurrence of the event giving rise to the grievance, present his/her grievance, in writing, to the administrator with immediate administrative responsibility for the position in which the unit member is assigned. The grievance shall state the issues involved, the provisions in dispute, and the remedy sought.
- 3. When the Association has a grievance, the Association shall first discuss the matter in an informal conference with the administrator with immediate responsibility for the event, giving rise to the grievance.
- 4. If the matter is not resolved at the informal conference, the Association may within thirty (30) days after the occurrence of the event giving rise to the grievance, present the grievance in writing to the administrator with immediate responsibility for the event. The grievance shall state the specific facts giving rise to the grievance including the date, location, and identity of the unit members and administrators involved in the situation, the contract provisions alleged to have been violated and the remedy sought. The Association shall not file a grievance if pursuant to E.2 of this article the District has provided the Association with notice of settlement of an individual unit member's grievance and the Association did not object to the remedy within ten (10) calendar days.
- 5. The administrator shall communicate his/her decision to the grievant, in writing, within seven (7) days after receiving the complaint.

C. Level II

- 1. The grievant may appeal, in writing, a Level I decision to Level II to the office of the Superintendent or designee within ten (10) days after receiving it. The administrator shall be furnished a copy of the appeal.
- 2. The Superintendent or designee shall investigate the details of the grievance and meet with the grievant within five (5) days of the receipt of the grievance in order to resolve the issue.
- 3. The Superintendent or designee shall communicate the outcome of the conference(s) to the grievant and the administrator involved, in writing, within ten (10) days of the receipt of the grievance.

D. Level III

- 1. a. If the decision at Level II is not satisfactory or the timelines stated above have been violated, the aggrieved, within ten (10) days after receiving the decision at Level II, may request, in writing, that the Association submit the grievance to arbitration.
 - b. Within ten (10) days of the grievant's request for arbitration, the Association President and/or his/her designees, the Superintendent and the Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources, shall meet to resolve the grievance. The Superintendent shall communicate his/her decision to the Association, in writing, within ten (10) days after the meeting.
 - The Association by written notice to the Superintendent or C. designee, within fifteen (15) days, after receipt of the request from may submit the grievance to arbitration. aggrieved. Representatives of the District and Association shall attempt to agree upon a mutually acceptable arbitrator and obtain a commitment from that person to serve. If the parties are unable to agree upon an arbitrator within ten (10) days, the Association shall file a demand to arbitrate with the American Arbitration Association. The selection of the arbitrator shall be in accordance with the American Arbitration Association's procedures. The Association and the District shall pay one-half (1/2) of any charges required by the American Arbitration Association for services rendered. The cost of the impartial person and hearing expenses shall be shared equally by the District and the grievant or the Association.

- A notice of the request shall be sent to the Superintendent or designee and shall include a copy of the original grievance and appeal, and the decision rendered.
- 3. The impartial person will decide the time and place for a hearing. The hearing will be private, and, unless otherwise agreed, will be conducted in accordance with the Voluntary Rules of the American Arbitration Association.

4. The Arbitrator

- a. The Arbitrator shall not consider any matter outside the scope of the grievance as defined in this contract, shall confine the decision to the precise issue submitted, shall have no authority to interpret any state or federal law when the compliance or noncompliance therewith might be involved in the consideration of the grievance and shall have no authority to make a recommendation on any other issue. However, the issue as to whether a matter is outside the scope of the grievance is to be determined by the impartial person before hearing the substantive matter.
- b. The Arbitrator shall have no authority to confer punitive damages or attorneys' fees.
- 5. After the close of the hearing, both parties shall have an opportunity to submit written arguments.
- 6. The impartial person shall submit the decision, in writing, to all parties within thirty (30) days after submission, which decision shall be final and binding upon the District, the Association and the unit member involved unless the impartial person exceeds his/her authority, except as provided in D.4. above.
- 7. A copy of the decision shall be provided to both the Association and the District Superintendent or designee.

E. Miscellaneous Provisions

- 1. During the pendency of any proceeding and until a final determination has been reached, all proceedings shall be private.
- Any unit member may at any time present grievances to the employer and have such grievances adjusted without the intervention of the Association as long as the adjustment is reached prior to Level III and the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of this contract; provided that the District

shall not agree to a final resolution of the grievance until the Association has received a copy of the grievance and the proposed resolution, and has been given the opportunity to file a response. A grievant may be represented by the Association or may represent himself/herself.

- 3. There shall be no reprisals of any kind taken against any unit member or representative because of participation in the grievance or support thereof.
- 4. Failure at any step of this procedure to communicate the decision on a grievance within the specified time limits shall permit lodging an appeal at the next step of the procedure within the time allotted had the decision been given. Failure to appeal a decision within the specified time limits shall be deemed an acceptance of the decision. Time limits given in this procedure may be modified by written agreement of all the parties involved.
- 5. In the event that a grievance affects more than one unit member, the grievance may be filed on behalf of all affected unit members, and if the grievance affects unit members at more than one work location it may be initiated at Level II. Grievances concerning the same issues may be consolidated so long as it does not create an unnecessary delay.
- 6. All documents, communications and records dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed in a separate grievance file and shall not be kept in the personnel file of any of the participants.
- 7. Forms for filing grievances and other necessary documents shall be prepared by the District following review by the Association and shall be given sufficient distribution so as to facilitate operation of the grievance procedure. The costs of preparing such forms shall be borne by the District.
- 8. Normally, all grievances shall be handled outside the regular workday. However, in the event it becomes necessary to conduct a grievance hearing or conference with an administrator during the workday, the grievant represented, representative and witnesses shall be granted release time without loss of pay. The District shall provide a reasonable amount of release time for processing grievances.

A. Safety and Health

- The District shall make provisions for the safety of unit members in all aspects of their employment. This shall include published District or school procedures on the safety of unit members. These procedures shall be disseminated to unit members as appropriate and to the safety committee at each school site.
- 2. No unit member shall be discharged solely because the unit member has a life-threatening illness. If the unit member has a life-threatening illness which affects the unit member's ability to perform duties, or poses a health danger to the unit member or to others, the unit member shall cooperate with the District's request to submit to a medical examination to determine fitness to perform duties or to provide evidence acceptable to the District that the unit member is physically capable of safely performing duties.

If a unit member submits to a medical examination by a District designated doctor, the District shall pay for the cost of such medical examination.

- 3. Each site administrator shall maintain a Site Safety Committee, which shall discharge its duties under the District's IIPP, District guidelines and State law. At the first faculty meeting of each year, the Principal or designee shall inform the staff of the content of the site and District-wide Illness and Injury Prevention Plan (IIPP). By the fifteenth (15th) day of the instructional school year, the site administrators will distribute the Districtrecommended list of emergency safety supplies. By October 1st or prior to the first district safety committee meeting, whichever comes first, the site safety committees will submit to the District Safety Committee an inventory of the site emergency supplies including any missing supplies. Prior to the Thanksgiving break, the District will provide any necessary emergency supplies. If a unit member or school site safety committee believes a safety procedure is inadequate, the unit member or the committee shall report this to the school principal, or designee, in writing, who will take the necessary actions to alleviate a problem. Should the principal's/supervisor's solution be considered unsatisfactory, the unit member or committee may appeal the problem, in writing, to the appropriate assistant superintendent for further consideration and action. The determination of the matter by the Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources, shall be reported to the unit member or committee as soon as possible, but no more than five (5) days after receipt of the appeal. The unit member or committee may request the response to be in writing.
- 4. The District and sites, in consultation with the staff, shall regularly review and update their emergency plans.
- 5. Teachers will be notified promptly of any major disturbances which have occurred on campus. i.e., an event which restricts teachers to their

classrooms or causes a delay in dismissal or change in schedule. Site safety committees will establish protocols for how notification will occur and the plan will be submitted to the District Safety Committee for review in compliance with the law.

- a. HEA will be contacted as soon as possible of the occurrence of any threat with a weapon, assault, and/or physical threat of a unit member to the extent known and can be otherwise disclosed by District Administration.
- 6. a. The District shall inform teachers and counselors of any pupil who has engaged in, or is reasonably suspected to have engaged in, any of the acts described in Education Code section 48900 (except in sub-division H) or in Section 48900.2, 48900.3, 48900.4, or 48900.7 and required to be disclosed to teachers under Education Code section 49079, not later than the 3rd business day after the District is notified.

All other unit members will be concurrently notified electronically. The notification will inform staff that they may contact administration for further relevant information, including a photo, if available.

- b. The behavior referred to above includes, but is not limited to, the use of force or violence, assault, possession of weapons or explosives, using or selling controlled substances, robbery, and/or damaging property, all of which are more fully defined by section 48900.
- c. The District shall provide the information required by this section based upon any records that the District maintains in its ordinary course of business, or receives from a law enforcement agency or information from a School Resource Officer (S.R.O.) for the three (3) previous school years.
- d. Any information received by a teacher or counselor pursuant to this section shall be received in confidence for the limited purpose for which it was provided and shall not be further disseminated by the teacher or counselor.
- 7. The District shall inform parents/guardians of the policies and laws regarding physical and verbal assaults within the District's discipline handbook.
- 8. The school site safety committee will review and make recommendations for clean room/school standards.
- 9. Each member will have a common key to access hallways, restrooms and

other shared areas including, but not limited to, the cafeteria, faculty room, and copy room.

- B. Facilities, Conditions and Equipment
 - Once reported, by a unit member or within the AHERA report, the District will immediately remove all friable asbestos at each site, in accordance with the timelines B5 below. The District will provide a copy of the AHERA report to each school site to be discussed at the first staff meeting of the school year.
 - 2. A unit member or school site safety committee shall report promptly, in writing, to the immediate supervisor any unhealthy or unsafe facilities, conditions or equipment. The administrator shall respond appropriately to the report. If the unit member or committee is not satisfied with the administrator's disposition of the issue, either may appeal the problem, in writing, to the superintendent or designee for further consideration and action. The determination of the matter by the superintendent or designee shall be reported to the unit member or committee as soon as possible, but not more than five (5) days after receipt of the appeal. The unit member or committee may request the response to be in writing.
 - 3. Unit members will not be subject to any disciplinary action for making or filing any complaint involving an unsafe working condition. Nothing in this Article shall preclude an employee from filing a Cal-OSHA claim.
 - 4. The District shall inform the Association and school site safety committees annually, and unit members upon request, of the location of Cal-OSHA general industrial safety information, orders and procedures relating to workplace safety which have been provided to the District by Cal-OSHA.
 - 5. When an administrator or unit member finds a condition is such as to render a situation unsafe, unhealthy or hazardous, the administrator or unit member shall take immediate steps to protect the safety of the unit member, including, as necessary, submitting a work order to rectify the condition.
 - a. The work order procedure will provide information to the site regarding the status of work orders, including time and date received, contact person, and expected completion date, which shall not be more than twelve (12) working days after date of receipt of the work order by the Maintenance and Operations Department.
 - b. The parties agree the provisions of this section apply only to unsafe, unhealthy or hazardous conditions, as opposed to normal/routine maintenance issues.

- c. The parties agree that in some cases, interim measures may be utilized to temporarily rectify a condition, and that the undertaking of major repairs may need to be scheduled beyond the twelve (12) days in order to avoid disruption of educational programs and activities. The timeline for repairs beyond the twelve (12) working days will need to be mutually agreed upon by the HEA president or designee and an HUSD representative.
- 6. The District shall make an annual assessment of facility usage. The Association shall be provided a copy of the District's findings prior to presentation of the administration's recommendations on facility usage to the Board.
- 7. The school site safety committee shall review and make recommendations regarding student discipline which threatens the safety of students and staff, workroom conditions and the on-site maintenance of equipment and storage of supplies in science, computer, art, industrial technology, and home economics rooms.
- 8. In the event an infestation of vermin, insects or other unhealthful conditions is discovered, the District, will notify the site and impacted members forty-eight (48) hours prior, or as soon as possible with the member's consent, to the application of herbicides or pesticides.
- 9. The District shall post at each site a copy of the annual painting schedule for that site as soon as it is developed by the Maintenance Department. An opportunity for input by affected unit members shall be provided each site scheduled for painting. Alterations in that schedule shall be provided to the affected school site as soon as the changes in schedule are known. Affected unit members shall be informed at least three (3) days before their rooms are to be painted. The removal of graffiti, inflammatory or obscene language, signs or pictures or painting necessary to complete a repair to an unsafe condition may be done at any time without prior notice.
- 10. The District will respond affirmatively and responsibly to requests to test drinking water for contaminants at school sites. Any report shall be copied to HEA.
- 11. With new construction and modernization, as funding becomes available, classrooms will have doors which are lockable from the inside of the classroom.

C. Legal Protection

1. The Board, upon the request of a unit member, will provide for the defense

of any civil action or proceeding brought against him/her, in his/her official or individual capacity or both, on account of any act or omission in the scope of his/her employment as an employee, provided that the unit member was not engaged in fraudulent, corrupt or malicious action, and provided that the action is not brought by the Board or an agent of the Board.

- 2. The Board will provide, at no cost to unit members, tort liability insurance coverage in the amount of \$1,000,000 in order to protect unit members from personal loss arising from any civil suits brought against them in connection with their employment.
- Unit members will be legally protected and held harmless from all liability when conducting an approved field trip when held in accordance with the provisions of applicable codes, Board policies and administrative regulations.

D. Assault, Insult, Abuse

- 1. Unit members may use such force as is reasonable under the circumstances to protect himself or herself from attack, to protect another person or property, to quell a disturbance threatening physical injury to others, or to obtain possession of weapons or other dangerous objects upon the person or within control of a pupil.
- 2. The unit member and his/her supervisor shall report promptly to the appropriate law enforcement authorities any incident in which a school employee is attacked, assaulted, threatened, or menaced by any pupil and/or parent.
 - a. Failure to make such a report involving an attack, assault, or physical threat by a pupil is a misdemeanor.
 - b. Following the above action, the "Report of Assault" form must be completed and forwarded to the Director of Student Services.
- 3. If criminal or civil proceedings are brought against a unit member alleging that he/she committed an assault in connection with his/her employment, such unit member may request the Board to furnish legal counsel to defend him/her in such proceedings. If the Board, after a request, does not provide such counsel and the unit member prevails in the proceedings, then the Board shall reimburse the unit member for counsel fees incurred in his/her own defense and shall reimburse the unit member for any loss in salary providing that:
 - a. The assault was not malicious.
 - b. The action was not a proceeding between the District and the unit member.

- 4. When a unit member is injured as a result of an assault, (s)he shall immediately submit to his/her supervisor a workers' compensation injury claim form. Medical expenses will be covered under the workers' compensation provision of the law. Unit members will be reimbursed for personal articles damaged during an assault under the provisions of this article, section F.
- 5. Annually, the District will provide unit members with a written summary of their legal protections, including, but not limited to, assaults, subpoenas, court appearances representing the district.
- 6. The District shall provide a one day in-service training to unit members on assault intervention skills. This in-service training shall be voluntary and provided on a yearly basis.
- 7. After the unit member has been involved in a violent or traumatic incident at the site, the unit member will be provided release time as mutually agreed upon by the unit member and the site administrator.

E. Suspension of Pupils

Consistent with the pupil's due process rights, a teacher may suspend for any of the acts enumerated in Education Code section 48900, any pupil from his or her class for the day of the suspension and the day following. The teacher shall send the pupil to the principal for appropriate action and there shall be an immediate written report to the principal of the suspension. As soon as possible, the teacher shall ask the parent or guardian of the pupil to attend a parentteacher conference regarding the suspension. A school counselor or a school psychologist may agree to attend the conference. A school administrator shall attend the conference if the teacher or the parent or quardian so requests. The pupil shall not be returned to the class from which he or she was suspended, during the period of the suspension, without the concurrence of the teacher of the class and the principal. A student suspended from a class shall not be placed with any other teacher during the duration of the suspension. Any student placed on an in-house suspension may be placed in a site designated detention room led by the Detention Room Assistant based on availability. At the secondary level, if the pupil is assigned to more than one class per day the suspension shall apply only to the class period from which the pupil is suspended.

F. Personal Property Loss

The District shall reimburse unit members for the repair or replacement of personal property of the unit member lost, stolen, soiled, damaged or destroyed while the unit member was on duty in the school, on the school premises or at a school-sponsored activity, including but not limited to home visits, unless such damage or loss is due to negligence by the unit member.

- In the event a payment is made under this agreement, the District will, to the extent of such payment, be subrogated to any right of the unit member to recover compensation for such damaged property. The District will be entitled to enforce its subrogation right in any court of competent jurisdiction.
- 3. The maximum amount of the District's reimbursement shall be no more than \$600.00 or less than \$30.00 per incident. Exception: Replacement of dentures shall not be subject to the \$600.00 limitation.
- 4. The District shall create a separate fund in the amount of \$10,000 per year for the purpose of reimbursing unit members for damage to personal transportation.
 - a. HEA and HUSD agree to the following procedures for implementing the personal automobile damage fund. This provision is not intended to cover personal property of the unit member, borrowed vehicles belonging to others that are not insured for damage or collision as required by state law, collision damage to other vehicles, personal injury, or time away from work as a result of the incident.
 - b. If a unit member's personal transportation is damaged while on school business, excluding to and from work, the unit member will submit a claim to HUSD Risk Management/Workers Compensation department. The District will reimburse the cost of a unit member's automobile deductible and any other unreimbursed expenses such as towing or car rental not covered by his/her insurance.
 - c. In the event a claimant does not have comprehensive insurance coverage to cover the loss, the fund shall pay up to \$1,000. If, on the last day of school, money remains in the fund, then representatives of HEA and the District shall meet to determine the portion of the fund to be distributed to claimants whose cost exceeded \$1,000.
 - d. The District may recover from the party deemed responsible for causing the loss, the amount of money that has been paid to the claimant herein, should other assets or insurance coverage be presented in the future.
 - e. Risk Management will use the fund to cover claims as they occur during the year. The District and the Association will meet if there is an issue regarding a claim or number of claims a unit member or unit members are making. The parties shall also meet if the fund falls below \$500. The District and the Association will mutually agree upon any remedies or actions taken at these meetings.

G. Equipment Loss

- 1. The District shall reimburse unit members for the loss, destruction or damage by arson, burglary, or vandalism of property used for school instructional purposes in the District. Reimbursement shall be made only when approval for the use of the personal property in the school was given before the property was brought to school and when the value of the property was agreed upon by the person or persons bringing the property and the school administrator or the person appointed by him/her for this purpose, at the time the approval for its use was given. Approval for the use of property shall not be unreasonably withheld and shall be consistent with Article 25 (Academic Freedom).
- 2. The maximum amount of the District's reimbursement shall be no more than \$600.00 or less than \$30.00 per incident.

H. Opening and Closing of Building

If a Children's Center unit member is assigned the responsibility for the opening and closing of a building and said unit member is concerned for his/her safety, and in the absence of another District employee, said unit member may call District security for assistance.

I. Student Attendance and Discipline

The District and the Association shall establish a discipline committee to review and make recommendations upon District Attendance and Discipline Policies. The committee shall be composed of equal numbers of unit members and administrators, but shall not exceed eight (8) total members. The unit members shall be selected by the Association. The recommendation of the committee shall be forwarded to the Superintendent and the Board.

J. Quarterly Reports

The District shall provide HEA with copies of reports of the California Safe Schools Assessment - School Crime Reporting Form as submitted by the District. The District shall also provide HEA with the summary report and the composite report from the state.

K. Specialized Health Care Procedures

1. Unit members, with the exception of nurses, shall not be required to provide and conduct necessary specialized health care procedures including, but not limited to, dispensing medication, catheterizations, crede', diapering, injections, ileostomies, colostomies, gastrostomies, tracheotomy, suction, oxygen administration, gavage feeding, and draining with the exception of emergencies and field trips and only if they have

received appropriate training.

- 2. Unit members may choose to voluntarily accept professional training in the handling of any specialized health care services in K.1.
- 3. The District shall provide to unit members training in the handling of blood and bodily fluids and shall provide equipment including, but not limited to, latex gloves, disposable mouth to mouth breathers, and facilities to wash with anti-bacterial soap and hot water at every site.
- 4. Any training in specialized health care procedures will apply for the school year in which it was given. Training shall be provided prior to the placement of the student in the classroom. Follow-up training in subsequent years will be provided when requested by the unit member.

L. Communications

- 1. Each unit member shall have access to a district issued walkie-talkie, cell phone, or comparable equipment for the purposes of communicating with the site office, other appropriate personnel or emergency services via a walkie-talkie, cell phone or comparable equipment. The district issued walkie-talkie, cell phone, or comparable equipment shall be available whenever the teacher is supervising or instructing students outside of a classroom, including, but not limited to, field trips, yard duty and PE. The unit member and site administrator shall meet to reach consensus on the mode of communication that best serves the safety needs of our students and staff. If consensus is not reached, HEA and HR will meet with the administrator and unit member to reach consensus.
- 2. All rooms will have a working phone for purposes of communicating with the site office, other appropriate site personnel and access to outside lines including 911.

M. Shelter in Place

1. Drills will be coordinated and scheduled on a rotating basis by the site safety committee in collaboration with SBDM. Any more than two preps and/or collaborations times lost, due to drills, will be compensated at the hourly rate of pay.

A. Hours

- 1. Workday
 - a. The length of the workday during the regular year for full-time unit members, including preparation time, lunch period and time required before and after school, shall not exceed the following:
 - (1) Elementary (K-6) 7 hours
 - (2) Secondary (7-12), including Continuation High Schools, and Day Adult 7 1/4 hours
 - (3) Counselors 8 hours
 - (4) Children's Center 7 1/2 hours
 - (5) School Psychologist 8 hours
 - (6) Speech & Language Pathologist 7 hours
 - (7) Occupational Therapists 8 hours
 - b. Beginning the 2020-2021 school year, teachers' instructional day, including preparation periods in grades K to 12 shall be no more than:

260 minutes in kindergarten

330 minutes in grades 1-3

330 minutes in grades 4-6

397 minutes in grades 7-12

(For grades 9-12 the minutes include nutrition, 7-10-minute passing periods, and advisory/announcements).

- (1) A teacher whose regularly scheduled teaching day starts before the normal teaching day, shall be entitled to leave at the end of the hours set forth in section A. 1. a. Teachers may volunteer to teach a zero or seventh period. A teacher may request to have their workday hours changed from the normal teaching day to leave earlier if teaching a zero period or arrive later if teaching a seventh period. The teachers' workday schedule shall be contingent upon the overall impact on the master schedule and the number of sections needed in a given subject area.
- (2) In any event that a bargaining unit member is required to remain on campus because the unit member's assignment results in the unit member working beyond the contractual workday, the bargaining unit member will receive his/her per diem hourly rate of pay per the number of hours extended outside of their workday.

- (3) No full-time unit member shall be required to teach more than three (3) different classes per term (e.g. Geometry, Pre-Calculus, Math A). Teachers with less than four (4) years of teaching experience shall not be required to teach more than two (2) different classes per term. Exceptions to either case above, may be made with the consent of the teacher. If two classes are the same with the exception of their sheltered designation, they will be considered the same class. This article shall not apply to teachers who are teaching within the special education or music programs.
- (4) The adult education instructional day is defined as 300 instructional minutes composed of five (5) teaching periods of sixty (60) minutes in length, excluding passing time and breaks.
- c. Instructional time for students shall be no less than:

36,000 annual minutes in kindergarten 50,400 annual minutes in grades 1-3 54,000 annual minutes in grades 4-8 64,800 annual minutes in grades 9-12

- (1) Provided State law permits instructional minutes in staggered reading programs in grades 1-3 count towards the State's annual instructional requirement for students, the District will continue the existing staggered reading program.
- (2) No later than the third week of the first trimester of the school year, if one or more teachers within a grade level desire to unstagger, they shall consult with all teachers within the grade level. Thereafter, the teacher(s) desiring to unstagger shall submit a written proposal to SBDM, which shall state the reasons for the request and whether the other teachers within the grade level support the request.

SBDM will review the proposal and make adjustments to the day to day operations impacted by the proposal including scheduling and any waivers that need to be submitted.

(3) Unit members staggering shall inform the District and HEA.

(4) Each site decision is unique and shall not be deemed precedential in respect to any other site.

.

ARTICLE 10 HOURS, PREPARATION PERIOD, STAFF MEETINGS

- d. Minimum days shall be established by the District on an as-needed basis. The District shall attempt to schedule district-wide in-services and district-wide meetings affecting the elementary level at times when all year round schools are in session.
- e. Shortened Wednesdays at the Elementary Schools will be allocated to collaboration time and 50 minutes of preparation after the instructional day.
- f. Kindergarten teachers may request to have a split/staggered schedule for their class as long as all students receive the 36,000 annual minutes required for kindergarten.
- g. Unit members will make every reasonable attempt to hold a face-to-face conference with each student's parent/s, guardian or designated person with educational rights during elementary conference days. If a teacher's attempts to schedule such a conference fail, the teacher will make a reasonable effort to hold a telephone conference instead, and will note the telephone conference date or the attempts on the conference schedule.
- h. Unit members are entitled to a daily thirty (30) minute duty-free lunch period. In addition, Children's Center unit members are entitled to a daily 40-minute preparation period and a daily duty free 15-minute break.

i. Adult Education

- (1) For Adult Education, the unit member's schedule shall adhere to the following guidelines: a five (5) minute passing time between each class period, a fifteen (15) minute break between second (2nd) and third (3rd) period, between the end of the third (3rd) period and before the beginning of the fifth (5th) period.
- (2) An early or late lunch will occur. Unit members shall have final decision of whether to take early or late lunch. Lunch schedules shall be determined prior to the printing of the adult school quarterly schedule.
- (3) The on-site duty time for full-time unit members shall be seven and a quarter (7¼) hours per day. This time includes all instructional time, a forty-five (45) minute duty free lunch time, office hours and passing time and duty free break time.
- (4) Office hours (a) each teacher will schedule on-campus office hours commensurate with his/her work day. (b) Office hours

are by definition, a combination of preparation time, conference time, collaboration time, and a program development time, as determined by the unit member.

- (5) Adult Ed hourly unit members who must submit weekly attendance forms shall have mailing envelopes with postage provided to them or, if they must personally deliver the forms, shall receive mileage at the IRS rate.
- j. The District will annually review the schedules of teachers who are assigned to two or more schools in the same day. The District shall make adjustments in these schedules to provide reasonable travel time for these teachers. HEA and the district will reach consensus on the time matrix which will be included in the appendices herein.

2. Additional Required Time

a. In addition to the work day, each unit member in the elementary, intermediate, and comprehensive high schools will be required to perform no more than 40 hours of additional duty time per year per unit member. Among these duties which the District assigns within these 40 hours are mandatory committee meetings, faculty/district meetings, IEP meetings, parent conferences, (additional to those on scheduled conference days), Back-to-School Night and Open House, before - and after - school bus duty and/or yard duty, and the supervision of students at extra or co-curricular activities.

Occupational Therapists, School psychologists, speech therapists/pathologists and Special Education resource specialists shall be exempt from yard duty.

- b. Special day class teachers are responsible for students being met at the bus at the beginning of the students' school day and for students being escorted to the bus at the end of the students' school day. However, the teacher may instruct his/her Paraprofessional to perform the actual service.
- c. Once a bargaining unit member has reached 40 hours, then any meeting scheduled outside of the workday will be optional and if attended will be compensated at the hourly rate.
- 3. The supervising administrator, with consultation and advice of the staff, shall provide for equitable extra duty assignments of all employees and the scheduling of student activities supervision. An annual report will be made available to the site representative upon request.

- a. At the high school, if it is necessary to have unit members provide supervision on a non-work day, the site administrator shall first ask for volunteers. If there are not enough volunteers, the principal may assign unit members to this supervision. Any unit member providing non-work day supervision will be paid at the hourly rate for hours worked.
- b. Teacher-in-charge assignments shall be voluntary. If a unit member volunteers for such an assignment, the District shall inform him/her of liability issues, duties, and responsibilities.
- Each site will have a written plan to cover teaching assignments C. when a substitute is not available. The plan shall outline the options for supervision of uncovered classes at the site. The written plan may include administration as the first option. The plan may also include teachers who volunteer to use their prep time. Teachers who volunteer to use their prep time can decline at any time. Development of the list of options shall be the responsibility of the site administrator working with the site-based decision making team or using a process agreeable to the site administrator and staff. If options developed include teacher supervision of additional students in a teacher's classroom, at the elementary grade levels, students must be placed in classrooms within two grade level spans and shall not exceed five (5) students per teacher. As part of the site plan SBDM will also consider placing the additional students within the student's instructional program including but not limited to DLI, Bilingual, Special Education, etc. Unit members shall not be assigned a classroom, all day, to cover for the absence of a substitute. At the secondary level, PE teachers shall have the option of accepting students from another PE class. Teachers shall have the right to decline at any time.
- d. Teachers will be paid for an additional hour at the hourly rate when voluntarily using their prep time for subbing. Unit members who voluntarily accept up to the additional five (5) students in the absence of a substitute referred to A.3.c. herein, will be paid a stipend of \$60..
- e. School Psychologists, Speech Therapists and Special Education Resource Specialists shall be exempt from yard duty assignments.
- f. When a unit member is assigned to more than one site, extra duty assignments shall be at his/her school only.
 - (1) Home school shall be defined as the site at which the unit member spends a majority of his/her assignment.

(2) If the unit member's assignment is split equally among the sites, the home school shall be determined by mutual agreement among the unit member and the site administrators involved.

4. Work Year & Workdays

- 1. The work year for unit members on the teachers' salary schedule shall be 183 days during the life of the contract. The number of work days during the length of the contract shall be the number of days as per paragraph b. below.
- b. The number of work days in the school year for the following positions shall be:

Teachers and Other Unit Members not Listed Below	183 days
Year-Round School Employees	183 days
Counselors/Social Workers/Speech Therapists	188 days
Program Resource Teachers	188 days
Teacher Trainers	188 days

Children's Center and Latchkey Employees

225 days, except those employees desiring to work a shorter work year, may request, and be granted such a leave, provided the request is made by May 15 of the preceding school year. Latchkey employees who work 183 days will be considered full-time.

School Psychologist 192 days Occupational Therapists 188 days

- c. All unit members at each Children's Center shall be given the opportunity, at least once a year, to alternate shift assignments. The procedure to be used for determining the shift assignment shall be determined by a majority vote of the unit members at each center.
- d. A calendar will be established prior to the end of the preceding school year. The District and HEA will work toward a multi-year calendar. The District and HEA will begin calendar negotiations by February 1st of each school year. Every effort will be made to create a two-year calendar.
- e. Teacher Workdays

Elementary (K-6)

Work days will be placed on the first day of the work year, the last day of the work year and one additional day to be used for a parent conferencing day to be determined when the calendar is being negotiated. It is understood that two days prior to the parent conference days will be shortened or minimum days and teachers will be required to work twenty-one (21) hours during those three days.

Secondary (7-12)

Workdays will be placed on the first day of the work year, the last day of the work year and one additional day for secondary schools between the 1st and 2nd semester (midyear) and for Restructured High Schools between the second and third term (mid-year). Advanced Placement (AP) teachers will be given two (2) release days per semester to be used to support their AP class assignment. The scheduling of the days will be determined by the teacher with the consensus of the site administrator.

- 5. Children's Center days of non-responsibility shall be established by mutual agreement between unit members and the District. If mutual agreement is not reached, the District may assign such days, based upon specified concerns that relate to the program and its efficient operation. Upon written request the District will give written reasons for its decision on the assigning of non-responsibility days. No later than September 1, the schedule of non-responsibility days as established for the staff at the Children's Center site, shall be posted at a place where unit members frequent. Such schedules shall be updated, as necessary, to reflect any changes.
- 6. Year-round school unit members shall have reasonable access to the use of the Instructional Resource/Communication Center during the year-round schedule.
- 7. Subject to administrative approval, all unit members shall be afforded opportunities to volunteer to participate in District-approved committees, off-site conferences and workshops.

B. Staff Development Days

1. The District will provide bargaining unit members with three mandatory days of professional development programs which are structured to support standards based instructional programs, District goals and objectives, federal and state mandates, and site plans. In order to receive any compensation for attending a staff development program, attendance

during the entire program is required. Individual sites shall select programs from a menu of programs as identified by the District and HEA through mutual agreement. The dates of staff development days shall be uniform and set on the approved calendar. The content of staff development days shall be determined by site-based decision making or The District shall provide relevant professional its equivalent. development to all bargaining unit members. All sites must submit their program selections and planned program dates to the Associate Superintendent of Educational Services no later than thirty (30) days before the intended professional development. Sites may choose to participate in those opportunities which best meet the academic needs of students based upon review and analysis of multiple forms of student data, including results from local, state, and national assessments.

During the term of this agreement, the District has the discretion to provide up to two (2) additional days of professional development programming. Attendance at these additional days is voluntary and shall be compensated at the unit member's per diem rate.

If the State provides funding for such staff development days in succeeding years of this Agreement at the same or a higher rate of reimbursement, such staff development days shall be offered in accordance with the terms of this section. If funding is not continued, this provision shall be inapplicable. If a lower level of funding is conferred, the parties shall reopen this section of this Agreement.

There will be an annual review of this section of the Agreement by HEA and the District. Any modifications to this section of the Agreement will be as mutually agreed by the parties.

Unit members paid on the 186 day salary schedule shall have 180 student instructional days, 3 teacher work days, and 3 staff development days. For each year of the agreement, the District may offer up to 2 additional voluntary staff development days to be paid at each unit member's per diem rate.

2. Summer staff development shall be voluntary and may be offered during both the year-round and traditional school's shared weeks of summer break. Training may be offered during the school year when both year-round and traditional year schools are in session.

C. Preparation Period

1. Elementary Preparation Period

Each elementary general and special day class teacher will be provided with 150 minutes a week of preparation time within the instructional day.

A preparation period will be no less than 30 consecutive minutes.

- a. The administration at each school shall develop a preparation period to provide:
 - (1) Each full-time elementary teacher including the preparation teacher assigned in Grades 1-6, 150 minutes within the instructional day per full week and scheduled preparation periods on partial weeks commencing no later than the third student day of a school year and ending the last full student day of the school year (shortened Wednesdays are not considered minimum days). Unit members shall have two (2) preparation periods scheduled in one day once during a two (2) year period unless (s)he volunteers to do so. Before it becomes necessary for a unit member to have two (2) preparation periods scheduled more frequently, the parties agree to meet to determine if there is an alternative.
 - (2) Each half-time elementary teacher, including the preparation period teacher assigned in Grades 1-6, with one-half of the total time of prep periods provided full-time elementary teachers.
 - (3) All other part-time teachers shall receive a pro-rated salary compensation and/or preparation time comparable to the percent of their part-time salary.
 - (4) In the event the preparation time is provided by scheduling a shortened instructional day, such preparation time shall be scheduled during the hours of the regular full-time instructional day.
 - (5) The preparation period schedule shall be designed in a matter that will provide distribution of each teacher's preparation periods throughout the year. The schedule shall be made available to the teachers no later than the end of the third student day of the school year. Upon distribution of the prep schedule, teachers shall have the opportunity to make suggestions regarding possible changes. In the event it becomes necessary to change the preparation period schedule, the principal shall give no less than five (5) school days prior notice to the teacher or teachers affected, except in cases of emergency.
- b. Length of Preparation Period
 - (1) Preparation periods shall be no less than 30 minutes during

the instructional day.

(2) The only exceptions to C.1.b.(1) above shall be:

At sites that offer the Kodaly music program, primary teachers shall receive one (1) period of Kodaly music.

All preparation teachers shall receive at least 150 minutes per full week of preparation time during the instructional day. Prep periods shall not be less than 30 minutes each. If schedules cannot provide the 150 minute total or a minimum of 30 minutes of prep, the site administrator shall meet and consult with the teacher and the HEA site representative to review the exceptions.

(3) Preparation period teachers shall have within their schedules a five minute passing time between class groups. In cases where this is not possible, classroom teachers shall deliver and pick up the class groups.

c. Make-Up Preps

- (1) Classroom teachers shall receive a make-up when they are on site and providing classroom instruction on their regularly assigned preparation day and a substitute for the prep teacher is not available to release them. In this case, the administration shall offer the teacher the following options:
 - One hour of pay at the hourly rate schedule.
 - -Schedule to make up a prep period.
- (2) In implementing c.1 above, the following will apply:
 - (a) For each prep teacher with built in make-up time, a schedule of make-up preps for the year will be created by the prep teacher and site administrator.
 - (b) Make-up preps needed beyond those provided in c.2.(a) above will be provided within twenty (20) days or the end of the school year, whichever comes first.
 - (c) If the prep period provided in c.2(b) above, is not made up by the 25th work day after the missed prep, the teacher will be paid at the hourly rate for the missed prep period.
- (3) When make-up preps are scheduled on a release day, the classroom teacher shall be responsible for providing lesson

plans. Teachers shall receive at least one (1) weeks' notice prior to the release day. Teachers receiving single periods of make-up shall not be responsible for providing lesson plans. However, the classroom teachers may make lesson plans available for make-ups.

- d. Miscellaneous Elementary Preparation Period Provisions
 - (1) The preparation period shall be used for lesson preparation, parent conferences or other matters of an educational nature. The preparation time shall be free of classroom instruction or other assigned duties.
 - (2) Resource specialists, including Special Education teachers, RSP, ESL, PRT, Speech Therapists, and Reading Specialists shall schedule 150 minutes during the instructional day per week for non-release prep.
 - (3) Elementary SDC teachers will receive an additional fifty (50) minute prep for case management purposes twice a month beginning the 2020-2021 school year.
 - (4) Every elementary school will have music preps (grades 1 4) and PE (grades 1-6). By May 15 staff at each school shall recommend to the principal their subject choices. The subject areas may include, but are not limited to, physical education, library, music, art, science, computers or reading, where that is appropriate. The staff's choices will be honored to the extent that they are consistent with district educational objectives and available teaching resources.
 - (5) Primary and intermediate teachers shall be able to request the times for their prep periods.
 - (6) Intermediate teachers shall be scheduled for 150 minutes of prep within the instructional day per five (5) day week. Preps shall not be less than 30 minutes.
 - (7) Teachers shall not have more than one prep a day except for shortened Wednesday and make-up preps. The Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources, or designee, shall meet with HEA to resolve exceptions. Before scheduling Wednesday preps in the annual schedule, the site administrator shall first ask for volunteers for Wednesday prep. If there is an insufficient number of volunteers in a given year, the site administrator will rotate Wednesday preps from one year to the next.

- (8) An attempt will be made to schedule preparation periods at times other than staggered reading. The site administrator and HEA site representative shall consult with the teacher affected when preparation periods are scheduled during the staggered time.
- (9) A prep subject shall only be eliminated at a site, through natural attrition. Natural attrition is defined as a prep teacher who voluntarily leaves their assignment. When such a vacancy occurs, unit members at the site will be surveyed regarding preference for the prep subject. The survey results shall be used when filling the vacancy. If two or more unit members teach the same prep, and one teacher leaves, only that percentage of the prep lost may be changed.

2. Secondary Preparation Period

During regular school hours, each full-time secondary school teacher shall be provided a daily preparation period which shall be the equivalent of a class period appropriate to the regular program in a school, but not less than 50 minutes except on minimum or shortened days. The amount of preparation time provided in a traditional week schedule (all classes five days per week) may be redistributed within the week to allow for alternative bell schedules. This redistribution shall not result in a reduction in the total weekly minutes for preparation time and shall be approved by the staff with a two-thirds vote. The preparation time shall be free of classroom instruction or other assigned duties.

3. Children's Center Preparation Period

Full-time Children's Center unit members shall be entitled to 200 minutes weekly for preparation, conferences, and staff development.

4. Teachers shall have access to their rooms during their preparation periods.

D. Staff Meetings

General Staff Meetings

- a. The Superintendent may call general District staff meetings.
- b. General District staff meetings shall be held only on regular duty days during regular duty hours of unit members. The District designated work day prior to the first day of the student calendar year shall be free of general District Staff meetings.

c. Year round unit members shall not be required to attend meetings, which are during their days of non-responsibility. If the supervisor requests and the year round unit member chooses to attend during a day of non-responsibility, (s)he shall be paid at the hourly rate.

2. School Faculty Meetings

- a. The supervising administrator of each school shall be responsible for holding School Faculty Meetings where priority is placed on school site decision-making, staff input, and dissemination of essential information.
- b. The first full week of each month shall be set aside on the District master calendar for regular School Faculty Meetings as needed. The principal shall establish at the beginning of each school year, with the faculty, a mutually agreeable time and date for the regular faculty meetings, which shall be so identified on the school's master calendar.
- c. Supervising administrators may call a maximum of ten (10) regular School Faculty Meetings per year before and after school. Meetings scheduled before school shall not begin more than 60 minutes before classes begin. School Psychologist and speech language pathologist staff meetings shall be held during the workday.

Meetings scheduled for after school shall begin after the dismissal of pupils or as soon thereafter as school faculty can be assembled. After school faculty meetings on a regular school day shall not exceed 75 minutes in length. A school faculty meeting called on the District designated work day prior to the first day of the student calendar shall not exceed two (2) hours.

School Psychologist staff meetings shall be held during the workday. School Psychologist shall not be required to attend School Faculty Meetings.

Occupational Therapists staff meetings shall be held during the workday. Occupational Therapist shall not be required to attend School Faculty Meetings.

- Additional school faculty meetings may be called by the supervising administrator as a result of unforeseeable or unanticipated circumstances.
- e. Unit members with split assignments at different sites shall not be required to attend more than one staff meeting per month. In determining which staff meeting to attend in a given month, the unit

ARTICLE 10 HOURS, PREPARATION PERIOD, STAFF MEETINGS

member will first consult with each site administrator.

Attendance

Unit members have the responsibility to attend school faculty, area, department or school grade level meetings unless excused by the supervising administrator. These meetings shall be called by the supervising administrator. These meetings may be held during the workday or within a unit member's forty (40) additional hours of duty time per year pursuant to A.2.a. above.

4. Collaboration Time

Collaboration time shall be teacher directed and focused on standards based instruction, and/or school goals, and/or district goals. Administration may suggest the activities that occur during collaboration time. Teachers shall share decisions related to school and district goals from collaboration time with administration. The form and process for sharing the decisions shall be mutually developed and agreed to by HEA and HUSD. No aspects of collaboration will be used in evaluation.

- A. Health and Disability (Injury, Illness, Accident, Quarantine or Pregnancy Leave)
 - 1. All unit members employed five (5) days a week in a ten-month position requiring certification qualifications shall be entitled to ten (10) days leave of absence for illness, injury, accident or quarantine with full pay for a school year of service.
 - a. Eleven-month unit members (more than 200 days) have eleven days of sick leave with full pay for a school year of service.
 - b. Twelve-month unit members (more than 220 days) shall have twelve days of sick leave with full pay for a school year of service.
 - c. Hourly adult school unit members, who are in the bargaining unit, shall be entitled to earn sick leave at the rate of two (2) hours per year for each one (1) hour assignment per week up to a maximum of sixty (60) hours per year.
 - d. Hourly adult school unit members, who are in the bargaining unit, who do not use the allotted sick leave during any school year shall be allowed to accumulate sick leave as provided for all employees under contract.
 - 2. Unit members may accumulate unused sick leave without limitation.
 - 3. Unit members must contact their supervisor in advance of taking sick leave whenever possible in order that arrangements may be made for the services needed. Failure to give adequate notice may be grounds for disciplinary action. Unit members must input all absences through the substitute management system (including when no substitute is required), by using phone or internet. The District will provide written protocols regarding the use of AESOP, including password and user name. The information will be distributed at the first staff meeting of the school year.
 - 4. Any unit members may use sick leave if she is unable to render service to the District as a result of her pregnancy. (See Section K.)
 - 5. The Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources, or district office administrator designee, may require a doctor's or medical advisor's statement following absence due to illness as a condition for payment of sick leave; provided, however, that such requirement shall be exercised only when there is reason to believe that sick leave has been abused.
 - 6. Unit members returning to work from sick leave involving major surgery or illness, shall be required to present a doctor's release certifying medical permission to return to work.

- 7. If a unit member is terminated and has used more sick leave than was earned, the amount used but not earned shall be deducted from his/her final warrant.
- 8. When a unit member is absent from his/her duties on account of illness or accident for a period of five (5) school months or less, the amount deducted from the salary due him/her for any month in which the absence occurs shall not exceed the sum which is actually paid a substitute employee employed to fill his/her positions during his/her absence, or if no substitute employee was employed, the amount which would have been paid to the substitute had he/she been employed. The District shall make every reasonable effort to secure the services of a substitute employee.
- 9. The District shall, in accordance with the rules and regulations of the State Board of Education, transfer with a unit member who is accepted for employment by another district the total amount of leave of absence to which he/she is entitled.
- 10. Unit members absent for less than a full day will have their accrued sick leave reduced to reflect the portion of the day they were absent rounded up to the nearer 1/2 day.

B. Extended Health and/or Disability Leave

- 1. In case of long-term disability, the unit member shall be eligible for up to eighteen (18) months extended health and/or disability leave without pay.
- 2. A unit member qualifying for a S.T.R.S. disability allowance for a disabling impairment which is amenable to treatment that could be expected to restore ability to work shall be granted a leave of absence for the duration of the disability.

C. Personal Necessity Leave

- 1. Any days of leave of absence allowed for sick leave may be used by the unit member, at their discretion, to address matters of "personal necessity." Personal Necessity Leave shall be limited to circumstances that
 - are serious in nature,
 - the unit member cannot reasonably be expected to disregard,
 - necessitate immediate attention, and
 - cannot be taken care of after work hours or on weekends.

A unit member shall notify the district if the Personal Necessity Leave will exceed ten (10) days.

- 2. No reason need be given for Personal Necessity Leave within the first ten (10) days; however, the purpose of the leave must be consistent with the limitations specified in Section C.1. Any leave taken in excess of ten (10) days will require written notification, including the applicable reason for the leave, to the site administrator for substitute staffing support.
- 3. Unit members shall give three working days' notice before taking Personal Necessity Leave, excepting (1) death or serious illness of a member of his/her immediate family, or (2) an accident involving his/her person or property, or the person or property of a member of his/her immediate family, or (3) if the reasons for the leave became known at such a time that it would preclude the unit member from giving three (3) working days' notice.

D. Leave for Serious Illness or Injury in the Family

- 1. A unit member may be granted leave up to three (3) days each school year with full pay when a critical illness or injury, happens to a member of the immediate family.
- A physician, or medical advisor, must provide a statement, which includes the nature of the critical illness or injury and the necessity of the unit member's presence. This statement must be submitted upon the unit member's return to duty.
- 3. Additional accommodations may be made at the discretion of the Superintendent or designee.

E. Bereavement Leave

A unit member shall be entitled to a maximum of five (5) days leave of absence without loss of salary for the death of any member of his/her immediate family.

A unit member shall be entitled to a maximum of three (3) days additional bereavement leave without loss of salary for the death of any member of his/her family if necessary travel over 500 miles is required.

F. Jury Duty and Court Witness Leave

1. A unit member shall be granted leave to appear in court as a witness when subpoenaed, or to respond to an official order from another governmental jurisdiction other than as a litigant and not brought through the connivance or misconduct of the unit member.

- 2. A unit member may be granted a leave to appear or be on call for jury duty in the manner provided by law.
- 3. A unit member shall receive his/her regular pay less any amount received for jury or witness fees, exclusive of allowed travel expense.
- 4. Unit members appearing in court as litigants shall be allowed personal necessity leave.

G. Religious Holidays

Leave of absence not to exceed three (3) days per year may be charged to personal necessity leave for unit members who are required to absent themselves for the purpose of observation of religious holidays.

H. Industrial Accident Leave

1. All unit members are eligible for occupational accident and illness leave because of occupational injury or illness.

2. Definition

The term "qualifying for worker's compensation" presupposes that an accident report has been filed according to established procedures and that the School Insurance Authority considers the claim valid. In the event of rejection of the claim by the School Insurance Authority industrial accident leave shall not apply.

- 3. Unit members, who are absent from duty because of illness or injury resulting from industrial accident, qualifying for worker's compensation, are granted industrial accident leave under the following conditions:
 - a. Industrial accident leave applies from the first day of such absence from duty to, and including the last day of such absence from duty, but not exceeding sixty (60) working days in any fiscal year for the same industrial accident.
 - b. The amount of salary paid to such unit member in any calendar month will be the salary he/she would have received had he/she not suffered the industrial accident or illness. If the unit member is still absent from duty as a result of such industrial accident he/she shall be entitled to the benefits provided by law and District policy for accrued sick leave, extended sick leave, and advanced sick leave, respectively.
 - c. Allowable industrial accident leave shall not be accumulated from year to year.

- d. In order to be eligible for industrial accident leave the unit member, while absent from duty with the District, shall remain within the State of California unless prior approval is granted by the Board for travel outside the state.
- e. A unit member who is eligible for reinstatement and has been medically released for return to his/her duties, but fails to accept an appropriate assignment, shall be terminated or placed on health leave of absence.
- f. When all available leaves of absence, paid or unpaid, have been exhausted and the unit member is not medically able to assume the duties of his/her position, he/she may be terminated. The unit member shall be eligible for reemployment upon submission of a physician's statement that he/she is able to assume his/her duties.

I. Legislative Leave

- 1. Every person employed by a school district as a permanent certificated unit member who is elected to the Legislature shall be granted a leave of absence from his/her duties as an employee of the District by the Board.
- 2. During the term of such leave of absence, the unit member may be reassigned by the school district to perform such less than full time service requiring certification qualifications for such compensation and upon such terms and conditions, as may be mutually agreed upon.
- 3. Such absence shall not affect in any way the classification of such unit member.
- 4. Within six (6) months after the term of office of such unit member expires, he/she shall be entitled to return to the position held by him/her at the time of his/her election, at the salary to which he/she would have been entitled had he/she not absented himself/herself from the service of the school district under this policy.
- 5. Notwithstanding any provision of the Education Code to the contrary, a person employed to take the place of any such unit member shall not have any right to such position following return of such unit member to the position.

J. Military Service Leave

 Military service leave shall be granted to every unit member who enters or is called into active military service of the United States or the State of California during any period of declared emergency or during any war in which the United States is engaged.

- For purposes of this leave, active military service also includes a uniformed auxiliary of any branch of such military service, the United States Merchant Marines and full-time paid service of the American Red Cross.
- 3. Such absence shall not affect in any way the classification of such unit member.
- Within six months after such unit member honorably leaves such service or has been placed on inactive duty, he or she shall be entitled to return to the position held by him or her at the time of his or her entrance into such service, at the salary to which he or she would have been entitled had he or she not absented himself or herself from the service of the school district.
- Military service leave shall be granted for military duty ordered for purposes of military training, drills, encampment, naval cruises, special exercises or like activity, providing that the period of ordered duty does not exceed 180 calendar days including time involved in going to and returning from such duty. The unit member shall be entitled to receive his or her salary or compensation for the first 30 calendar days of any such absence, if the unit member is currently in full paid status to the District and has been for one year prior to the leave. The unit member shall make every effort to schedule the military leave at a time other than during the regular school year.

K. Pregnancy Leave

- 1. Pregnancy leave shall be granted by the District in accordance with the provisions of the Education Code and subject to the following conditions:
 - a. A pregnant unit member may continue to work as long as her health will permit as certified by her doctor or other proof acceptable to the District and so long as she can carry out her duties and responsibilities. However, a pregnant unit member must file a statement from her physician, or District approved medical advisor, no later than the third month of pregnancy indicating the estimated date of delivery and the unit member is in good health and that in the physician or medical advisor's judgment the unit member can carry on her assigned duties and responsibilities without danger to herself or her child.
 - b. The use of sick leave for pregnancy related disability shall be treated the same as any other disability for which sick leave is granted. In order to use sick leave for pregnancy disability, the unit member must have been actually rendering paid service to the

District immediately prior to the disability.

 A pregnant unit member, who wishes to take a personal leave to prepare for childbirth and is physically able to render service to the District, may request such a leave, without pay, for a time mutually agreeable to the unit member and the District.

L. Child Care Leave

- 1. Child care leave without pay shall be granted any unit member upon request for a period of up to one school year.
- 2. Unit members may use their accumulated sick leave for the purpose of child care leave.
- 3. A unit member on child care leave of a definite duration of more than 30 days may return to duty prior to the expiration of the leave provided that the position is still in existence and the District has not contracted with another employee to fill the position. If the leave request is for 30 days or less, the unit member shall be returned to the same position.
- 4. This leave provision may be utilized for paternity and/or adoptions.

M. Educational Improvement Leave

- 1. Leave for professional improvement, travel, research, writing, exchange teaching, Peace Corps Service and similar purposes of benefit educationally to the unit member and to the school district may be granted without pay for a period not to exceed one year. Extension of leave may be granted by the Board upon recommendation of the Sabbatical Leave Committee and the Superintendent.
- 2. Application shall be forwarded to the Sabbatical Leave Committee. The committee shall establish its own operating procedures.
- 3. The Sabbatical Leave Committee will screen the request and submit to the Superintendent only those names of applicants which the Committee determines are worthy of consideration for an educational improvement leave.
- 4. The Superintendent shall submit the Committee's recommendations for educational improvement leave to the Board. In addition, the Superintendent may recommend any other unit members from among the applicants for an educational improvement leave.
- 5. The Board will review the Committee's and the Superintendent's recommendations and determine whether an educational improvement leave will be granted.

6. Upon request by a unit member involved, the Superintendent, or designee, will review the reason for the action taken with the applicant.

N. Leave for Conducting School Business or Professional Business

- Leave of absence with pay for conducting the business of, or representing the Hayward Unified School District, must be approved by the unit member's immediate supervisor and the Superintendent, or designee. Request for such leave must be in writing on the form provided by the Office of Human Resources.
- 2. Leave of absence with pay for conducting the business of, or representing a recognized professional educational organization, will be granted upon the approval of the unit member's immediate supervisor and the Superintendent, or designee. Request for such leave must be in writing on the form provided by the Human Resources Office.

O. Administrative Approved Leave

- Leave may be granted by the Superintendent, or designee, when it is deemed necessary, and when the purpose of the leave could not be extended at a time when school is not in session. Said leave shall not, except under very unusual circumstances, be granted during the first two weeks or the last two weeks of the school year and shall not be more than three consecutive days.
- 2. Application for Administrative Approved Leave shall be made to the principal who shall submit such application, together with his/her recommendation, to the Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources, who shall make a recommendation to the Superintendent to determine whether the leave should be granted.
- 3. The amount to be deducted from the salary of the unit member for the time the Administrative Approved Leave is granted shall not exceed the sum of the established daily salary for a substitute for the number of days of leave granted.

P. Sabbatical Leave

Sabbatical Leave is defined as leave of absence granted pursuant to the Education Code to unit members for a period not to exceed one year for the purpose of permitting study which will benefit the school and pupils of the Hayward Unified School District. Subject to budgetary consideration, Sabbatical Leave will be granted to those qualified teaching personnel who show promise of improvement in their present or prospective teaching positions. No personnel shall use this leave to qualify for administrative

- credentials. Nothing herein shall be construed to require the Board to grant any Sabbatical Leave whatsoever.
- 2. It shall be clearly understood that Sabbatical Leave is a privilege granted by the Board and is not an earned right. Such leave, if granted, shall be subject to the following conditions:
 - a. Sabbatical Leaves must be preceded by at least seven (7) consecutive years of certificated service, all of which shall have been served as a regular full-time certificated unit member in this District. Up to one percent (1%) of the certificated non-management personnel may be granted Sabbatical Leave during the same school year. Sabbatical leave for a period of less than one year could be considered.
 - b. Application for Sabbatical Leave shall be on file in the Office of Human Resources not later than January 15 of the school year prior to the leave and must set forth the purposes for which the leave is requested and procedure for accomplishing same. The applicant will be notified within 60 days of the final filing date regarding the acceptance or rejection of the application.
 - (1) An applicant who wishes to undertake formal study shall agree to take ten (10) upper division or six (6) graduate hours per semester at an accredited university or institution of higher learning. At the conclusion of the leave, evidence of successful completion of the study program in the form of a certified transcript of work taken and grades earned shall be submitted to the Superintendent for presentation to the Board.
 - (2) An applicant who wishes to travel during his/her Sabbatical Leave shall include with his/her application an itinerary of his/her trip, which will include specific ways in which the trip will contribute to his/her improvement as a classroom teacher in the particular field in which he/she is engaged. At the conclusion of the leave, the unit member shall submit to the Superintendent for presentation to the Board a detailed written report verifying the accomplishment of the goals set forth in the application.
- 3. The application for Sabbatical Leave by unit members shall be screened by a committee of three (3) unit members and three (3) Management employees. Unit members shall be appointed by the Association. The District shall appoint the Management employees. The Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources, or designee, shall act as an ex-officio nonvoting member.

- a. Each appointee to the Sabbatical Leave Committee will serve for a term of at least one year. The appointments will be made on October 1, following the adoption of this contract.
- b. The Sabbatical Leave Committee shall base its recommendations on the following factors: value of the leave to the students, District and individual. In the event of requests, which cannot be ranked according to the above, because of equal overall value, length of service in the District will be used as the deciding factor. It will be left to the discretion of the Committee as to the importance given each factor.
- c. The Committee shall submit to the Superintendent, or designee, only those names of applicants which the Committee determines are worthy of consideration.
- d. The Superintendent, or designee, shall submit the Committee's recommendations for Sabbatical Leave to the Board. In addition, the Superintendent may recommend to the Board any other candidate from the list of applicants for Sabbatical Leave.
- e. The Board will review the Committee's and the Superintendent's recommendations and determine whether a Sabbatical Leave will be granted.
- f. Upon request by a unit member involved, the Superintendent, or designee, will review the reason for the action taken with the applicant.
- 4. Compensation While on Sabbatical Leave
 - a. Compensation for unit members while on Sabbatical Leave shall be seventy-five percent (75%) of the salary in accordance with the provisions of the Hayward Unified School District Certificated Salary Schedule in effect during the period of the leave.
 - b. Unit members requesting Sabbatical Leave shall state on the application whether or not they expect salary payment during the course of the Sabbatical Leave. This statement shall constitute final election concerning the Sabbatical Leave salary payment and is not subject to change.
 - c. Compensation while on Sabbatical Leave shall be in keeping with the Education Code.
 - (1) Compensation granted by the Board to the unit member on

leave may be paid in two (2) equal annual installments during the first two years of service rendered in the employ of the Board following the return of the unit member from the leave of absence, or,

- (2) The compensation shall be paid the unit member while on the leave of absence in the same manner as if the unit member were teaching in the District, upon the furnishing by the unit member of a suitable bond indemnifying the Board against loss in the event that the unit member fails to render at least two years' service in the employ of the Board following the return of the unit member from the leave of absence. The bond shall be exonerated in the event the failure of the unit member to return and render two years service is caused by the death or physical or mental disability of the unit member, or,
- (3) If the Board finds and by resolution declares that the interests of the District will be protected by the written agreement of the unit member to return to the service of the District and render at least two years service therein following his/her return from the leave, the Board in its discretion may waive the furnishing of a bond and pay the unit member on leave in the same manner as though a bond is furnished.

Accident and Illness on Sabbatical Leave

- a. In case of injury to, or other illness of the unit member during leave, which prevents completing the purpose of the leave, the Sabbatical Leave will be terminated and all provisions for sick leave will apply. These provisions will take effect on the first day of the next pay period following notification of said illness to the Superintendent, or designee, verified by a medical doctor's or medical advisor's report. Upon release by a medical doctor, or medical advisor, the unit member will return to regular duty for the remainder of the school year to be assigned, as needed, at the discretion of the Superintendent (substitute, etc.). The subsequent year the unit member will be reassigned as if the Sabbatical Leave had been completed.
- b. Both the Board and the District shall be freed from any liability for the payment of any compensation for damages provided by law for the death or injury of any unit member of the district employed in a position requiring certification qualifications when death or injury occurs while the unit member is on any leave of absence granted under the provisions of the Education Code.

6. Continuity of Service

Such leave shall be counted as a year of service and experience on the salary schedule.

7. Additional Employment and Compensation

Since the purpose of this leave is study, the applicant will agree not to accept other employment during the period of his/her leave unless it pertains directly to his/her study program and then only with the approval of the Superintendent. In no case, will the amount received from Sabbatical Leave pay and remuneration from other employment, grants or stipends exceed the regular salary of the unit member. Should the amount of the other remuneration, grant or stipend be sufficient to cause the unit member's regular salary to be exceeded, the Sabbatical Leave pay will be reduced by an amount the unit member would have received had (s)he not taken the leave.

Q. Catastrophic Leave

- 1. The purpose of the catastrophic leave bank is to provide paid leave to unit members who have suffered from a personal catastrophe (such as destruction of their home or prolonged illness) when the unit member's sick leave is exhausted.
- 2. A three (3) member approval committee consisting of unit members selected by the Association shall have the responsibility of receiving requests, approving or denying requests, and communicating its decision to the unit member, the Director of Certificated Personnel, and HEA. The committee shall not grant more leave to an individual or groups of individuals than is contained in the Catastrophic Leave Bank.
 - a. The Director of Certificated Personnel shall approve grants as submitted by the approval committee. Such grants shall be forwarded to the Office of Payroll as authorization for payment.
 - b. The committee shall make its decision based on the relative need and shall make reasonable efforts to preserve an adequate leave balance to cover future emergencies. The committee shall not grant leave for industrial injury.
 - c. Decisions made by the committee and approvals made by the Director of Certificated Personnel shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.
- 3. All unit members may contribute sick leave to the Catastrophic Leave Bank during the Health and Welfare benefit "open enrollment" period. At

any time during the school year a unit member may designate the recipient of his/her already donated days and/or additional donated days, if any. Any new hire shall have thirty (30) days from date of employment to enroll. The committee may announce a call for further sick leave contributions during the course of the school year, provided that the committee shall not issue more than two additional calls per school year. Only earned or annual illness/injury leave may be contributed to the Bank.

- 4. All unused sick leave days which may remain in the bank at the end of the fiscal year shall be carried over to the next fiscal year.
- 5. Unit members contributing any portion of their leave balance to the Catastrophic Leave Bank shall contemporaneously execute a document: (a) acknowledging that their contribution is voluntary and irrevocable; (b) pledging that they shall not initiate any demand, claim, or cause of action alleging that their contribution to the Bank should be rescinded; and, (c) indicating that they shall hold the District, HEA and their agents harmless against any suit or administrative claim alleging that the Catastrophic Leave Bank is unlawful or that their contribution to the Bank was unlawful and should be returned.
- 6. Unit members seeking to receive catastrophic leave benefits shall, as part of their application, execute a document pledging that the District, HEA and their agents shall be held harmless against a suit or administrative claim alleging that the committee erred by not granting catastrophic leave benefit.

R. General Unpaid Leave

The District shall make every reasonable effort to accommodate and grant a unit member's request for an unpaid leave of absence for one (1) year. The District may extend the leave for an additional year.

- S. General Provisions Governing Leaves
 - 1. No leave of absence when granted to a probationary unit member shall be construed as a break in the continuity of service required for the classification of the unit member as permanent.
 - 2. A unit member returning from leave of absence shall return to the same position held at the time said leave commenced, or if that position is no longer in existence, to an equivalent position related to the unit member's recorded certification or credential.
 - 3. Both the Board and the District shall be freed from any liability for the payment of any compensation or damages provided by law for the death or injury of any employee of the District employed in a position requiring

certification qualifications when the death or injury occurs while the unit member is on any leave of absence granted under the provisions specified in the Education Code.

- 4. Whenever a unit member is on leave, for illness or otherwise, the unit member shall notify the District office or the unit member's principal by the end of the school day of the unit member's intention to return to duty the following day. Failure to notify the District may result in the amount of the substitute's salary being deducted from his/her pay. A unit member may request a particular person be considered as a substitute during his/her leave of absence.
- 5. Unit members on unpaid leave of absence may arrange with the Human Resource Office to continue their health and welfare benefits provided it is acceptable to the insurance company(ies).
- 6. The District shall provide the Association with an annual report stating the number of applications received for leaves other than sick leave, the types of leave requested, and whether or not the leave was approved.
- 7. The term "immediate family" is defined as mother, father, sister, brother, spouse, child, grandmother, grandfather, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grandchild, aunt, uncle, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, or any person living in the immediate household of the unit member with whom the unit member has a relationship similar to that which exists within a family, including domestic partner, who have resided in the unit members household for at least one (1) year. The definition of "immediate family" includes "step" family members bearing the same relationship as family members defined above.
- 8. Notwithstanding the provisions of this article, the benefits of the Family Rights Act of 1991 (AB77) and the Family Leave Act of 1993 shall be provided to the members of the bargaining unit. However, their application shall not be interpreted so as to reduce or eliminate any benefit provided within this article.
- 9. Unit members with a disability shall be granted the full rights, protection and benefits of the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.
- 10. The District acknowledges HEA's right to represent bargaining unit members, upon request, regarding Family Leave Act and Americans with Disabilities Act disputes arising hereunder. If a unit member administratively appeals a denial of accommodation under ADA or leave under FLA, a copy of the appeal will be issued to HEA unless the unit member objects.
- 11. Whenever a unit member requests a non-paid leave of absence to reduce

the unit member's percentage of full-time employment, the request shall be granted if a qualified replacement can be found. A unit member who has been granted a reduced assignment shall be granted a non-paid leave of absence. The District may adjust the specific percentage of leave to be granted based on objective operational and scheduling needs. The District shall also reasonably accommodate requests for renewal of such non-paid leaves of absence.

12. Sick leave may be applied concurrently with the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) & California Family Rights Act (CFRA).

T. Administrative Leave

Administrative Leave, with the exception of mandatory unpaid leave as defined by the Education Code, is defined as a paid leave of absence. Such leave must be for just cause and with due process. Unit members may only be placed on Administrative Leave by the Superintendent or Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources. HEA shall be notified immediately when a unit member is placed on Administrative Leave. Unit members on Administrative Leave will not be required to stay at their regular worksite. The Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources will supply a written report within five days of the incident to HEA and the unit member and continue to supply an updated progress report every five work days until resolution.

A. Elementary Class Size

 At the elementary level, the maximum class size for grades 4, 5, and 6 shall be 31. When the principal determines that the 31 maximum must be exceeded, the chairperson of the local curriculum council, the local Association representative, and the teacher will be immediately notified by the principal, and may recommend alternative placement for the additional student(s).

In Grade Span Adjustment (GSA) classes the maximum class size shall be consistent with state guidelines and dependent on state funding.

2. The GSA state guidelines note that as a condition of receiving the K–3 Grade Span Adjustment (GSA) under the Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF), which is equal to 10.4% of the K–3 base grant (and impacts the supplemental and concentration grant amounts), school districts must meet one of the following conditions:

If a school site's average K-3 class enrollment was more than 24 students in the 2012-13 fiscal year, make progress toward maintaining, at that school site, an average K-3 class enrollment of not more than 24 students. (Kindergarten includes transitional kindergarten.)

If a school site's average K–3 class enrollment was 24 students or less in the 2012-13 fiscal year, maintain, at that school site, an average K–3 class enrollment of not more than 24 students.

Agree to a collectively bargained alternative to the statutory K-3 GSA.

a. HUSD and HEA agree to a collectively bargained alternative annual average class enrollment for each school site in grades TK-3. (3/4 Combination classes will follow the GSA statute). The alternative average class size for K-3 for each school site is outlined below (see section A.2.b for TK class size maximum):

School Year	School Site Maximum Average Class Size
2014-15	30:1 – No class size larger than 32
2015-16	28:1 – No class size larger than 29
2016-17	27:1 – No class size larger than 28
2017-18	26:1 – No class size larger than 27
2018-19	26:1 – No class size larger than 27
2019-20	25:1 – No class size larger than 26
2020-21	24:1 – No class size larger than 25

- b. Transitional Kindergarten (TK)
 - (1) Transitional Kindergarten class size ratio shall be 25:1.
 - (2) Transitional Kindergarten classes shall not include combination classes.
- 3. Exceeding Maximum Class Size Limits
 - a. For GSA, school site K-3 class size averages may be exceeded within the first fifteen (15) days of the school year as described in Article 12, A.4 below.
 - b. For GSA classes at 25, the affected teacher will receive \$100 for the 25th student during each attendance month that the student is on the teacher's class roster. This provision will not affect Transitional Kindergarten.
 - c. Classes that are not affected by GSA may exceed the maximum in A.1. above. Classes may exceed this maximum by two (2) students for valid needs with respect to appropriate groupings and balancing of teaching loads. A further exception of one may be made with the approval of the receiving teacher and the local curriculum council. 30.4 is the formula basis for allocation of teachers at the elementary level. This provision will not affect Transitional Kindergarten.
 - d. For classes which exceed 31 students, in grades 4, 5, 6, teachers will be eligible for a bonus. For each student over 31 in the class, the affected teachers will receive \$100 during each attendance month that the class size exceeds 31. In order to be eligible for the bonus, the student(s) must be enrolled in the class on the official attendance count day. Payment of the bonus will be made following the end of each semester. Nothing in this paragraph is deemed to allow the District to exceed the class size maximum as described in paragraph a, above.
 - e. Class sizes for probationary and temporary teachers with less than four (4) years of experience will be kept at or below 31, unless there is no alternative placement available.
- 4. Class adjustments and transfers shall be completed within the maximum during the first fifteen (15) days of the school year.
- 5. Beginning 2020-2021 school year, elementary school sites with SDC Mild/Moderate programs in grades 4, 5, and 6, will have a General Education classroom enrollment maximum class size of 30 students in

ARTICLE 12 CLASS SIZE

grades 4, 5, and 6 to allow for flexibility to mainstream SDC Mild/Moderate Special Education Students. No more than three (3) SDC students shall be placed in the General Education classroom at any one time unless there is teacher consent. Every effort will be made to equitably place SDC students within grade levels.

- a. General Education teachers that have mainstreamed students shall receive a \$100 bonus each month. In order to be eligible for the bonus, the student(s) must be enrolled in an SDC class and mainstreamed. Payment of the bonus will be made at following the end of each month.
- 6. General Education teachers may meet up to three (3) hours per year to consult with Special Education teachers at the teachers' discretion. Teachers will be paid at the hourly rate. Special Education teachers may meet up to nine (9) hours per year to consult with the General Education teachers at the teachers' discretion. Special Education teachers will be paid at the hourly rate.
- 7. RSP students will be placed based on consensus between the RSP teacher and General Education teacher(s). If consensus is not reached, the matter will be referred to the site administration and a HEA representative to reach consensus.

B. Secondary Class Size

1. At the secondary level, the maximum class size shall be 33 in all classes with exceptions permitted as follows:

Keyboarding 36, Physical Education 47, and Band and Chorus class size will be determined, through the consensus reached between principal and instructor.

At the comprehensive high schools 15 additional sections shall be allocated above regular staffing to each site to support an optional zero or seventh period based on student requests for electives and will continue until the Board no longer authorizes programs beyond the instructional day.

- 2. Classes designated by the District and specifically designed for students needing "intensive intervention" in English and Math shall have a maximum class size of 25. Classes specifically paired with intensive intervention classes shall have a maximum class size of 25. (example: 9th grade students in a 9th grade intensive intervention in mathematics and its paired algebra class.)
- 3. Continuation high school classes shall not exceed 25 students.
- 4. In each class in the following areas the number of pupils shall not exceed

ARTICLE 12 CLASS SIZE

the number of work stations in the classroom in order to comply with safety regulations:

Science, Industrial Technology, Vocational Arts, Homemaking, Computer Labs and Art.

The maximum number of students at a work station shall be determined by HEA and Site Administration through consensus.

- 5. There shall be an adjustment period of no longer than 15 school days at the beginning of the school year and five days at semester to balance classes in line with the class size maximums as stated in paragraphs 1 and 2. No later than the end of the adjustment period, the principal shall provide the chairperson of the local curriculum council and the local Association representative a complete report on class size.
- 6. The local curriculum council and the local Association representative will review each class situation that exceeds the maximum stated above. After consultation with each teacher who is assigned a class size over the maximum, the local curriculum council and local Association representative may recommend alternative placement for each additional student.
- 7. The maximum stated in section B.1 may be exceeded by no more than three students when that becomes necessary in order to accept and assign students to class. In no event may any physical education teacher be assigned more than 245 students or student hours daily. Band and chorus teachers may not be assigned more than 235 students or student hours daily. All other teachers may not be assigned more than 165 students or student hours daily.

Teachers teaching in "intensive intervention" classes with a class size of 25, shall have their student contacts reduced by seven (7). For example, one intensive intervention class = 163 students, two intensive intervention classes = 156 students.

- 8. Except for the fifteen (15) day adjustment period at the beginning of the year, and five days at semester, the local curriculum council, local Association representative, and the teacher(s) involved will be consulted for recommendation(s) for alternative placement(s) for additional student(s) above the maximum in section B.1.
- 9. RSP students will be placed based in consensus between the RSP teacher and General Education Teacher(s). If consensus is not reached, the matter will be referred to the site administration and a HEA representative to reach consensus.
- C. Counselor Staffing Allocations

All comprehensive high schools shall have at least 3.5 counselors each. Middle schools and the continuation high school shall have a 1.0 full-time counselor each. In all cases the counselor allocation shall be exclusive of special programs.

D. Special Education

The following class size maximums shall apply in the following special education classes:

Type of Class	Grade Level	Maximum
Special Day Class - Mild Moderate	Preschool	10 per grouping W/ at least 1 Para educator per grouping
Special Day Class - Mild Moderate	Elementary	15 W/ at least 1 Para educator
	Middle School	15 W/ at least 1 Para educator
	High School and Adult Education	20 W/ at least 1 Para educator

Special Day Class - Moderate Severe	Preschool	9 per grouping
	Elementary School	12
	Middle School	15
	High School	15
Special Day Class - Hearing Impaired	Preschool	9 per grouping / max of 4 groupings
	Elementary School	12
	Middle School	15
	High School	15
Special Day Class - Autism	Preschool	8
	Elementary School	9
	Middle School	12
	High School	12
Special Day Class - Counseling Enriched (CE)	Elementary School	8 with 1 paraprofessional 13 with 2 paraprofessionals (depending upon contracting agency)
	Secondary	8 with 1 paraprofessional 13 with 2

ARTICLE 12 CLASS SIZE

	paraprofessionals
	(depending upon
	contracting agency)

The following caseload maximums shall apply in the following special education programs:

Speech & Language Pathologist	Preschool	40
Speech & Language Pathologist	Non-Preschool	55
Adaptive PE		45
RSP		28

Psychologist	1:1300 ratio
Occupational Therapists	45

E. World House Program

1. The following course for newcomers will be intervention classes with a class size maximum of twenty-five (25).

ELD Fundamentals

ELD 1-2 for World House

Math 1-2 for World House

Math 3-4 for World House

Algebra Support for World House

- 2. The intervention courses for World House listed in #1 above will have an initial enrollment of fifteen (15) newcomer students to allow flexibility to assign newcomer students who enroll throughout the semester.
- 3. Sheltered World House courses for newcomers will have an initial enrollment of twenty (20) to allow flexibility to assign newcomer students who enroll throughout the semester and will have the class size maximums of thirty (30). These courses will include but are not limited to:

Sheltered Science for World House Sheltered Social Science for World House Bilingual courses for World House Sheltered Math for World House Sheltered English for World House

ARTICLE 12 CLASS SIZE

- 4. <u>ELD 3 will have an initial enrollment of twenty (20) students with a class</u> size maximum of twenty-five (25).
- 5. Whenever possible, the two-period newcomer ELD classes will not be scheduled in consecutive periods.
- 6. The two sites with World House course offerings and scheduling may make one master schedule change between the sixteenth (16th) day of school and the end of the first semester, and the sixth (6th) day of the second semester and the end of the second semester.
- 7. Newcomer students' schedules may be changed, after initial enrollment, per assessment results.
- F. If the State provides money specifically designed to lower class size, the Association and the District agree to meet and negotiate the use of said money to the extent authorized by law.
- G. Second Language Classes

Monolingual English-speaking RSP students shall not ordinarily be placed in a bilingual classroom. Such placement would occur only if recommended by an Individual student's IEP team.

H. Prep Classes

- 1. Each K-6 prep teacher will be provided with his/her own classroom, office, and/or storage space as deemed appropriate for the subject matter by the SBDM site team. If there is not an SBDM team at the site, the curriculum council will make the determination.
- 2. Adaptive PE services will only be delivered to students by Adaptive PE teachers.

I. Learning Environment

- 1. All teachers shall be provided with individual locked space for their personal needs.
 - a. All school psychologists, speech and language pathologists and occupational therapists shall be provided with confidential quiet workspace appropriate for individual testing and/or small group therapy, including a locked storage for confidential files, test materials and personal needs.

2. Technology Support

a. Every room utilized for instruction shall have a working clock, intercom and a phone with direct access to outside lines.

- b. In order to accommodate modern technology the District will provide internet access, technology cabling and electrical upgrades for every room utilized for instruction.
- c. The District will provide training on accessing the internet as requested by the unit member.
- d. Each site will have working copiers.
- 3. Each elementary and middle school site will have a staff room able to accommodate at least 1/2 of the staff members at any one time. If no room is available on the site to make such accommodations, the District

will provide a trailer/portable to meet the needs of the site. High school staff rooms of 1996-97 will be maintained.

- 4. All classrooms used for instruction will be equipped with a working computer and adequate working technology necessary to perform required job duties.
- 5. Ongoing professional development and support will be offered to teachers with fully included or mainstreamed students. Support may include a para educator assignment, peer or consultant support, instructional materials or other additional strategies to support the teacher's ability to teach the student and maintain classroom management.

J. Combination Classes

- 1. There will be no K-1 combination classes. Up to two (2) HEA representatives will be on the district enrollment team.
- 2. The District will make every effort to limit the number of combination classes at elementary sites. If it becomes necessary to create combination classes, the distribution of students, budgetary considerations shall be the responsibility of the site administrator working with the SBDM team or using a process agreeable to the site administrator and the staff.
- 3. Before assigning a unit member to an elementary combination class, the District shall first seek a qualified unit member volunteer at the site the combination class is to be assigned. If no qualified unit member volunteers, the District will rotate combination classes provided that there are qualified candidates at the site. Prior year's combination assignment shall be considered. Teachers may request Bilingual combination classes in writing: otherwise, every effort will be made not to have Bilingual combination classes.

K. English Language (EL) Specialists

1. Elementary EL Specialists

Each site receives an English Learner (EL) Specialist allocation a. based on the number of English Leaners (ELs) as identified from previous year's CBEDS count. Schools with 200 and below ELs will receive a 0.5 fte EL Specialist. Schools with more than 200 ELs will receive a 1.0 fte EL Specialist. Schools with more than 400 ELs will receive a 1.5 fte EL Specialist. Sites with fewer than 50 ELs will receive English Learner support provided by the English Language Department. The EL Specialist at the site will use their discretion in the provision of services to EL students and the students identified as Reclassified Fluent English Proficient (RFEP) students who meet the state mandate, four (4) year monitoring criteria, and the newcomer students at their site. English Only (EO) students will not be part of the EL Specialist's responsibilities. Elementary EL Specialists who provide Leveled Literacy Intervention (LLI) should meet with small groups of 3-5 students, a minimum of three days a week for thirty-minutes a day.

2. Secondary EL Specialists

- a. Each site receives an English Learner (EL) Specialist allocation based on the number of English Leaners (ELs) as identified from previous year's CBEDS count. Schools with 200 and below ELs will receive a .5 fte EL Specialist. Schools with more than 200 ELs will receive a 1.0 fte EL Specialist. Schools with more than 400 ELs will receive a 1.5 fte EL Specialist. Sites with fewer than 50 ELs will receive English Learner support provided by the English Language Department. The EL Specialist at the site will use their discretion in the provision of services to EL students and the students identified as Reclassified Fluent English Proficient (RFEP) students who meet the state mandate, four (4) year monitoring criteria at their site. English Only (EO) students will not be part of the EL Specialist's responsibility.
- b. Each site with the World House Program will receive one (1) additional EL Specialist.
- 3. The District and HEA will meet by March 1, 2020 to establish a committee to determine the responsibilities of the EL Specialists in the monitoring of the RPEF students.

A. Objective

- It is understood and agreed that the intent of evaluating unit members is to maintain and/or improve the quality of education in the District. Those responsible for evaluation are expected to follow orderly methods of identifying strengths and deficiencies and shall maintain accurate and impartial objective records as set forth in the evaluation procedures.
- A unit member shall have the right to inspect the member's evaluation file maintained at the member's school site at times when the unit member is not otherwise required to perform services for the District. The evaluator or designee will monitor the review.
- 3. The personal life of a unit member is not an appropriate concern of the District for purposes of evaluation or disciplinary action unless it affects the unit member's performance of duties.
- 4. In order for the evaluation process to provide the most meaningful feedback for unit members, three (3) evaluation options have been developed for permanent unit members with satisfactory evaluations. Permanent unit members with satisfactory evaluations may also choose the portfolio or the peer review options in lieu of the traditional evaluation process. Refer to section C.6 for the specific details.

B. Criteria

Beginning in the 2014-15 school year, unit members, except those listed below, will be evaluated using the most recent edition of the California Standards for the Teaching Profession (CSTP) 2009. Specific criteria is in Appendix C.

By September 15, 2019, HEA and HUSD will form a task force to develop evaluation forms by May 31, 2020, for Counselors, Nurses, Occupational Therapists, Program Resource Teachers (PRT), Psychologists, Speech and Language Pathologists, Special Education Teachers and Teachers on Special Assignment (TOSA). The number of participants will be reached through consensus by HEA and HUSD. Release time will be granted during the teacher work day for committee members.

For the 2019-20 school year or until such time that an evaluation tool is developed, all members in the positions listed above can use the alternative forms of evaluation located in section C.6. herein.

C. Procedures

1. Goals and Objectives

Program goals of the District, the established standards of expected pupil achievement, and goals and objectives of the school, the grade level, and/or the department, the appropriate position description and evaluation worksheets shall be made available to each unit member in written form during the first ten (10) days of the instructional year. Prior to evaluation, there shall be a review of the evaluation procedures with appropriate unit members.

Unit members shall not evaluate other unit members.

2. Evaluation Process

- a. Prior to the Initial Conference, a unit member will be notified of his/her primary evaluator. A unit member in a split assignment may request additional observations by a secondary evaluator. The primary evaluator may also request that the secondary evaluator conduct observations. In either case cited above, each additional observer will be limited to two (2) observations. These observations shall be transmitted to the primary evaluator and become part of the evaluation.
- b. Occupational Therapists and School Psychologists shall be evaluated by the Director of Special Education or Coordinator of Special Education.
- c. Initial Conference Evaluation Criteria

By the 10th day of the school year (not including staff development days) in which the evaluation is to take place, the evaluator and the unit member(s) shall meet and discuss the standards and methods (including other agreed upon alternative evaluation methods agreed to by HEA and the District) upon which evaluation is to be based. This meeting may be held in a group setting, and shall take place prior to the individual meetings to agree on the evaluation worksheet.

No earlier than ten (10) instructional days or later than forty (40) instructional days after the beginning of the school year, or when the evaluatee began his or her work year at that site, the evaluatee and the evaluator shall review the Standards for the Teaching Profession, the necessary support requirements, and any related exceptional circumstances and conditions. If the evaluatee and the evaluator agree on the standard(s) to be used in the evaluation,

they shall sign the worksheet, or the worksheet as amended, and a copy shall be kept by each. If agreement on the worksheet is not reached at this meeting, the evaluatee shall be given, upon request, five (5) days to review the worksheet to determine whether to sign the worksheet or declare an impasse.

Any impasse regarding the evaluation worksheet shall be resolved by the HEA President or the HEA designee from the appropriate District Curriculum Council, and the Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources or designee.

d. Review Conference – (Only for Employees Not Meeting Standards)

The primary evaluator shall conduct a conference within the first fifteen (15) instructional days for any unit member who was marked "Partially Meets Standards" or "Does Not Meet Standards" for the previous year or the equivalent language from the prior year.

Observations

- a. During the evaluation process, one of the classroom observations conducted by the evaluator shall be scheduled in writing two (2) work days in advance of that observation (if members receive notice on a Monday, they cannot be observed before Thursday). This scheduled classroom observation shall be a minimum of thirty (30) minutes in length.
- b. Other classroom observations shall be at least twenty (20) minutes in length. Observations of shorter duration may be included on the summary evaluation report.
- c. A unit member in a split assignment may request additional observations by a secondary evaluator. The primary evaluator may also request that the secondary evaluator conduct observations. In either case cited above, each additional observer will be limited to two (2) observations. These observations shall be transmitted to the primary evaluator and become part of the evaluation.

d. Observation Conferences

Whenever the evaluator observes a unit member in the evaluation process, the evaluator and the unit member shall meet as soon as possible following the observation to review and discuss the lesson prior to completion of the Observation Report. Following the conference, the Observation Report will be completed and distributed to the unit member for signature.

e. Interim Evaluation – For Temporary, Probationary 1 and Unit Members Partially Meeting Standards and Unit Members Who Do Not Meet Standards

An interim evaluation report and conference for Temporary and Probationary I employees and a unit member whose "Composite Evaluation" was "Partially Meets Standards" or "Does Not Meet Standards" for the previous year, or equivalent language from the prior year shall be completed by the end of the 16th week of school. The interim evaluation report shall be completed and submitted to the unit member at least one (1) day prior to the conference.

f. Summary Evaluation Conference

- (1) No later than thirty (30) calendar days prior to the last work day on the calendar, the summary evaluation report shall be completed and submitted to the unit member at least one (1) work day in advance of the conference. (If members receive the report on a Monday, they cannot conference before Wednesday). The summary evaluation conference shall take place at this time, or shortly thereafter, but in no event later than ten (10) work days prior to the last work day.
- (2) If the composite evaluation on the summary evaluation report is marked "Partially Meets Standards" or "Does Not Meet Standards" or equivalent language from the prior year the evaluator shall complete the performance evaluation addendum form.

4. Counseling and Assistance

- a. The evaluator shall provide specific counseling and assistance to the evaluatee on any Standard that has been marked "Partially Meets Standards" or marked "Does Not Meet Standards" or equivalent language from the prior year.
- b. The evaluator shall describe in writing the particular problems, the specific assistance to be provided, including, but not limited to, release time, professional development, and/or peer support and the expected results of such assistance.
- c. Counseling and assistance recommendations shall be provided on an ongoing basis during the school year.

5. Frequency of Evaluation

a. Permanent unit members will be evaluated at least every other

year; other unit members will be evaluated annually. The administration may evaluate any unit member annually.

- b. Unit members who are permanent employees will not be evaluated during the first year of implementation of a new program. A program will be defined as a "new program" by mutual agreement of the Association and the District.
- c. No unit member will be evaluated in any class that exceeds the class size maximums in Article 12.
- d. Evaluation Every Five (5) Years (The 5 year evaluation cycle is defined as the last satisfactory evaluation year plus four years.):

By mutual agreement of the evaluator and the unit member to be evaluated, the unit member shall be evaluated at least once every five (5) years providing all of the following conditions apply:

- 1. The unit member has achieved permanent status.
- 2. The unit member has been employed by the District for ten (10) years.
- 3. The unit member's immediate prior evaluation was deemed satisfactory as defined elsewhere in this Article.
- The unit member has been determined to be highly qualified as defined in the 20 UCS Section 7801, if required by Federal Law.
- 5. Mutual agreement may be withdrawn by either the evaluator or the unit member.

6. Alternative Forms of Evaluation

The District and the Association have agreed to 2 (two) alternative processes for evaluation of permanent employees. These options are available to permanent employees with a minimum of 4 (four) years of teaching experience. Employees who want to be considered for an alternative process shall provide the plan in writing to their evaluator within the first thirty (30) days of school. Subsequently the evaluator and the evaluatee shall meet and reach consensus on the plan.

The Portfolio and Partner/Peer Review options are designed to provide a model of deeper formative assessment. The evaluation criteria shall be the same as for the traditional evaluation cycle. The areas of focus are targeted and specific and may include, but not limited to, one or more of the following:

- Specific inquiry/focus into student work, abilities, behaviors
- Instructional Practice/Strategies
- Content focused
- District or site initiatives
- Specific target population

Plans should include the following information:

- Area of focus
- Specific idea you are considering
- How it will benefit your students
- How it will be measured

a. Portfolio

The Portfolio option is an investigative process around a specific inquiry/focus. The evaluatee must complete three written reflections and have at least three artifacts throughout the year in support of his/her area of inquiry/focus. The three written reflections will include progress and next steps toward areas of inquiry/focus with artifacts that support these areas. One of the written reflections is done in collaboration with their administrator. No later than 30 calendar days prior to the end of the school year, the administrator shall complete the final evaluation summary and meet with the evaluatee.

A final summary conference will be held with the evaluatee and administrator for the purpose of reviewing the three reflections and three artifacts for his/her portfolio, reflection on the portfolio process, accomplishments, and final signatures.

Artifacts may include but not limited to samples of student work, assessment data, student surveys, or parent surveys.

b. Partner/Peer Review

The evaluatee and the peer/partner will have no less than 3 reciprocal observation cycles during the school year. The observation cycle shall include a pre-observation conference, a 30-minute observation, and a post observation conference. The administrator shall be informed as to when the observations are scheduled. After each post observation conference, the evaluatee will complete a self-assessment and provide the document to the administrator. No later than 30 calendar days prior to the end of the school year but no earlier than all three observation cycles have been completed, the evaluatee shall complete a Final Evaluation Summary and provide a copy to the administrator. A final summary conference will be held by the evaluatee and administrator for the purpose of reflection on the process, accomplishments, and final

ARTICLE 13 EVALUATION

signatures.

The district will provide release time of 3 days per pair of teachers involved in reciprocal observations.

Records

- a. The unit member shall have the right to attach a written reaction or response to each evaluation document prepared as a part of this procedure.
- b. The evaluator's records shall be located at the site of the evaluatee's current assignment or in the personnel file of the evaluatee located in the Office of Human Resources.

8. Forms

- a. The forms used in the procedure shall be: The Evaluation Worksheet, the Interim Evaluation Report, the Observation Form, the Summary Evaluation Report, and the Summary Evaluation Addendum. These forms are included in Appendix C of the Agreement.
- b. Any change in the format and content of these forms shall be by mutual agreement of the parties.
- c. Disposition of Forms
- (1) Evaluation Worksheet
 - (a) Original copy shall remain in evaluator's file to be forwarded to the Office of Human Resources when action for nonreemployment is initiated.
 - (b) One copy shall be retained by evaluatee.
 - (c) The original copy may be discarded at the option of the evaluator after the Summary Evaluation Report is filed in the Office of Human Resources.
- (2) Interim Evaluation Report
 - (a) Original copy shall be forwarded to the Office of Human Resources as appropriate.
 - (b) One copy may be retained by the evaluatee.
- (3) Assessment/Observation Report
 - (a) Original copy shall remain in evaluator's file to be forwarded

ARTICLE 13 EVALUATION

to the Office of Human Resources when action for non-reemployment is initiated.

- (b) One copy shall be retained by the evaluatee.
- (c) The original copy may be discarded at the option of the evaluator after the Summary Evaluation Report is filed in the Office of Human Resources.

(4) Summary Evaluation Report

- (a) The form shall be held by the evaluator for a period of ten (10) working days in order to provide the evaluatee with an opportunity to attach comments.
- (b) Original copy shall be forwarded to the Office of Human Resources.
- (c) One copy shall be retained by the evaluatee.
- (d) One copy shall be retained by the evaluator.
- (5) Performance Evaluation Addendum

Each copy shall be attached to the corresponding copy of the Summary Evaluation Report.

(6) Materials not needed to support the evaluator's Summary Evaluation Report shall not be retained by the evaluator for more than four (4) years.

9. Follow-Up Conference

If after any observation or evaluation conference, a unit member has concern involving the evaluation or observation report, a second conference shall be held upon request. The unit member may have a representative present.

D. Complaints

The Board shall consider only written complaints processed through administrative channels, directed against any unit member of the District. The unit member's supervisor, or principal, shall inform the complainant of the procedures as outlined in the Administrative Regulation 1312.1. The supervisor shall at this time inform the unit member of the direction given the complainant. When the complaint is anonymous, the supervisor may not proceed with an investigation, unless the District is required by law to investigate. Any unit member against whom a complaint is filed shall receive a copy of the complaint and the administrative action taken. The unit member shall have the right to seek to meet with those making accusations in order to resolve the problem.

ARTICLE 13 EVALUATION

Upon request, the administration shall request a meeting of the complainant and the unit member for the purpose of attempting to resolve the problem. No disciplinary action or negative evaluation may occur as the result of an unsubstantiated complaint.

Peer Assistance and Review - Article 21

For purposes of this article, permanent unit members who receive a final evaluation of "Does Not Meet Standards" shall be referred to the PAR program as an Intervention Teacher.

A. Definition of Terms

- 1. Vacancy: A vacancy is an unfilled full-time or part-time certificated position, which does not have a unit member assigned to it.
- 2. Assignment: Assignment is the placement of certificated personnel.
- 3. Reassignment: Reassignment is the placement within the same building of a certificated employee in a different position with a position description different from that presently held.
- 4. Transfer: Transfer is any relocation (school to school) of certificated personnel, which may result in the unit member working in a position with a different position description.
- 5. Posting Period: Posting period is defined as commencing when the first day notice is available to bargaining unit members.
- Program Need: A program need is an identified certificated position within the bargaining unit necessary to provide the instructional curriculum or other required programs established or revised by formal action of the Board.
- 7. Affirmative Action Program: Affirmative Action Program is an employment program, in conformity with state and federal statues, regulations and guidelines, with planned activities designed to seek, hire, and promote persons who are under-represented in the work force compared to their number in the population, including handicapped persons, women and persons of diverse racial and ethnic backgrounds.
- 8. Job Sharing: Job sharing is the placement of two (2) unit members who voluntarily agree to work part-time performing work that ordinarily would be performed by one full-time unit member.
- 9. Split Assignment: Split assignment refers to assignments at more than one site filled by one unit member.

10. Seniority:

 Unit members with the same hire date and the same length of District service shall have their seniority number determined by lottery.

b. The lottery shall be conducted in the presence of at least two (2) Association representatives. Once the lottery is used to determine a unit member's seniority; that seniority shall remain in effect while employed in the District.

B. Assignment

- The Superintendent or designee shall assign all newly appointed and continuing personnel to their specific positions within that area, subject, and/or grade level for which the Board has appointed them and within the scope of their certificate or credential and/or their major or minor fields of study.
 - a. On or before April 15 of each year, the district will provide an assignment form to each unit member. (The form will be mutually developed by HEA and the district within a month of ratification.) Minimally this form shall include a place where unit members will indicate the grade, subject, and building and assignment preference for the following year. For high schools implementing an optional zero or seventh period, teachers will also be able to indicate a teaching assignment during the zero or seventh period as well as a request to flex their schedule. The unit member will return the form within ten days of receiving it.
 - b. Each unit member shall be given written notice of the next year's tentative assignment not later than June 1. To the extent known, such notice shall specify the grade, subject area and classroom to which the unit member will be assigned. To the extent known, the unit member will check a box indicating whether or not the unit member intends to: accept the assignment; return to the district the following year and be placed on the voluntary transfer list; or not return to HUSD. Such response will be made within five working days.
 - c. At the beginning of each term, unit members will receive notification of the special needs of students assigned to them.
 - d. In circumstances where the principal is aware prior to the end of the school year that unit member(s) will be involuntarily transferred, the Principal shall so notify such unit member(s) in writing as promptly as possible. Whenever such notification is made prior to May 1, the involuntary transferee(s) shall receive an advance copy of the transfer list referenced in paragraph C.1. and shall be given the first opportunity to fill the position for which they are credentialed.

- 2. In making the determination of the assignments, the Superintendent or designee shall give priority to unit members on split assignments to the extent provided in sections C.6. and C.7. below in this article.
- Members of the bargaining unit shall be assigned or reassigned to classes consistent with their credentials and major and/or minor subjects of study. Any exceptions shall occur only by mutual agreement among the unit members affected, and the District.
- 4. A unit member who is reinstated following a leave of absence shall return to a comparable position as that held by the unit member at the time of the granting of the leave of absence or the same position, if available.
- 5. For each school year, the District shall first seek qualified volunteers prior to assigning a unit member to a class outside the workday. When volunteers are not available, the District shall rotate such assignments on a yearly basis among qualified unit members within each department responsible for teaching a class outside the workday. Qualified includes credential, teaching experience, and other job related criteria.
- 6. Before assigning a unit member to an elementary combination class, the District shall first seek a qualified unit member volunteer at the site the combination class is to be assigned. If no qualified unit member volunteers, the District will rotate combination classes among the teachers in the affected grade levels provided that there are qualified candidates at the site. Prior year's combination assignment shall be considered. Exceptions may be made with the consent of the teacher. Every effort will be made not to have bilingual combination classes unless requested by a teacher.

There will be no K-1 combination classes. Up to two (2) HEA representatives will be on the District enrollment team.

- 7. Before assigning a unit member to an elementary leveled class assignment, the District shall first seek a qualified unit member volunteer at the site to which the leveled class assignment class is to be assigned. If no qualified unit member volunteers, the District will rotate leveled classes among the teachers in the affected grade levels provided that there are qualified candidates at the site. Exceptions may be made with the consent of the teacher.
- 8. Sections will be offered to current teachers at the site before being offered to new teachers, except in the event that a site administrator has had significant difficulties in recruiting qualified candidates for a Math or English teaching position and the teacher under consideration is not qualified to teach anything but the class in question.

C. Posting and Filling Vacancies

- 1. Lists of all known vacancies shall be posted in all school buildings, in the
 - Human Resources Office, and on the District Web Site. Copies shall also be electronically delivered to the Association. Lists shall be updated as necessary until all vacancies are filled.
- 2. Each vacancy listed shall include the following information: (1) site location of the vacancy; (2) grade level or subject matter assignment; and (3) the closing date for applications if appropriate; (4) a date and a vacancy list number indicating the sequence; (5) A closing date which is at least five (5) days the district office is open following the posting. No assignment to fill the vacancy shall be made until after the closing date.
- 3. A list of vacancies between June 1 to three (3) weeks prior to the opening of school shall be sent via first class mail to those unit members who have submitted a request for transfer form and a stamped self-addressed envelope to the Human Resources Office.
- 4. All current unit members, including hourly, shall be given first consideration for vacancies before applicants from outside the bargaining unit. Within this Article, "first consideration", means a unit member will be given an interview before considering outside applicants. Hiring of candidates from outside the District for vacancies shall not take place until after the closing date posting periods set forth in "2" above and only if the position is not filled by a unit member who has made an application for a voluntary transfer.
- 5. Unit members applying for the same vacancy will be measured according to the following criteria: (1) credential, educational preparation, work experience; (2) District seniority; (3) site seniority, (4) evaluation of past performance. If after application of the criteria, two or more candidates are equally qualified, selection of this candidate shall be made in the interest of program needs, so long as the selection does not conflict with the adopted goals of the affirmative action program.
- 6. Unit members with Split Assignments: Notwithstanding any other provisions of this agreement, unit members with split assignments shall, upon application for a vacancy, be given priority over all other unit members and outside applicants for a position within his/her program in direct order of district seniority, provided that:
 - a. The unit member is certified to fill the vacancy and,
 - b. There is no unit member more senior on the involuntary transfer list who might otherwise fill the vacancy and,

- c. The District determines the more senior applicant(s) to be at least as qualified as more junior applicant(s) based on work experience and formal evaluations.
- d. In the event of equally qualified top applicants with split assignments, selection shall be made on the basis of seniority.
- 7. A prep teacher seeking to move into a vacancy in the regular general education program who is certified and qualified for the position and is at least as qualified as the other applicants based on the criteria in section C6. shall receive preference for that position. In the event that two (2) or more equally qualified prep teachers are the most qualified for the position, seniority shall apply.
- 8. Whenever possible, within ten (10) days after the closing date for applications, all posted vacancies are to be filled and all applicants for the position will be so advised. Should there be vacancies that are not filled as set forth above, only then would those be open to new teachers.
- 9. Unit members assigned to District-wide programs such as but not limited to music, library, special education, elementary prep and counseling, shall have the right to request specific assignments within their program. In response to such requests, the District shall use the same criteria as set forth in C.6. above.

D. Voluntary Transfer

- 1. A unit member desiring a transfer shall notify the Human Resources Office by submitting a District form, which will specify the change in grade level and/or subject assignment and/or location desired. The form shall consist of two copies; one copy shall be kept at the Human Resources Office and the unit member shall retain the other copy. The forms will be available at all sites where there are certificated employees, at the Human Resources Office, and at the office of the Association. Upon request of a unit member, the request for transfer will be kept confidential by the Human Resources Office until the unit member's application for a specific position is under consideration.
- 2. Receipt of the application will be confirmed by the Human Resources Office within five (5) days.
- 3. All requests for transfer to fill a vacancy, including those filed to fill a posted vacancy, will be considered, and selection made through the established selection procedures set forth in Section C. herein.
- 4. If, in the opinion of the District, a transfer of a unit member during the regular school year or during the year round school year would disrupt the

continuity or quality of the educational process for the class or classes involved, that opening may be filled with a temporary or limited term newhire to complete the term or year on an interim basis. A unit member who requests the transfer and is accepted for the position, or a similar position, shall be transferred to the said position at the beginning of the next semester or school year.

- 5. Teachers who transfer into positions in order to participate in non-traditional delivery of educational programs shall have the right, if a position is available, to return to their former school the next year, or be placed on the involuntary transfer list, if they so wish.
- 6. Unit members will not be eligible for transfer for the final year prior to receiving tenure except in unusual situations or for changes of enrollment.

E. Involuntary Transfer

- 1. Definition: An involuntary transferee is a unit member whose previous assignment is not available due to school consolidation, program elimination-reduction-revision, sanctions or interventions necessitated under Federal or State law, or loss of enrollment, or a unit member who is returning from leave whose previous assignment is no longer available.
- 2. In the event of program reduction or revision involving a year round school or an alternative basic education school not resulting in reduction of staff, the principal shall ask if any unit member(s) desire to transfer. Such request(s) shall be honored as an involuntary transfer, so long as the request is made prior to the close of the preceding school year.
- 3. Unit members who are involuntarily transferred to another school after the first teaching day of the school year shall be given two full days of release time prior to starting the new assignment. The unit member will be granted two days of release time upon request and taken at the unit members' discretion for the purposes of preparing for the new assignment.
- In the event that loss of enrollment and/or program elimination-reduction-revision and/or sanctions or interventions necessitated under Federal or State law, results in necessary staff reductions or transfer of some or all of the members at a school site, the District shall seek volunteers prior to making any involuntary transfer. If more than one unit member desires to transfer, the most senior unit member receives first preference. If no unit member desires a transfer, the unit member with the least seniority within the program shall be transferred or reassigned. Seniority shall be considered in the following priority order:
 - District service in the Hayward Unified School District (excluding Article 11 Leaves § R., General Unpaid Leaves of two (2) years or more.)

- b. District service at the school site (excluding Article 11 Leaves, § R., General Unpaid Leaves of two (2) years or more.)
- c. Seniority number. (Refer to Section A.10.a)
- 5. Unit members who are being moved from their existing assignments will receive, in writing, the reason(s) for the transfer, and, upon request will have a personal conference with the appropriate administrator.
- 6. Unit member in a pool of involuntary transferees shall have priority over unit members who have requested voluntary transfer or reassignment pursuant to Section D. herein, and shall receive assignments as follows:
 - a. In order of seniority, each unit member shall be contacted by the Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources or shall meet with the Assistant Superintendent of, Human Resources /designee at a time mutually agreed upon by both parties and at that meeting, the involuntary transferee shall designate those specific positions desired from the list of available vacancies, and confirm a mutually acceptable transfer with the Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources /designee. Unit members involuntarily transferred from a site because of Federal or State sanctions or interventions will choose from positions available at all other sites.
 - b. If a transfer is not mutually agreed upon, the unit member will be asked to wait until all other involuntary transferees have had an opportunity to mutually agree upon a placement.
 - c. At the conclusion of the process in 6.b. above, unit members remaining without a position may be administratively placed. This shall occur no earlier than twenty (20) work days before the start of the school year. Upon the request of the unit member, the District shall justify, in writing, why seniority was not used.

F. Involuntary Reassignment

- 1. Involuntary reassignment for reasons other than administrative reassignment shall be made only for the following reasons: A decrease in the number of pupils which requires a decrease in the number of unit members pursuant to Article 12 Class Size and Article 27 Restructured Comprehensive High Schools; elimination of program(s) and/or funding.
- 2. If a decrease in the number of pupils or the elimination of program(s) and/or funding occurs, the District shall seek volunteers prior to making any involuntary reassignment. If more than one unit member volunteers, the most senior unit member receives first preference. If no unit member volunteers, unit members to be reassigned will be measured by the principal according to the following criteria: seniority, credentials,

educational preparation and training, and work experience of all qualified teachers at the site, in order to assess which of the qualified teachers would be successful in the new setting. In the event that the principal reasonably determines that more than one of the qualified teachers would be successful, the unit member with the least seniority shall be reassigned. Seniority shall be considered in the following priority order:

- District service in the Hayward Unified School District (excluding Article 11 Leaves § R., General Unpaid Leaves of two (2) years or more.)
- b. District service at the school site (excluding Article 11 Leaves § R., General Unpaid Leaves of two (2) years or more.)
- c. Seniority number. (Refer to Section A.10.a.)
- 3. Unit members who are involuntarily reassigned during the school year shall be given two working days notice prior to beginning the assignment. The unit member will be granted two days of release time upon request and taken at the unit members' discretion for the purposes of preparing for the new assignment.

G. Administrative-Initiated Transfers or Reassignments

1. Administrative transfers or reassignments may be made for cause only, except, when necessary for proper placement of involuntary transferees, and can be effectuated only when there exists a position for which the unit member is qualified. Written notice of such action, together with reasons, shall be given to the unit member fourteen (14) days in advance or as soon as practical.

H. Job Sharing

- 1. Unit members wishing to engage in job sharing will fill out a request form stating the grade level and/or subject area to be shared. The application shall be placed in a District Job Share Clearinghouse File and shall be open to examination by any unit member who has filed a job share form. If, upon such examination, a unit member finds a potential job share, he/she shall be responsible for the initial contact with the other applicant.
- 2. Applications from two unit members who wish to share an assignment for the following year should be submitted to the District by April 1, of the school year preceding the assignment.
- 3. Participation in this program shall be on a voluntary basis only and by mutual agreement between the District, the principal(s), and the unit members. If mutual agreement has not been reached, HEA, and HR will meet with the job share partners and the site principal to reach consensus.
- 4. Current part-time unit members shall have priority over new hires for

participation in job sharing as the partner of a full-time unit member who opts for this provision.

- 5. Unit members who participated in job sharing shall have the right to return to full-time status in the following year if employed full-time. Such unit members who notify the District in writing before March 1 that they are asserting their right to return to full-time status in the following year shall be returned to full-time status. The District shall make reasonable efforts to accommodate requests received after March 1. Notwithstanding the unit member's possible failure to notify the district of his/her intent to return prior to March 1, however, the unit member's right to continued employment in the district consistent with his/her full-time status shall be preserved. If the District is unable reasonably to accommodate, the unit member shall continue with the same percent of FTE held in the prior year, and will be guaranteed return to his/her full-time status in the second year following the year in which the late request was made.
- 6. Job sharing may include but need not be limited to: division of days, segmenting days of the school week, and/or semesters of the school year in order that the assignment might be shared.

I. General Provisions/District Assistance

- The District shall give assistance to unit members who are required to move. Upon request of an affected unit member, the District shall assist in the move, transportation and reassembling of instructional equipment and materials related to the unit member's work assignment. Unit members in special circumstances may request additional time or assistance. The District shall honor all reasonable requests for additional time or assistance.
- In addition, if a unit member is required to move, the District shall offer two (2) working days without classroom duties for moving and preparing the classroom, if requested. Unit members who choose to have their move take place outside the work day shall be paid at the contract hourly rate for actual time spent on moving, up to a maximum of eighteen (18) hours. Unit members in special circumstances may request the Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources, to provide additional time, which shall not be unreasonably denied.

- A. The District and the Association shall, upon request, provide information of a non-confidential nature including, but not limited to, names and addresses of unit members pertaining to employee relations and other matters which may be of concern and interest to each other. Requests for said information shall be met within a reasonable time.
- B. Upon written request, the District shall supply the Association with a list of the names and assignments and contact information of all new and current unit members hired by the District for the school year no later than October 15 or two (2) weeks after receiving the request, whichever is later.
- C. At the time of employment, the District shall give to each newly hired unit member the current Association payroll deduction authorization form.
- D. The Association shall have the use of unit member mailboxes and the intradistrict mail system for purposes of distributing communications to their members and Unit employees. Copies of any general District announcement placed in employee boxes or sent through the intra-district mail system will also be sent to the principal of the school(s) where distributed and to the Superintendent.
- E. The Association shall have the right to use at least one bulletin board in each school or building for the purpose of posting notices of activities and matters of concern to the Association.
- F. The Association shall be provided the opportunity to announce meeting dates and agenda items during regularly scheduled faculty meetings.
- G. The Association shall be provided the opportunity to participate in District new employee orientations and "on boarding" annual events if held.
- H. School facilities may be used by local school units of the Association if there is no conflict with other official school use and upon proper notification and approval.
- School facilities shall be made available to the Association before or after regularly scheduled school hours and upon completion of application according to the "Civic Center Act."
- J. The Association shall have the right to transact official business on school property with unit members before and after school hours and during the unit members' lunch period provided that this shall not interfere with or interrupt school operations.
- K. The designated representatives of the Association shall have access to unit members on school property before and after school hours and during the unit members' lunch period. Representatives of the Association shall report to the office before visiting a unit member on the school premises.

- L. Only unit members who are members of the Association shall have the right to have dues deducted from their warrants. Any unit member who is a member of the Association or who is eligible for membership may sign and deliver to the District an assignment authorizing deduction of membership dues. Such authorization shall continue in effect unless revoked in writing. Pursuant to such authorization, the District shall, beginning with the first salary warrant of the school year, deduct one-tenth (1/10) dues from each salary warrant for ten (10) months. Deductions for authorization submitted after the issuance of the first warrant shall be appropriately prorated to complete payment by the following June. Dues are to be promptly submitted to the Association.
- M. The Association may designate local site representatives in matters pertaining to employer-employee relations.
- N. The hiring of a new public employee indicates that the onboarding process for even a single new employee constitutes a "new employee orientation".

The parties agree to the following process for certificated staff orientation/onboarding:

- 1. The District shall notify the HEA President at least ten (10) days in advance via email of all new employee orientations and will schedule monthly onboarding sessions in-between.
- 2. HEA shall have access to meet with certificated staff at the District's certificated orientation/onboarding at the beginning of the school year and any other scheduled orientation/onboarding with staff.
- 3. Any bargaining unit member(s) hired after the start of the school year shall be provided an in-person onboarding meeting within twenty-one (21) work days from the date of hire to allow HEA to meet for a maximum of sixty (60) minutes with the newly onboarded members.
- 4. New employees including temporary, permanent, full-time, part-time, and seasonal workers as long as they are still employed during the orientation shall be made mandatory to attend and paid their hourly per-diem rate, based on their annual salary, for the duration of these required orientation/onboarding meetings when occurring outside the contract year and/or day.
- 5. Union literature and/or membership forms and dues deduction will be provided.
- 6. HEA is entitled to invite California Teachers Association (CTA) endorsed vendors and CTA staff to the portion of new bargaining unit member orientations/onboarding meetings and will have access to District audio visual equipment for Association presentations.

ARTICLE 15 ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

- 7. Chapter leaders shall be provided with District-paid release time to attend the orientation/onboarding if any orientation/onboarding meeting is held during contractual work hours.
- 8. HEA Leadership shall be provided no less than *sixty (60) minutes* of uninterrupted time to communicate with bargaining unit members at all new bargaining unit member orientations/onboarding meetings. Such time will not be provided at the end of a meeting day unless HEA requests to be placed at the end of the agenda. District Administration will excuse themselves during Association time.
- 9. During the school year, the District shall provide HEA with the name, job title, department, work location, work, home, and personal cellular telephone numbers, personal email addresses on file with the District and home address of newly hired employees within thirty (30) days of hire or by the first pay period of the month following hire.
- 10. Every 120 days the District shall provide the HEA President information for all members of the bargaining unit in digital Excel format the information listed above in number 9 of this MOU and in addition to listing of any Unit Member on Leave of Absence and indication of whether the District is deducting dues for membership.
- O. Public school employers are required to honor the terms of their employees' written authorizations for payroll deduction. These authorizations are to be maintained by the union, not the employer. The district must process payroll dues deductions for all employees whom the union reports as having written authorizations.
- P. Payment of the service fee to the Association shall be made either by authorizing the District to deduct one-tenth (1/10) of such fee from the regular salary check of the unit member each month for ten (10) months, or by a single lump-sum cash payment directly to the Association, or by other arrangement agreeable to the unit member and the Association. The District shall remit such deductions for service fee to the Association. Unit members hired after the commencement of the school year shall pay a prorated service fee in accordance with established categories for part-time employment.
- Q. The Association shall indemnify and hold harmless the District and its Board individually and collectively from any legal costs and damages arising from claims, demands, or liability incurred by reason of litigation arising from this Article. CTA shall have the exclusive right to decide and determine whether any action or proceeding referred to in this Article shall or shall not be compromised, settled, dismissed or appealed. If the action or proceedings is compromised, settled or dismissed, or if the Association decides not to appeal such action or proceeding, the District shall not litigate the matter further.

ARTICLE 15 ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

- R. The Board shall, upon request, grant a full or partial year leave to the President and or Vice President of the Association during his/her term of office. The term of leave shall constitute full employment in the District and the person(s) on leave shall be entitled to all benefits granted to full time unit members. The Association shall pay the District a sum equal to the annual salary at Column C Step 6 on the salary schedule Appendix B-2 for each Association officer on leave under this provision.
- S. Except as otherwise provided by law, HEA may appoint up to two members to all District-level committees, including management interviews.
- T. Bargaining Unit members will not be asked to supervise, direct or evaluate each other.
- U. The district will make every attempt not to schedule meetings, professional development or trainings on Mondays.

ARTICLE 16 NONDISCRIMINATION

- A. The District and the Association agree not to unlawfully discriminate against any unit member on the basis of race, color, creed, national origin, sex, age, sexual orientation (actual or perceived characteristics), political affiliation, physical handicap, marital status, domicile, membership in the Association, or participation in the lawful activities of the Association.
- B. Nothing in this agreement shall be construed to limit or proscribe the political activity of any unit member during his/her off-duty hours, nor shall any administrative regulations be promulgated or enforced which shall so limit or proscribe such activity.

A. Definition

- 1. This article covers:
 - (a) summer school programs, including GATE summer school; and
 - (b) other programs addressing at risk students, such as before and after school programs and intersession programs which are assigned to certificated staff outside the regular school day or calendar year.
- 2. For purposes of this article, "interventions" refers to both (a) and (b) above.
- 3. Except for the Preamble and Articles 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 12D, 16, no other provisions of this contract shall apply to summer school and intervention certificated staff.

B. Intervention Teachers

- 1. For interventions, the maximum class size shall be twenty-five (25) at the elementary level and twenty-five (25) at the secondary level. Class adjustments and transfers within the maximum shall be completed within the first five (5) days of the intervention program. For non-intervention Summer School classes, the maximum class size shall be thirty-two (32) at the elementary level and thirty-four (34) at the secondary level. Class adjustments and transfers within the maximum shall be completed within the first five (5) days.
- 2. For state funded before and after school intervention programs the maximum class size shall be 15. The parties agree that this program is intended to be at least self-funding. If this is not the case at any time, the parties agree to meet and modify the class size and any other aspects of the program as are mutually agreed to be necessary to restore the program to self-sufficient status.
- C. Intervention teachers teaching outside of the regular school day will be compensated at the hourly rate. Teachers, including substituting HEA members, teaching during intervention or non-intervention summer classes will receive \$55 per hour (including but not limited to instruction, collaboration, and preparation time).

Unit members participating in district provided summer trainings shall be compensated at the rate of \$300 per day. A full day staff development is six (6) paid hours and one non paid hour for lunch.

Unit members serving as coaches during summer session shall be compensated at the rate of \$440 per day.

D. Qualified unit member applicants shall be given first consideration for existing intervention positions before applicants from outside the bargaining unit. Under this right of "first consideration," outside applicants may not be hired if there are qualified applicants from within the bargaining unit who have applied by the application deadline. Qualified is defined as a person with appropriate credentials to teach the level and or subject area and who has received satisfactory rating on his/her last formal evaluation.

ARTICLE 17 SUMMER SCHOOL & INTERVENTION PROGRAMS/TEACHERS

- E. Instructional material for interventions will be funded on a pro-rata basis (up to) regular school year funding. Funding shall not exceed budgeted allocations for such materials.
- F. The summer school high school site shall have three (3) campus supervisors at the beginning of the summer school high school program with later adjustments made as needed.
- G. At a designated summer school site, unit members whose classrooms are used for summer school by another teacher will meet with the site administrator in order to determine what materials/equipment need to be placed in a secure storage place for the duration of summer school. Prior to being placed in storage, materials/equipment will be inventoried and signed off by both the site administrator and the unit member. The district will assist in the moving and storage of materials/equipment, if requested. At the beginning of the school year, unit members will check materials/equipment against the original inventoried items ensuring no loss of materials/equipment has occurred. If items are lost, stolen or damaged, the district will replace said items promptly and/or adhere to the language found in Article 9 Safety Equipment and/or Personal Property Loss.
- H. Any member delivering Special Education services for the Extended School Year will receive their per diem rate of pay.
- I. Teachers working with students with active IEPs and/or 504 plans who are attending summer programs, shall have access to the student's IEPs "at a glance" and/or 504 plans.

ARTICLE 18 COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

A. Release Time for Extra Work Load

In the event a unit member carries an administratively assigned work load greater than normal, that person shall receive supplemental compensation in accordance with the following extra work load provisions:

Each comprehensive high school shall be allocated thirteen additional release periods on a yearly basis as follows:

- (2) the Director of Student Activities
- (2) the Director of Athletics
- (1) English/Language Arts Department Chairperson
- (1) Mathematics Department Chairperson
- (1) Science Department Chairperson
- (1) Social Science Department Chairperson

The remaining five additional release periods will be selected by the HEA members of the SBDM team or Curriculum Council among the following: Yearbook, Newspaper, Site Technology Coordinator, Director of Intramurals, High School Reform, Finance Director, Chairpersons of other departments, chair of the current content adoption area, or additional areas as needed.

The extra release periods will be during the instructional day and teachers will not be assigned teaching sections during their release time.

B. Extra Pay for Extra Work Load

In the event a unit member carries an administratively assigned work load greater than normal, that person shall receive supplemental compensation and reimbursement for expenses, in accordance with Appendix A.

If the chairperson of the Health Cost Containment Committee is a unit member, that unit member shall receive compensation in accordance with Appendix A.

C. In the event there is a need for a substitute Nurse the district will first fill the absence with a current part-time Nurse Staff. HUSD will offer the substitute position based on seniority and on a rotational basis. A Nurse filling the substitute position will work no more than seven (7) hours a day and will be compensated at each Nurse's per diem rate of pay. No Nurse will substitute more than 50 days in a school year.

A. Early Retirement Option/Post Retirement Contract

The District, in providing for individuals to retire voluntarily at an earlier age, shall make available retirement opportunities for unit members. A unit member may participate in these plans at his/her option and upon mutual agreement with the District. This program provides for payment of retirees aged fifty-five to sixty-five (55-65) on a contract-for-service basis to complete or work toward completion of a project of value to the District.

1. Procedure

All projects proposed for Post-Retirement Contracts shall be submitted to the Superintendent/designee by the last day of February. The Superintendent/designee shall review the projects, interview interested prospective retirees, and determine which projects they will recommend for acceptance and which unit member(s) shall implement those projects. The Superintendent/designee shall mutually determine with the unit member the length of the contract, the amount of the stipend, and the number of days to be served. The Superintendent/designee and the applicant shall agree on the name of the appropriate administrator to supervise the work of the participant. Projects recommended for acceptance shall be acted upon by the Board in a timely manner.

2. Implementation

- a. A unit member must have a minimum of ten (10) years of service in the District in a position requiring certification.
- b. In order to be eligible to participate as an independent contractor, the participant must actually retire from the District. However, the participant shall not be required to submit his/her retirement papers until after the Board has acted upon his/her proposed contract.
- c. The retiring unit member shall be between the age of fifty-five (55) and sixty-five (65).
- d. The participant shall serve from ten to fifty (10-50) days per school year as provided in the individual's contract. Scheduling of those days shall be mutually agreed upon between the participant and the supervisor. In unusual circumstances the Superintendent may waive the ten to fifty (10-50) day requirement depending upon the work products required.
- e. The stipend shall range from one thousand dollars (\$1,000) to five thousand dollars (\$5,000) per year depending upon the nature of the mutually acceptable agreement.

- f. Once the District approves the contract, the retiree is responsible for the work activity and/or products as specified in the contract under the supervision by the designated administrator.
- g. Projects may be proposed by the District, potential participants, the Association, unit members or by management, but are subject, individually, to approval by Superintendent/designee described in A.1. and by the Board.
- h. Any multi-year agreement shall be subject to annual evaluation by the designated supervisor of the work activity and/or project as described in written agreement. Such evaluations shall give specific reasons for any unsatisfactory conclusions. A copy of each evaluation must be given to the participant. The District may elect to discontinue the contract for the following year only upon such recommendation by the supervisor based on an unsatisfactory evaluation.
- i. Maximum duration of participation by one (1) individual shall be five(5) consecutive years.
- j. Criteria to be used by the Superintendent/designee for evaluating the stipend and potential contribution to the District shall include one (1) or more of the following:
 - (1) Demonstrated leadership in District, school and/or professional organizations.
 - (2) Publications
 - (3) Actual verified previous experience in the special field of contribution.
 - (4) Experience in teaching the aspects or content pertaining to the assignment. The instruction may have been to professional personnel in college, extension services, and/or adult school.
- k. Potential assignments for retirees may include, but are not limited to:
 - (1) Staff development (such as):
 - (a) Curriculum/instruction in specific discipline(s)
 - (b) General management methods
 - (c) Contract management methods
 - (d) Improving effectiveness of aides
 - (2) Direct services (such as):
 - (a) Clinical

- (b) Committee (I.E.P., S.S.T.)
- (3) Compliance reviews
- (4) Planning (such as):
 - (a) Sites and their use equipment control, material, dispersal, inventory control
 - (b) Trends population/demographics
 - (c) Programs
 - (d) Vocational/Career Education
 - (e) Environmental Education
- (5) Curriculum development
- (6) Material development for Instructional Materials Services
- (7) Demonstration teaching
- (8) Updating and revision of employee handbooks
- (9) Assisting in the development of inservice programs
- (10) Updating and revision of other school district publications (Volunteer Handbook, Noon Supervisor Handbook, Learning Center Instructional Assistant Handbook, Substitute Teacher Handbook, etc.)
- (11) Helping with staffing programs
- (12) Analysis of testing data
- (13) Updating and revision of school policies and regulations
- (14) Substitute teaching
- (15) Project writing
- (16) Project evaluation
- (17) Tutoring
- (18) Retirement counselor
- (19) Coordinator of volunteers
- (20) School Attendance Review Board
- (21) Child Welfare and Attendance
- I. The total program of contracts/stipends shall be subject to an annual expenditure limit of seventy-five thousand dollars (\$75,000). The District may revise this expenditure limit and adjust it upward.

Notification

The District shall supply the Association with figures on the number of applicants each year. If the District does not grant at least fifty percent (50%) of the applications, the District shall provide the Association with the reasons for the rejection of the applicants. Applications shall be made to the Human Resources Office.

4. Guidance

It shall be mandatory that each unit member entering this program will receive an analysis of his/her status with regard to the benefits to be derived from the application of options of this program. Such analysis shall be the responsibility of the Human Resources Office.

B. Pre-Retirement Part-Time Employment Plan

General provision - The Board will place in operation the following pre-retirement part-time employment plan subject to the conditions as set forth below:

- 1. The unit member must have reached the age of fifty-five (55) to attain eligibility in the plan, or earlier if permitted by legislation.
- 2. The unit member must have been employed full time in a position requiring certification for at least ten (10) years, of which the immediately preceding five (5) years were full time employment, all in the District.
- 3. The option of part-time employment must be exercised at the request of the unit member and can be revoked only with the mutual consent of the unit member and the employer, except that such unit members shall be subject to layoff according to the Education Code and dismissal for cause.
- 4. The unit member shall be paid a pro rata share of the salary the unit member would be earning had he/she not elected to exercise the option of part-time employment.
- 5. The District and the unit member shall continue to pay retirement contributions at the full-time salary level. The unit member shall receive health and welfare benefits in the same manner as a full time unit member.
- 6. The minimum part-time employment shall be the equivalent of one-half (1/2) of the number of days of service required by the unit member's contract of employment during the final year of service in a full time position.
- 7. This option is limited to unit members who do not hold positions with salaries above that of a school principal.
- 8. A unit member may not participate in this retirement plan past the age of sixty-five (65) years, or for more than five (5) years, whichever comes first.

- 9. Once a unit member has elected to be on a part-time status, such unit member cannot return to full time employment status, except by mutual agreement by the school district and the unit member.
- 10. A unit member who is on part-time employment status will accrue seniority on a prorated basis.
- 11. The final determination as to which unit members will participate in this program and the form of part-time employment rest within the sole discretion of the Board.
- 12. Any unit member wishing to participate in the above program shall notify the Personnel Services Division by April 15 of each school year.

ARTICLE 20 MISCELLENEOUS RETIREMENT PROVISIONS

- A. Accumulated sick leave credit for retirement Accumulated sick leave credit toward retirement benefits shall be granted each retiree as provided in the Education Code.
- B. Health and Welfare Program for Employees Hired on or Before June 29, 1998 and Occupational Therapists/School Psychologist hired on or before June 30, 2011.
 - 1. The terms of this section B apply only to unit members hired on or before June 29, 1998. Provisions relating to retiree Health and Welfare for unit members hired after that date, shall be governed by section C. of this Article. The retiree up to age seventy (70) will receive an amount equal to the Kaiser Permanente (California) plan premium for subscriber only coverage, adjusted annually, toward the purchase of one (1) of the District offered health plans upon the following conditions:
 - a. Attained age fifty-five (55) or more
 - b. Receive STRS benefits
 - c. Served ten (10) years in the District
 - 2. Upon reaching the age of sixty-five (65) the retiree will receive an amount equal to the Kaiser Permanente (California) Supplement/Managed Medicare plan premium for subscriber only coverage, adjusted annually, toward the purchase of the PERS offered Medicare Supplement plans. In addition the retiree shall be reimbursed the premium cost for Medicare Part B only, adjusted annually, to the extent that the cost of Medicare Part B together with the cost of the Medicare Supplement plan does not exceed the cost of the Kaiser Permanente (California) plan for unit members.
 - 3. The retiree who is not eligible for Medicare at age sixty-five (65) will continue to receive an amount equal to the Kaiser Permanente (California) health plan premium for subscriber only, adjusted annually. After July 1, 1991, only the retiree who is not eligible for Medicare may pay for coverage after reaching age seventy (70) if the current health plan provider approves.
- C. Health and Welfare Program for Employees Hired After June 29, 1998

The terms of this section C apply to unit members hired after June 29, 1998. The retiree up to age sixty-five (65) will receive an amount equal to the Kaiser Permanente California health plan premium for subscriber only coverage, adjusted annually, toward the purchase of one of the District offered health plans upon the following conditions:

ARTICLE 20 MISCELLENEOUS RETIREMENT PROVISIONS

- 1. Attained age fifty-five (55) or more
- 2. Receive STRS benefits
- 3. Served ten (10) years in the District

D. Health and Welfare Provisions Applicable to All Retirees

- 1. Retirees who reside outside the service area of the District offered health plans shall receive an amount equal to the Kaiser Permanente (California) health plan premium for subscriber only coverage, adjusted annually, with which the retiree may purchase health insurance.
- 2. Upon retirement, any retiree, who is at least fifty-five (55) years of age at the time of retirement, may continue to pay his/her coverage and/or spouse and dependent coverage in the District health insurance program by paying medical premiums through the District provided it is agreeable to the insurance carrier.
- 3. If required by the health plan provider, the retiree must be enrolled in that health plan upon retirement in order to continue enrollment in that health plan after retirement.

E. Retirement Incentive

- 1. For the 2005-2006 school year only, the District will offer an early retirement incentive program if the equivalent of 80 FTE or more from the bargaining unit submit their resignation by March 1, 2006. Resignations must be submitted in writing on a District approved form. To be eligible to participate in the early retirement incentive program, unit members must meet the following conditions:
 - a. Submit an irrevocable letter of retirement no later than March 1, 2006 for a retirement date taking effect on July 1, 2006.
 - b. Eligible to retire under STRS.
 - c. If the District does not implement this early retirement incentive program, the unit member may rescind his/her letter of retirement within ten (10) working days of being informed that the program will not be implemented.
- 2. If there is sufficient participation for the District to provide the incentive, the District will fund the following retirement incentive package:
 - a. A unit member in full time paid status shall receive a one-time payment of seven thousand five hundred dollars (\$7,500) on June 30, 2006. A unit member who is less than 1.0 FTE shall receive a prorated amount.

ARTICLE 20 MISCELLENEOUS RETIREMENT PROVISIONS

- b. Any tax consequences related to receipt of this early retirement incentive shall be the sole responsibility of the retiring employee.
- c. The District reserves the right and retains the sole discretion to implement the retirement incentive program if less than 80 F.T.E. elect to participate in the early retirement incentive program.

- A. There shall be a Peer Assistance and Review Program (PAR) for all unit members who have teaching assignments. The primary purpose of the PAR program in HUSD is to provide teachers with assistance to enhance their classroom practices. The requirements for summative evaluation contained in the HEA/HUSD evaluation contract language shall remain the responsibility of the school administrator or designee. In order to promote the highest levels of trust and assistance, strict rules of confidentiality shall be maintained throughout the PAR program among the consulting teachers, the teachers needing intervention/assistance, and the teachers' evaluators.
- B. The program shall serve the following:
 - Beginning Participating Teacher: A beginning participating teacher may participate in PAR on a voluntary basis. A beginning participating teacher includes:
 - a. First (1st) and second (2nd) year teachers who are new to the district and the profession, specifically teachers who have not had experience in other districts.
 - b. Emergency-credentialed teachers not in a teacher education program and not receiving any other professional development support.
 - c. Teachers on any form of credential waiver, pre-interns and interns not receiving any other professional development support.
 - 2. Experienced Participating Teacher: An experienced participating teacher is one who volunteers to participate in the PAR program and is not a teacher needing intervention/assistance.
 - a. Teachers who are teaching out of their grade level and/or subject area of experience.
 - b. Teachers interested in improving their classroom teaching practices.
 - 3. A teacher needing intervention/assistance shall be defined as a teacher with permanent status who receives a "Does Not Meet Standards" composite evaluation on the summary evaluation report (a teacher who needs assistance to improve his/her instructional skills, classroom management, knowledge of subject matter and/or related aspects of his/her teaching performance as a result of the unsatisfactory summary evaluation report).

- 4. The priority for serving classroom teachers in the PAR program will be:
 - a. Intervention Teacher
 - b. Beginning Participating Teachers
 - c. Teachers teaching out of their grade level and/or subject area
 - d. Teachers interested in improving their practice

C. Joint Panel

- A Joint Panel shall administer the Peer Assistance and Review (PAR)
 Program. The Joint Panel shall consist of seven (7) members, three (3) of
 whom shall be selected by the District, and four (4) of whom shall be
 selected by the Association. The Joint Panel shall be co-chaired by a
 teacher, selected by the Association and an administrator.
- 2. The initial term of office shall be one (1) year. At the end of the 2000-01 school year, the Joint Panel shall recommend the length of future terms, providing for the rotation of its members.
- 3. The Joint Panel shall establish its own meeting schedule. Meetings shall be scheduled on a regular basis.
- 4. Responsibilities The Joint Panel shall be responsible for the following:
 - a. Coordinating training for Joint Panel members;
 - b. Coordinating training for Consulting Teachers:
 - A consulting teacher is a teacher selected by the joint panel to provide assistance to Intervention Teachers and Participating Teachers in the PAR Program;
 - c. Establishing and publishing its own rules of procedure. The Joint Panel shall distribute, at the beginning of each year, a copy of the adopted rules and procedures to all FRA representatives and certificated administrators. Copies will be made available to bargaining unit members upon request;
 - d. Developing a process for the selection and observation of Consulting Teachers;

- e. Determining the number of Consulting Teachers based upon the number of participants in PAR, budget and program needs. The Joint Panel shall develop the ratio of Consulting Teachers to PAR participants;
- f. Developing a process to match Consulting Teachers with PAR participants;
- g. Processing applications from teachers voluntarily requesting peer assistance:
- h. Develop documentation to be used for the PAR program;
- i. Previewing the final report of the Consulting Teacher and make recommendations to the Board regarding the Intervention Teachers' progress in the PAR program;
- j. Evaluating annually the effectiveness of the PAR program. The Joint Panel will develop a system of evaluation during the 2000-2001 school year;
- k. Establishing links between consultants, administration, the Board and the Association for communication and information;
- I. Making recommendations regarding professional development to the district administrator in charge of professional development;
- m. Previewing the effectiveness of the Consulting Teachers. No documentation of a derogatory nature will be placed in the personnel file of a Consulting Teacher by the Joint Panel. This review shall not become part of the Consulting Teachers' Personnel file:
- n. Having a role in recommending budget priorities for the PAR Program;
- o. Providing a report to the Board identifying teachers who are required to participate in the PAR program;
- p. Encouraging a collaborative relationship between the Consulting Teacher and administrator, Intervention, and Participating Teacher;
- q. Mediating disagreements between the Consulting Teacher, Intervention, and Participating Teacher;
- r. Developing a monitoring component, which includes Consulting Teachers providing ongoing reports to the Joint Panel;

- s. Ensuring that all requirements prescribed by the Education Code in respect to Peer Assistance and Review are met;
- t. Reviewing the performance of Consulting Teachers. This review shall not become a part of the personnel file;
- u. Establishing and publishing the application process for the Consulting Teachers annually including timelines;
- 5. Confidentiality of Materials: All proceedings and materials related to evaluations, reports and other personnel matters shall be kept confidential, except in response to a subpoena, or court order.
- 6. Conflict of Interest: The Joint Panel shall develop procedures dealing with potential personal or professional conflicts of interest.
- 7. Hold Harmless: The District shall hold harmless the members of the Joint Panel from any liability arising out of their participation in this Program as provided in Education Code Section 44503.

D. Consulting Teachers

- A Consulting Teacher is a teacher selected by the Joint Panel to provide assistance to Intervention Teachers and Participating Teachers in the PAR program.
- 2. The following shall constitute the minimum qualifications:
 - a. Be a credentialed teacher with permanent status and effective evaluations in HUSD:
 - b. Have taught for at least four (4) years with recent experience in classroom instruction;
 - c. Be able to demonstrate exemplary teaching ability to the Joint Panel;
 - d. Have extensive knowledge of subject matter and mastery of a range of teaching strategies, instructional techniques and classroom management skills necessary to meet the diverse needs of all students:
 - e. Be able to communicate effectively orally and in writing to the Joint Panel;
 - f. Be able to work cooperatively and effectively with adults.

- 3. Compensation shall be at the per diem rate. Compensation may include additional days beyond the contractual work year, as agreed upon by the Joint Panel and the Consulting Teacher.
- 4. Terms and Condition of Services
 - a. A Consulting Teacher shall be appointed for a one (1) year term, which is renewable for up to three years upon agreement of the Consulting Teacher and Joint Panel.
 - b. The Consulting Teacher may serve the PAR Intervention and/or Participating Teachers in the following prioritized order:
 - (1) Full-time release or
 - (2) Part-time release or
 - (3) Extra compensation and/or release
 - c. At the conclusion of their service, Consulting Teachers shall have return rights to a position for which the individual is qualified at their school of origin. If there is no position, a position will be created by an involuntary transfer of the least senior teacher.
 - d. Workload: For planning purposes, the Joint Panel will assign full-time Consulting Teachers with twelve (12) Intervention and/or Participating Teachers. However, when considering the special needs of the Intervention or Participating Teachers and the district, the Consulting Teachers and the Joint Panel will agree to adjust the workload of the Consulting Teachers. The workload adjustment may include fewer/more than twelve (12) Intervention or Participating Teachers, but will not exceed fifteen (15) teachers served by a single full-time Consulting Teacher.
 - e. Consulting Teacher's Removal from service: Before a Consulting Teacher is removed from the PAR program during the term of their appointment by the Joint Panel, for reasons other than discontinuance or partial discontinuance of the program, the Joint Panel shall:
 - (1) Notify the Consulting Teacher verbally and in writing of the reasons for not continuing the person in the program.
 - (2) Within five work days of written notice, hold a conference with Consulting Teacher to discuss those reasons and any recommendations for meeting program requirements. Where

- there are recommendations, the Consulting Teachers shall be given a written copy of same.
- (3) Hold a follow-up conference no earlier than twenty (20) working days following the first conference. In the event the person is removed from the PAR program, the Joint Panel shall give written notice.
- 5. Roles and Responsibilities of the Consulting Teacher:
 - a. Consulting Teachers must be willing to work with the following groups of teachers:
 - (1) Intervention Teachers
 - (2) Beginning Teachers
 - (3) Teachers teaching out of their grade level or subject area.
 - (4) Teachers interested in improving their practice.
 - b. Consulting Teachers shall:
 - (1) Work with individual teachers or groups of teachers.
 - (2) Work with teachers at various grade levels, subject areas, courses and programs as appropriate.
 - (3) Communicate with administrators when appropriate.
 - (4) Maintain confidentiality.
 - (5) Collaborate with teachers in the PAR program to develop an action plan.
 - (6) Collaborate with other Consulting Teachers.
 - (7) Make verbal and written reports to the Joint Panel.
 - (8) Meet with the Joint Panel on a regularly scheduled basis.
 - (9) Notify the Joint Panel when a teacher participating in the PAR program voluntarily no longer needs assistance.
 - (10) Orient teachers participating in the PAR program to district-wide goals and procedures.
 - (11) Use a variety of strategies, which will address the various

needs of teachers participating in the PAR program. This may include classroom management, methodology, planning and organization and organization.

- (12) Observe teachers participating in the PAR program that are assigned to the Consulting Teacher and provide feedback to teachers within two days.
- (13) Be willing to develop knowledge of researched-based instructional strategies and professional development.
- c. The Consulting Teachers shall apply for their positions in the PAR programs based on the process established by the Joint Panel that will include three letters of reference from the following sources:
 - (1) One (1) reference must be from a principal or immediate supervisor who has evaluated the Consulting Teacher's performance within the last four years.
 - (2) Two (2) references must be from other educators familiar with the Consulting Teacher's teaching and/or coaching expertise.
- d. All applications and letters of reference are for Joint Panel use only and are to be kept strictly confidential.
- e. Consulting Teacher applicants who are not accepted as Consulting Teachers will be notified in writing by the Office of Human Resources.
- f. For the purposes of immediate supervision, the Consulting Teachers will report to the Coordinator of Professional Development.

E. Miscellaneous Provisions

Indemnification: The District shall defend and indemnify the Consulting Teachers and the Joint Panel members against claims arising out of their good faith and professional performance of duties under this article. Consulting Teachers and Joint Panel members who act pursuant to this program shall have the same protection from liability and access to an appropriate defense as other public school employees pursuant to Division 3.6 (commencing with section 810) of Title I of the Government Code.

F. No Encroachment/Loss of Funding

Expenditures for this program shall not exceed revenues the district receives from funds made available by Ed Code section 44506 or successor legislation.

A. Salary Schedule Provisions

- 1. Placement and Classification
 - a. Credit for Previous Experience
 - (1) All teachers entering the District will be allowed credit comparable to full time contracted teaching experience on the basis of one step for each year of experience. Official verification of previous teaching experience must be submitted by the unit member.
 - (2) Credit for teaching experience must meet the following criteria:
 - (a) Possession of a valid teaching credential during the period of creditable previous experience.
 - (b) Teaching experience must be at a school accredited by a state recognized accrediting agency.
 - (c) Head Start teaching experience shall be allowed only for placement on the Child Development (to include Children's Center, Preschool/Latchkey Teachers) salary schedule.
 - (3) School nurses, Occupational Therapists and speech therapists will receive "experience credit" for years employed and practicing in their field as:
 - (a) Registered Nurse (RN)/Speech Therapist (license).
 - (b) Full time as a licensed agent in an accredited agency.
 - (4) For school nurses only, Continuing Education Units (CEUs), necessary to maintain licensure as required by law will be accepted for salary placement and advancement. All other salary advancement criteria that apply to other unit members will remain applicable to the district nurses.
 - (a) Ten (10) CEUs equal one (1) semester unit of credit.
 - (b) For initial placement official transcripts must be provided by November 30. For advancement, a

transcript, official grade cards, or letters of verification of course work for courses completed during the previous school year or summer school must be submitted on or before January 7 for salary credit during the new school year.

- (c) The Human Resources Office is responsible to provide nurses with a receipt of the transcript at the time of submission.
- (5) For Occupational Therapists (OT's), Continuing Education Units (CEUs), necessary to maintain licensure as required by law (American Occupational Therapist Association/ Board of Occupational Therapists Guidelines) will be accepted for salary placement and advancement. All other salary advancement criteria that apply to other unit members will remain applicable to the district OT's.
 - (a) One (1) CEU equals ten (10) Professional Development Units (PDU's).
 - (b) For initial placement official transcripts must be provided by November 30.
 - (c) The Human Resources Office is responsible to provide Occupational Therapists with a receipt of the transcript at the time of submission.
- b. Salary Schedule Classification
 - (1) Classification A requires:

A bachelor's degree or the equivalent *

and

The appropriate California State Certification or the equivalent. *

(2) Classification B requires:

A bachelor's degree or the equivalent * plus fifteen (15) semester units

and

The appropriate California State Certification or the equivalent. *

(3) Classification C requires:

A bachelor's degree or the equivalent * plus thirty (30) semester units

and

The appropriate California State Certification or the equivalent. *

(4) Classification D requires:

A bachelor's degree or the equivalent * plus forty-five (45) semester units

and

The appropriate California State Certification or the equivalent. *

(5) Classification E requires:

A bachelor's degree or the equivalent * plus sixty (60) semester units

and

The appropriate California State Certification or the equivalent. *

(6) Classification F requires:

A masters degree plus thirty (30) semester units earned after the master's degree or a bachelor's degree or the equivalent * plus ninety (90) semester units

and

The appropriate California State Certification or the equivalent. *

Blended credentials and/or blended masters degree will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis with the order of unit completion verified by the college or university.

(7) Masters Degree(s)

A unit member who has one (1) or more masters degrees shall receive an annual stipend as set forth in the salary schedule appendices for only one (1) masters degree. In order to qualify, the degree must have been granted by an institution listed in the most current edition of the American Council of Education publication, Accredited Institutions of Post-Secondary Education Programs, Candidates, or comparable foreign publications.

(8) Doctorate Degree(s)

A unit member who has one (1) or more doctors degrees

shall receive an annual stipend as set forth in the salary schedule appendices for only one (1) doctors degree. In order to qualify, the degree must have been granted by an institution listed in the most current edition of the American Council of Education publication, Accredited Institutions of Post-Secondary Education Programs, Candidates, or comparable foreign publications.

2. Part-time Salary: Contracted unit members in the regular K-12, Child Development Program and Preschool/Latchkey, and Adult Education

programs who work less than a full day assignment shall be paid on a prorated basis.

3. Any contract substitute who is a contract substitute for seventy-five percent (75%) of the school year and any temporary unit member on contract for more than seventy-five percent (75%) of the school year shall be placed on the Teachers Salary Schedule.

4. Miscellaneous Provisions

- a. Any unit member who works more than the required number of working days because of transferring between schools with year-round and regular calendars shall be reimbursed at their per diem rate for the extra days.
- b. Any unit member who works less than the required number of working days because of involuntarily transferring between schools with year-round and regular calendars shall be allowed to make-up those lost days by substituting at their per diem rate during the unit member's days of non-responsibility.
- c. Any unit member who chooses to substitute during days of non-responsibility shall be paid at the rate for substitutes.

B. Salary Schedule Structure & Salary

1. Salary Schedules

- a. The salary schedules appear in the appendices and are incorporated into this Agreement.
 - (1) Regular school year salary schedules shall be Appendices B-I and B-2.
 - (2) The Counselor salary schedule shall be Appendix B-3.

^{*} For equivalents, see section G., Area Equivalents.

- (3) The 225 day Child Development salary schedule and the 183 day Child Development salary schedule shall be Appendix B-7 and B-8.
- (4) Adult Education Hourly pay schedule shall be Appendix B-6.
- (5) The Psychologist's salary schedule shall be Appendix B-4.
- (6) The Occupational Therapists salary schedule shall be Appendix E.

2. Salary Schedule Structure & Salary:

2019-20 Compensation:

A four percent (4.0%) salary schedule increase effective July 1, 2019 shall be added to the HEA salary schedules for the 2019-20 school year.

2020-21 Compensation:

A two percent (2.0%) salary schedule increase effective July 1, 2020, shall be added to the HEA salary schedules for the 2020-21 school year.

The parties agree not to reopen the contract on Article 22 (Compensation) for the 2020-21 school year.

In addition

1. Hourly rate increases to \$43.00.

2018-19 Compensation:

A three and twenty-five hundredths of a percent (3.25%) salary schedule increase beginning July 1, 2018 shall be added to the HEA salary schedules for the 2018-19 school year.

3. Compensation for Extra Work Load

For the term of this agreement, the compensation rate for those listed in the extra work load schedule shall be as set forth in Appendix A.

C. Hourly Pay and Substitute Coverage Pay

- 1. Effective beginning July 1, 2016, the hourly rate shall be \$41.50.
- Substitute Duty:
 Substitute Coverage During Preparation Period: A unit member who volunteers to substitute during his/her scheduled preparation period shall

be paid at the hourly rate. Secondary unit members shall not substitute for more than one (1) preparation period per day. Elementary unit members may substitute only during their regularly scheduled preparation period.

- 3. Substitute Coverage: HUSD and HEA will establish a committee to conduct a full analysis of the district needs for substitute coverage, substitute recruitment, and/or support and compensation for teachers who may be impacted. The committee will be comprised of 8 members, 4 members selected by the management team, and 4 members selected by HEA creating parity. The committee will convene in September 2017 after the first 15 days of school to reach consensus on recommended resolutions by November 1, 2017.
- 4. Any Adult Education teacher who has taught thirty (30) hours per week with a minimum of five (5) years in the District's Adult Education Program shall receive one (1) additional dollar per hour over the rate established for that school year even if the teacher then teaches less than thirty (30) hours per week.
- 5. For staff development requiring a presentation outside the regular work day, the unit member making the presentation will be compensated for the presentation time and an hour of preparation time equal to the amount of time for the presentation at the hourly rate.
- 6. Unit members approved or required to attend presentations after working hours or on weekends will be paid at the contractual hourly rate in effect at that time of their participation.

D. Annual Advancement

- 1. Annual Advancement
 - a. After placement upon the salary schedule, each unit member will advance one (1) step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes seventy-five percent (75%) of the number of member's workdays. In the case of evening schools, seventy-five percent (75%) of the number of days the evening schools of the District are in session shall be deemed a complete school year.
 - b. A unit member who works less than seventy-five percent (75%) in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second (2nd) year.
- 2. Advancement with Emergency Credential Initial Placement

a. An Emergency Credentialed unit member is limited to Classification A, Step 6, unless official evidence is presented by the individual verifying that the member is engaged in a continuing bachelor's degree and/or regular credential program at an accredited college or university.

3. Change of Classification

a. Advancement from one (1) salary schedule classification to another, A to B, B to C, C to D, D to E, or E to F, will be granted after completion of the required credit.

b. Deadline for Submitting Transcripts

Official Transcripts, letters of verification, or official grade cards or courses completed during the previous school year or summer school must be submitted on or before January 7 for salary credit during the new school year. College credit for horizontal salary placement must be earned prior to the returning date of teachers as listed on the official calendar.

c. Annual Change

Changes in Salary Schedule Classification shall be after December 1 and will be retroactive for the new fiscal year.

4. Maximum Approved Credit

a. In order to insure normal teaching efficiency during the school year, the maximum credit that will be accepted for salary classification purposes of teachers engaged in full time teaching will be two (2) courses not to exceed four (4) semester units for any one (1) semester or four (4) quarter units for any one (1) quarter, exclusive of summer sessions. A maximum of four (4) courses not to exceed eight (8) semester units will be accepted for any one (1) school year, exclusive of summer sessions. Credit for in-service courses, when sponsored or co-sponsored by the District, may exceed the maximum number of eight (8) semester units for any one (1) school year.

5. Beginning Date - Classification Change Credit

All plus factors credited toward Classification B, C, D, E and F must be completed after one of the following dates:

- a. The date of the Bachelor's Degree.
- b. The date of completion of all requirements for the Bachelor's Degree as certified by proper authority of any accredited college or

university. This date may be used if the degree is dated as the first (1st) regular commencement following the completion of the requirements for the degree.

- c. For classification F, the date of the Master's Degree or the date of the completion of all requirements for the Master's Degree.
- d. Blended credentials and/or blended masters degree will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis with the order of unit completion verified by the college or university.

E. Professional Advancement and Review Committee

The Association will work in conjunction with a Human Resources Administrator, to evaluate requests for credit for advancement on the salary schedule.

F. Approved Units of Credit

1. Equivalent Proposals

The "equivalent professional credit" training features of this schedule must be proposed by the "area" affected and presented to the Professional Advancement and Review Committee and a Human Resources Administrator, for approval.

2. One (1) Semester Unit Defined.

One (1) semester unit equals such a unit earned at any accredited college or university. One (1) quarter unit is equal to two-thirds (2/3) of one (1) semester unit.

Fifteen (15) Hours Instruction Equals One (1) Semester Unit.

Fifteen hours (15) instruction received in any one (1) field equals one (1) semester unit, if approved by the Professional Advancement and Review Committee and a Human Resources Administrator.

4. Foreign Institute Credit

In order for credit to be granted for graduate study in foreign institutions, a unit member shall obtain an evaluation of allowable credit from an official transcript of such credit by one of the approved organizations listed on the "Foreign Transcript Evaluation Organization" leaflet.

5. Course Grade Requirement

A grade of "C" (average) or better in any approved course is required for credit on the salary schedule.

If no letter grade is indicated, a "P" or "+" will meet Course Grade Requirements.

G. Area Equivalents for Vocational Education Teachers

The following equivalents are recognized as satisfying the requirements for classification advancement.

1. Classification C Requirement

The following equivalent will place a teacher in Classification C:

Seven (7) years of trade experience in an appropriate field, plus the necessary teacher training courses required by the State for the Trade and Industrial Credential. (Apprenticeship training shall be defined in terms of the union standards for each craft.)

2. Classification D Requirement

The equivalent of five and one-half (5-1/2) years of training will place a teacher in Classification D:

- a. Number 1, plus fifteen (15) semester units of college training (or)
- b. Number 1 above, plus three (3) years of additional trade experience in the teacher's field (or)
- c. Number 1 above, plus supervisory work in the subject field, subject to the approval of the Professional Advancement and Review Committee and a Human Resources Administrator (or)
- d. Number 1 above, plus the equivalent of fifteen (15) semester units of credit when one unit is allowed for each forty-five (45) hours of acceptable work experience during summer vacation with a maximum of four (4) semester units for any one (1) summer. (Acceptable is defined as something which improves the quality of teaching in the field in which the teacher is employed and which is deemed acceptable by the Professional Advancement and Review Committee and a Human Resources Administrator.)

3. Classification E Requirement

The equivalent of six (6) years of training will place a teacher in Classification E:

- a. Number 1 above, plus thirty (30) semester units of college training (or)
- b. Number 1 above, plus five (5) years of additional trade experience

in the teacher's field (or)

- c. Number 1 above, plus supervisory work in the subject field, subject to the approval of the Professional Advancement and Review Committee and a Human Resources Administrator, (or)
- d. Number 1 above, plus the equivalent of thirty (30) semester units of credit when one unit is allowed for each forty-five (45) hours of acceptable work experience during summer vacation with a maximum of four semester units for any one summer. (Acceptable is defined as something which improves the quality of teaching in the field in which the teacher is employed and which is deemed acceptable by the Professional Advancement and Review Committee and a Human Resources Administrator.)

4. Classification F Requirement

The equivalent of seven (7) years of training will place a teacher in Classification F:

- a. Number 1 above, plus forty-five (45) semester units of college training (or)
- b. Number 1 above, plus seven (7) years of additional trade experience in the teacher's field (or)
- c. Number 1 above, plus supervisory work in the subject field, subject to the approval of the Professional Advancement and Review Committee and a Human Resources Administrator, (or)
- d. Number 1 above, plus the equivalent of forty-five (45) semester units of credit when one (1) unit is allowed for each forty-five (45) hours of acceptable work experience during summer vacation with a maximum of four (4) semester units for any summer. (Acceptable is defined as something which improves the quality of teaching in the field in which the teacher is employed and which is deemed acceptable by the Professional Advancement and Review Committee and a Human Resources Administrator).
- e. Blended credentials and/or blended masters degree will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis with the order of unit completion verified by the college or university.

5. College Training Requirement

All of the equivalent credit for the fifth (5th) or sixth (6th) year may be granted on the basis of 2b or 3b, 2c or 3c, and 2d or 3d above, but the unit member is urged to acquire some part of the credit under 2a and to recognize that, if in the opinion of the Professional Advancement and

Review committee and a Human Resources Administrator, it is advisable, credit for a fifth (5th) or sixth (6th) year, in part, may require academic courses.

6. Required Recommendation

A recommendation for each individual so placed must be given by the Professional Advancement and Review Committee and a Human Resources Administrator.

H. Issue of Warrants

- 1. Unit members shall receive their annual salaries in ten (10) or twelve (12) equal installments. Should a unit member elect not to return for service the following school year, he/she will receive payment in full on June 30.
- 2. Payroll warrants will be distributed on the last working day of the month, after 3:00 p.m. Hourly home teachers, and hourly adult school teachers, shall have a payroll period beginning the eleventh (11th) of one month through the tenth (10th) of the following month and shall receive their warrants on the last working day of the month.

3. Daily Rate of Pay

A person in a position requiring certification qualifications who serves less than a full school year shall receive as salary only an amount that bears the same ratio to the established annual salary for the position as the number of working days served bears to the total number of working days plus institutes in the annual school term, and any other day when the unit member is required by the Board to be present at the schools in the District.

Notwithstanding any provisions of this section to the contrary, a person in a position requiring certification qualifications who serves a complete semester shall receive not less than one-half (1/2) of the established annual salary for the position. This section shall not be so construed as to prevent the payment of compensation to a person while on leave of absence when the payment of the compensation is authorized by law.

I. Salary Warrants

1. All unit members not using direct banking services will have their salary warrants mailed to them at their home address unless special arrangements have been made.

J. Direct Banking Services

1. All new unit members to the District are required to enroll in the Payroll

Electronic Direct Deposit Program.

- 2. Electronic Direct Deposit services are provided for all financial institutions that are members of the Automated Clearing House (ACH).
- 3. The Payroll Department will either deliver magnetic media or electronically transmit monthly salary data to the District's lead bank.
- 4. The unit member's statement indicating the credited bank account will be mailed to each unit member by the Payroll Department. The unit members may elect to have the payroll statement mailed to their home or work site.

K. Payroll Deductions

 Unit members may choose to have payroll deductions for health and welfare benefits can be made pursuant to the provisions of Section O -Health and Welfare Benefits.

2. Credit Union

Credit Union deposits to share and loan accounts may be deducted monthly from warrants, through payroll deductions.

3. United Way

Voluntary contributions may be deducted monthly from warrants through payroll deduction for United Way.

Tax-Sheltered Annuities

Tax-Sheltered Annuity plans purchased from the State Teachers Retirement System, or from approved insurance carriers, are available through payroll deductions. Unit members desiring to participate may secure "Amendment of Employment Contract" forms from the insurance carriers or the Business Office.

5. Withholding Tax

Information pertaining to Withholding Tax deductions, such as a change in the number of dependents, should be referred to the Business Support Services Department. Should a change of name, or change of address occur, a new Withholding Form must be completed and filed immediately with the Business Support Services Department.

L. Accumulated Sick Leave

Unit members are advised monthly on the pay stub of accumulated sick leave.

- M. All stipends, with the exception of coaching stipends, professional growth, and special projects, will be paid on a monthly basis beginning with the start of the assignment. Stipends for coaching, professional growth and special projects will be paid upon completion of the assignment.
- N. Copies of all PAFs for unit members will be sent to HEA upon request.
- O. General Health and Welfare provisions
 - 1. For the term of this agreement, the Joint Committee for Health Cost Containment may make recommendations regarding changes in benefits, providers and additional or optional benefits.
 - 2. The District shall maintain an IRC 125 Cafeteria Plan for the benefit of unit members. The core program shall consist of health and dental. All unit members shall be covered by the District's dental plan (unless altered by HEA). Unit members may opt out of health coverage upon presentation of proof of alternate coverage. Unit members working less than half time may participate in the core program at their option.
 - 3. The administrative costs of the IRC 125 plan shall be borne by the plan. If the IRC 125 plan administrator decides to no longer bear the administrative cost of the plan, the District and HEA shall meet to resolve how the administrative costs shall be borne. Accounts shall be established under the IRC 125 Cafeteria Plan to shelter from applicable salary taxes allowable amounts for insurance premium payments and dependent care expenses.
 - 4. Health, Dental & Optional Benefits
 - a. Plans available to unit members are:
 - (1) Health Insurance Plans under The CalPERS Health Program
 - (2) Dental Insurance Plans
 Delta
 United Healthcare Dental
 - b. Optional benefits currently available to unit members are as follows:
 - (1) Annuities From a list of District approved annuity plans.
 - (2) Other Optional Benefits

American Fidelity IRC 125 Cafeteria Plan

American Fidelity insurance plans Pacific Educators insurance plans Standard insurance plans Washington National Insurance plans

(3) PERS Long Term Care

P. Enrollment Procedures

- 1. The District shall provide each unit member a "Benefits Enrollment/ Authorization" form that includes current benefit rates to be completed within sixty (60) days of employment. Thereafter during the "Open Enrollment" period, the District shall provide plan information, updates, and the option to make enrollment changes including notification of timelines regarding qualifying life event changes. The monthly warrant provided to each unit member by the District shall show the expenditures for each plan. The District will endeavor to arrange concurrent expiration dates for all carrier policies.
- 2. Each unit member, newly hired, or returning from leave between the first (1st) and fifteenth (15th) of the month, may be enrolled in the District's Health and Welfare Benefit Plans beginning the first (1st) day of the following month. Each unit member who assumes duties between the sixteenth (16th) and the thirty-first (31st) of the month may be enrolled and provided with benefits beginning on the first day of the month following the first full month of employment. Enrollment in the IRC Cafeteria 125 Plan is limited to the yearly enrollment period designated in the plan except for new unit members who shall be eligible to enroll at the time they are hired.

Q. Effective July 1, 2015

- 1. Upon proof of medical coverage, unit members will not be required to participate in medical coverage. Dental insurance will remain mandatory unless altered by HEA. The District shall contribute the full premium of the lowest cost employee selected dental plan offered by HUSD for the "employee only." Unit members may elect to have additional coverage for dependents. Any additional premium or out of pocket costs will be borne by the unit member.
- The District shall provide unit members with Life and Disability Insurance from the Standard Insurance Company – CTA Benefits and Services Disability Benefits. Standard Life and Disability premiums will be employer paid.

R. Miscellaneous Provisions

1. The District shall have on file copies of all master contracts governing health and welfare benefits. These contracts may be inspected by unit

members upon request during regular office hours.

2. The parties shall study health care cost containment measures in a good faith effort to identify more cost effective plans. Not withstanding the Association's participation in the HUSD Health Cost Containment

Committee, the Association retains the right to select health and welfare plans and carriers.

- 3. a. Each unit member on paid leave will continue to have access to the core program Standard Insurance Company CTA Benefits and Services Disability Benefits and EAP for a period of time that corresponds to the leave.
 - b. The District shall establish a Benefits Assistance Bank in the amount of \$5,000 to provide assistance to unit members who are granted and use unpaid Family Care Leave for more than four (4) consecutive weeks. The HEA President and the Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources, will jointly administer this Bank. Should the Bank be exhausted in any one (1) year, the parties agree to renegotiate the amount in the Bank. The Bank will be renewed annually.
 - c. The District shall pay the percentage of the unit member's medical/dental premium equal to the percentage of leave time approved under the part time early retirement program not to exceed the percentage of unpaid leave times the Kaiser subscriber and two (2) or more dependents plus Delta Dental.
 - d. Each unit member who has been granted leave beyond paid leave for illness, disability, maternity, child care, paternity and/or adoptions, advanced study or other personal reasons, may continue dental, life, and health insurance for up to one (1) year by paying the full cost. A unit member on a long-term disability may continue coverage at the unit member's expense for as long as the disability continues, or to retirement, provided this is agreeable to the carriers involved.
- 4. Enrollment in health and welfare plans may be extended at the unit member's expense in accordance with retirement provisions, Article 20 or in compliance with COBRA.
- 5. The District will continue the Employee Assistance Program for the term of this agreement at District cost. All unit members will be covered by the EAP.
- 6. District insurance plans and carriers will provide coverage for eligible domestic partners and their children.

- A. Each unit member's official personnel file shall be located in the Office of Human Resources. This file shall contain the following items of information: required Tuberculosis (TB) clearance, transcripts or academic records, credentials, signed application form, copy of signed contract and all application documents, and signed evaluations. The unit member is responsible for providing the basic items to the Office of Human Resources at the time of employment and to keep them updated.
 - 1. All unit members shall provide evidence of freedom from TB as required by law. Unit members requiring renewal of evidence shall be notified prior to the yearly District tuberculosis screening clinic.
 - 2. The TB clearance requirement may be met by:
 - a. Obtaining a chest X-ray by a physician or through a mobile unit of the Public Health Association.
 - b. Getting an approved intra-dermal tuberculin test.
 - 3. Verification of the TB examination shall be provided the Office of Human Resources by a letter or card giving the date of the examination and verifying that the results were negative.
- B. Access to a unit member's personnel file shall be limited to a "need to know basis." Access authorization must be obtained from either the Superintendent, unit member, or the unit member's designee. The contents of the unit member's personnel files shall be kept in strictest confidence.
- C. All materials filed shall be dated giving time of origin and time of placement in the file. All items shall be signed by the originators.
- D. Unit members shall have a right, upon request, to review the contents of their personnel files.
 - 1. A representative of the unit member's choosing may accompany the unit member in this review or may review the file without the presence of the unit member as long as the representative has written authorization from the unit member to review the file.
 - 2. This review shall be made in the presence of the administrator or his/her designee responsible for the safekeeping of this file.
 - 3. Pre-employment information shall not be available for inspection by unit members.
 - 4. This examination shall take place at a time when the unit member is not required to render service to the District.

ARTICLE 23 PERSONNEL FILES

- 5. Access to personnel files, except for the unit member, shall be limited to a need-to-know basis.
- E. Except material mentioned in Section D.3., the District shall give a unit member copies of information of a derogatory nature prior to placing the information in the unit member's personnel file together with a notice that the material shall not be entered or filed until the unit member has been provided ten (10) days from the receipt of the material in which to review, respond in writing, and/or meet with the Superintendent or designee. At the unit member's option, an Association representative may attend any meeting with the superintendent or designee to discuss a written warning or reprimand which is intended to be placed in the personnel file. Upon request of the unit member, the Superintendent or designee will investigate and respond in writing to the unit member within ten days of the meeting. The Superintendent or designee will have the final authority to uphold, rescind, or modify the written warning or written reprimand.
 - 1. The unit member's review of such materials shall take place during the normal business hours of the District and the unit member shall be released from duty for this purpose without salary reduction.
 - 2. The unit member shall have the right to answer, in writing, any complaints or other derogatory material filed and such answers shall be attached to the file copy of the document.
- F. The unit member shall have the right to place pertinent material in his/her file. The material shall be submitted to the Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources who shall place the material in the unit member's file.

ARTICLE 24 PROFESSIONAL GROWTH

- A. Upon request, the District shall provide a holder of a clear California teaching credential, which was issued after 8/31/85, with a copy of the California Professional Growth Manual. Copies of the manual shall be available at each site and at the Association office.
- B. By October 1, the District shall provide each credential holder with names of possible professional growth advisors from the District's professional growth advisor list. The professional growth advisor list shall include work location, current assignment, if known, and areas of expertise and interest.
- C. To be eligible to be placed on the District's professional growth advisor list, a person must hold a valid clear California teaching or services credential, and a baccalaureate degree from an accredited institution of post-secondary education.
- D. The District's professional growth advisor list shall consist of:
 - Certificated persons who have retired from service as teachers or administrators
 - 2. College or university personnel who hold teaching credentials
 - 3. Staff members from Teacher Education and Computer centers and other regional service organizations in education
 - Certificated district administrators
 - 5. Unit members who volunteer to serve
 - 6. Certificated persons whose names have been submitted by holders of professional teaching credentials
- E. It is not recommended that a credential holder choose his/her evaluator as a professional advisor. However, any professional advisor who is a credential holder's evaluator shall discharge his/her advisor responsibilities independently of any evaluation of the unit member's performance that is conducted to determine the unit member's status.
- F. Professional growth activities shall be consistent with the guidelines set forth in the California Professional Growth Manual.
- G. No later than October 30, the District shall hold an in-service training meeting for professional growth advisors, and the Association shall hold an in-service training meeting for credential holders and bargaining unit professional growth advisors. Attendance at the in-services is voluntary.

ARTICLE 25 ACADEMIC FREEDOM

- A. Unit members shall have the right to send written communications regarding their instructional program directly to individual parents without administrative approval. Unit members and site administrators shall consult as needed to ensure that written communications are in accord with District policy. Unit members shall give their Principals copies of materials sent to all of the parents/guardians of students in their classes.
- B. Teachers shall have the responsibility for determining grades for students in accordance with the standards for grading as established by District policy, and administrative rules and regulations. Such grades may not be changed except as permitted by district policy, rules, regulations, and the Education Code.
- C. The teacher must be free to think and express ideas, free to select and employ materials, and follow methods and educationally acceptable learning styles of instruction, free from undue pressures of authority, and free to act within his/her professional group. Such freedom should be used judiciously and prudently to the end that it promotes the free exercise of intelligence and student learning. Such academic freedom shall be subject to standards of professional responsibility with due regard for the maturity level of the students, laws of the state of California, District policy, and administrative rules and regulations.
- D. Teachers are required to develop and maintain lesson plans including plans for substitutes and for final exams. Lesson plans shall be made available to share with the administration upon individual request. Lesson plans shall be submitted to the site administrator upon request as required for documentation of sanctions or interventions necessitated under Federal or State law. Lesson plans collected for this purpose shall not be used for evaluation.
- E. Academic freedom is not an absolute. It must be exercised within the law and the basic ethical responsibilities of the teaching profession. Those responsibilities include:
 - 1. An understanding of our democratic tradition and its method;
 - 2. A concern for the welfare, growth, maturity and development of our students;
 - The method of scholarship;
 - 4. Application of good taste and judgment in selecting and employing materials and methods of instruction.

ARTICLE 25 ACADEMIC FREEDOM

- F. Collaboration time shall be teacher directed and focused on standards based instruction, and/or school goals, and/or district goals. Teachers shall share decisions related to school and district goals from collaboration time with administration. The form and process for sharing the decisions shall be mutually developed and agreed to by HEA and HUSD. No aspects of collaboration will be used in evaluation.
- G. Unit members shall have the right to select attire appropriate to a professional educator.
- H. PE and Music teachers shall be provided with locked storage space to store PE equipment and musical instruments.

ARTICLE 26 CURRICULUM AND INSTRUCTION

- A. Consistent with past practice and subject to the availability of funds, the District shall provide training and support for attainment of the LDS and ESL certificates; provided, however, that when the State Credential Commission redesignates LDS and ESL certificates as CLAD and B-CLAD, such terms will be substituted for LDS and ESL.
- B. Curriculum council members and area chairs shall discuss, in addition to curriculum responsibilities, needs for improvements or changes in process identified by council members, restructuring, and composition and responsibilities of the school site safety committee. Such needed changes include updating the composition of curriculum councils. Any changes in curriculum development procedures during the life of this agreement shall be made by mutual agreement between HEA and the District.

C. Independent Study Lessons

Teachers will be notified of student/parent requests for short-term independent study at least three school days prior to the student's departure from the classroom, unless late notice by the student/parent prohibits such early notification. In that case, the teacher will make every effort to supply lessons prior to the student's departure.

ARTICLE 27 RESTRUCTURED COMPREHENSIVE HIGH SCHOOLS

Not withstanding any other provision of this agreement, the following terms and conditions of employment shall apply to comprehensive high schools where block restructuring exists.

A. Hours

1. Workday

- a. Instructional time shall be offered to students at no less than 64,800 annual minutes in grades 9-12.
- b. The work day shall be composed of:
 - Five (5) minutes passing time beginning of day (from first bell);
 - Four (4) ninety (90) minute instructional blocks;
 - Communication period (could be added to block) ten (10) minutes passing time between blocks;
 - Forty-five (45) minute lunch period (forty (40) minutes duty free).

The parties agree that the flexibility provided by the maintenance "before school scheduling" as in the current "Block O" period should be maintained. In the event that a unit member opts to teach such a "before school" period then the member's duty time shall be reduced by the number of daily minutes scheduled for the "Block O" offering.

c. The on site duty time for full-time unit members shall be 7 ¼ hours per day. This time includes all required instructional time, lunch time, preparation time, and passing time, except as otherwise provided in this agreement. The work day may be increased a maximum of five (5) minutes, based on a 2/3rd secret vote of the staff

B. Preparation Period

1. During regular school hours, as set forth above, each full-time high school teacher shall be provided a daily block for preparation and office time. This shall be the equivalent of an instructional block but not less than ninety (90) minutes (which will include sixty (60) minutes of preparation and thirty (30) minutes of office time) except on a minimum or collaboration day. On a minimum day the preparation period shall be equal to the instructional block. On a collaboration day the preparation period will be sixty (60) minutes and the office time will be fifteen (15) minutes. The preparation time shall be free of classroom instruction or other assigned duties.

2. The principal at each site shall collaborate with the staff in scheduling preparation period. The principal shall, subject to such considerations as, for example, program and staffing needs and space limitations, make reasonable, good faith efforts to schedule preparation periods in either block 1 or block 4.

C. Unit Member Assignment

- 1. No full-time unit member shall be required to teach an instructional day longer than three (3) instructional periods and one (1) preparation period per day.
- 2. No full-time unit member shall be required to teach more than two (2) different classes per term (e.g. Geometry, PreCalculus, Math A). Exceptions may be made with the consent of the teacher. If two classes are the same with the exception of their sheltered designation, they will be considered the same class.

D. Class Size

1. At the comprehensive high schools, the maximum class size shall be twenty-nine (29) in all classes, with exceptions permitted as follows:

Keyboarding thirty-two (32), physical education forty-one (41), and band and chorus as arranged between principal and instructor.

Exceptions may also be made with the consent of the teacher for leadership, newspaper and yearbook classes.

The provision relating to work stations Article 12, B3, shall not be interpreted to provide class sizes larger than the maximums set forth above.

2. The maximum stated in paragraph D.1. may be exceeded by no more than three students when that becomes necessary in order to accept and assign students to class. Exceptions may be made with the consent of the teacher to the maximum class size listed above for singletons, and doubletons not to exceed thirty-seven (37) students (A singleton is a single class, which is offered one time during the school year. doubleton can be either a single class offered in two terms, or two of the same class offered in one term.) In no event may any physical education teacher be assigned more than one hundred and twenty-eight (128) students daily per term. Chorus and band teachers will be limited to one hundred and twenty-five (125) students daily per term, which can only be exceeded with the consent of the teacher. Kevboarding teachers are limited to ninety-nine (99) students daily per term. All other teachers are limited to ninety (90) students daily per term.

- 3. A principal who is unable to schedule students in any given class so as to attain the class size maximum in that class on or before the eighth (8th) school day shall, within three working days, recommend three or more viable options for solving the problem(s) to the HEA President and Superintendent. The HEA President and Superintendent or designees shall meet immediately to either select one of the recommended options or develop another solution of their own on which they can both agree. The joint decision by the HEA President and the Superintendent shall immediately be transmitted in writing to the principal for implementation.
- 4. Ninth grade CSR shall be consistent with state guidelines and the District's application and certification pursuant to Education Code 52084 and shall be dependent on state and federal CSR funding and the determination of the District and State to continue the CSR program on an annual basis.
- E. Formula Allocation of Full-time Equivalent Unit Members.

The District shall employ full-time equivalent (FTE) certificated bargaining unit members in each of the restructured comprehensive high schools in the following ratio of FTE to enrollment:

(Total enrollment - .5 X ELC enrollment) X $6 \div 5 \div 33 = FTE$ subtotal FTE subtotal + .2 X (yearbook + intramural program director + activities director + newspaper + athletic director + site technology coordinator) + .2 (every 200 students over 1600 projected enrollment) minus 3 FTE.

<u>NOTE</u>: Do not take ROC out of the total enrollment and Special Ed. teachers and counselors cannot come from formula.

The number of full-time equivalent unit members who shall be employed for the entire school year by the District in order to staff the restructured program in each of the high schools shall be determined by the above formula no later than eight (8) school days from the beginning of the school year.

There shall be an adjustment period of no longer than eight (8) school days at the beginning of the school year and five (5) days at semester to balance classes in line with the class size maximums.

F. Extra Workload and Program Enhancement

In addition to E above the following adjustments will be made in staffing in each restructured high school:

 Extra workload sections shall be allocated on the following basis: 1 section each for (a) Yearbook, (b) Newspaper, (c) Director of Student Activities, (d) Site Technology Coordinator, (e) Director of Athletics,

- (f) Director of Intramural Program, (g) Finance Director, (h) Language Arts Chair, (i) Mathematics Department Chair, and (j) one section for every 200 students over 1600 enrollment.
- 2. These unit members in (a) through (j) above will each receive release time equivalent to one teaching block per year in a configuration mutually agreed to by the unit member, the Association and the District. In addition, unit members in (c), (e), and (g) above will receive a second section of release time from program enhancement allotment sections. Program enhancement sections shall be allocated at a ratio of one for every 200 students enrolled at each high school. Program enhancement sections are defined as offerings beyond those which are contained in the program planning guide. The Site Based Decision Making Team or the Local Curriculum Council shall make recommendations on the use of the program enhancement sections. The principal shall report to the staff about the use of the program enhancement sections.

G. Review, Continuation and Termination

During the 1997-2000 school years, the District and Association agree to an ongoing assessment of the programs at each site and centrally to determine if the programs are operating as they should and to make needed adjustments quickly. If it becomes necessary to modify the program, that modification will be tentatively agreed upon by the District and Association before being submitted to the staff members at that specific school for a vote. Program modifications must be approved by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the unit members at that specific school.

The program will be suspended in any school where, at the end of the school year, two-thirds (2/3) of the unit members in that school, or HEA or the District do not support a continuation of the program. All matters contained in the Agreement not specifically inconsistent with these provisions shall remain in full force and effect.

A. Philosophy

 The District and the Association agree that shared decision making should be fostered, promoted, and supported in accordance with the following provisions contained herein.

The District and the Association believe and herein recognize that site based decision making in which unit members, other employees, parents, community members, and students (where age appropriate), at individual sites are given increased responsibility for making decisions, will improve effective educational practice and process. This process would better provide opportunities for the exchange of ideas, data, and information that is necessary for restructuring to improve educational opportunities for students and to increase employee job performance, satisfaction, and morale.

2. The District and the Association agree that better decisions will be made and should be fostered through the shared decision making process at all sites in the District. To this end, the District and the Association will promote and assist employees in the development of shared decision making processes and procedures District-wide.

B. Accordingly, the parties agree as follows:

- 1. In support of these goals and to facilitate implementation of HUSD's Board Goals and Objectives, which will include safe schools, the parties agree that the Superintendent, Association President and any additional representatives designated by the District and the Association respectively, shall regularly meet. Any changes to the core composition mentioned herein will be the Central Team's responsibility. The core composition shall include: the Superintendent, an Associate Superintendent, and three (3) site administrators all to be appointed by the Superintendent; three (3) regular classroom teachers and two (2) representatives of HEA appointed by the HEA President. AEOTE and SEIU will each appoint a representative. The Board will have two (2) representatives, one (1) of which could be a parent. Alternates may be appointed as needed by circumstances. The Central Team shall be jointly chaired by one (1) person appointed by the Association and one (1) person appointed by the District for the following purposes:
 - a. Facilitate the implementation of the HUSD Site-Based Decision Making (SBDM) model through this and any subsequent agreements between the District and the Association regarding shared decision making. This would include seeking waivers where deemed appropriate by the parties through processes established

- by the parties. In addition the Central Team is prohibited from hiring, firing, evaluating or directing the work of employees or establishing merit pay.
- b. Provide necessary resources and ensure that reasonable financial resources are made available to each site as the staff prepares for and implements SBDM procedures and plans.
- Advise and assist, as needed, District area teams and schools in the development of their procedures, processes and structures for shared decision making.
- d. Study SBDM and related issues and receive training.
- e. Develop training programs for SBDM at both the District and site level and share information internally and externally.
- f. Review, approve, and evaluate site level SBDM programs at least once each year. Develop and implement guidelines and criteria for a uniform system of evaluation of the site program.
- g. Develop a system to provide site level assistance as needed.

 Develop a process to terminate or suspend a project for cause.
- h. Meetings shall be held at a time convenient for members. Unit members serving on the district level SBDM team shall receive release time. Decisions attained by consensus of the members will be a primary goal. The first major task of the team will be to decide the process for reaching consensus. If consensus cannot be met, decisions made by the majority will stand. The majority shall be based on the number present. Robert's Rules shall be applicable to issues not herein addressed. An agenda shall be jointly prepared by the co-chairs seventy-two (72) hours in advance of each meeting with committee members being provided an opportunity for submission of items and supporting documents twenty-four (24) hours prior to its preparation and sent to committee members.

C. Local Site Based Decision Making Team

 If two-thirds (2/3) of the unit members at a school site, voting by secret ballot, wish to participate in SBDM, a local SBDM Team shall be established to receive Central District Team training. Local Site-based Decision Making Teams will have a structure with representation such that the professional staff (site administration and instructional staff) together make-up a simple majority.

ARTICLE 28 SITE BASEED DECISION MAKING

- 2. The core composition of the elementary sites and child development centers site based decision making team will be: A site administrator, a FRA rep, a curriculum council person, classroom teachers, a certificated support staff person and a classified support staff person, and a parent.
- 3. The core composition for the intermediate, high schools and adult school shall be: A site administrator, a FRA rep, a site or district Curriculum Council person, classroom teachers, a certificated support staff person, a classified support staff person, a parent and a student.
- 4. The parents/community members who are selected should not be District employees.
 - a. Representatives shall be elected for a two year term specifically to serve on the local SBDM Team and shall be eligible for reelection. Alternate team members may be elected and may attend and vote in the absence of the regular representative.
 - b. Local SBDM Teams shall have joint chairpersons: the site principal and the FRA Rep.
 - c. Local SBDM Teams shall consider all points of view expressed at the session and shall solicit the advice and council of parent organizations, employee groups, and all other interested parties. Meetings should be open and time given for reasonable input. Local Teams have the following functions and responsibilities:
 - (1) Participation in SBDM training.
 - (2) Developing a School Site Project Agreement. Such agreement shall not include the Local SBDM Team hiring, firing, or evaluating bargaining unit members. Neither shall such a Project Agreement include a merit pay system for certificated bargaining unit members. The School Site Project Agreement shall include goals and objectives and may have a plan for including parents in school activities, staff development, and shall include an evaluation of the Project Agreement on an annual basis.
 - (3) Making decisions about school issues such as budget, implementation of standards based instruction, and safety.
 - (4) Tailoring and coordinating curriculum and instruction across grade levels and between and within departments at the school site level.

ARTICLE 28 SITE BASEED DECISION MAKING

- (5) Establishing/revising site pupil discipline plans and practices.
- (6) Designing and conducting site staff development programs and policies.
- (7) Solving school-wide problems and developing programs.
- (8) Developing procedures and communications which encourage teacher involvement in decision making.
- (9) Making recommendations on staffing and the day-to-day operation of the school.
- (10) Selecting two (2) unit member representatives from the site for the final site interview panel for a site administrator(s) vacancy. This does not apply to internal reassignments or transfers.
- D. Site Budgets and Purchasing Deadlines
 - 1. A SBDM Team may make decisions regarding the use of unrestricted general fund monies flowing to the site.
 - 2. The District will provide information to Principals as to the amount of the site discretionary budget, as described in D.1. above, as such information becomes known. The Principal will communicate this information to the SBDM Team in a timely manner following receipt thereof.
 - 3. A SBDM Team may recommend to the appropriate body/ person the use of other site funds, i.e., those not described in D.1. above.
 - 4. The District will provide information to Principals as to purchasing deadlines regarding the expenditure of all site funds (D.1. and D.3. above), as such information becomes known. The Principal will communicate this information to the SBDM Team in a timely manner following receipt thereof.
- E. The focus of the SBDM Team activity shall be upon establishment of local site plans and practices and planning direction rather than day-to-day administration or execution of policy and plans.
- F. The District and the Association recognize that the site based decision making may be an innovative process and that proposals may be considered that are in conflict with collective bargaining Agreements, Board Policy, regulation, or law.

ARTICLE 28 SITE BASED DECISION MAKING

Upon request of the SBDM Team and approval of the District level SBDM Council, the District and the Association may pursue the waiver. Until such waiver is granted by the proper body, no action should be taken by the site.

- G. SBDM Team meetings shall be held at a time convenient for a majority of the team members.
- H. Decisions attained by consensus of the members will be a primary goal. The first major task of the team will be to decide the process for reaching consensus. If consensus cannot be met, decisions made by the majority will stand. The majority shall be based on the number present. Robert's Rules shall be applicable to issues not herein addressed. An agenda shall be jointly prepared by the co-chairs seventy-two (72) hours in advance of each meeting with committee members being provided an opportunity for submission of items and supporting documents twenty-four hours (24) prior to its preparation and sent to committee members.
- I. Site budgets for SBDM site meetings will be funded by the District based on the following formulae:
 - 1. For elementary sites the budgeted amount equal to the number of teachers on the SBDM site team (up to 7) times the substitute teacher daily rate times nine meetings per year.
 - 2. For middle school sites the budgeted amount equal to the number of teachers on the SBDM site team (up to 9) times the substitute teacher daily rate times nine meetings per year.
 - 3. For high school sites the budgeted amount equal to the number of teachers on the SBDM site team (up to 11) times the substitute teacher daily rate times nine meetings per year.
 - Distribution of these budgeted monies to members of the site teams shall be determined and approved by the SBDM site team. Unit members may be paid based on the hourly rate (monthly upon submission of time cards), or a flat stipend paid annually at the end of the school year (upon submission of a PAF.)
- J. Membership on a site team will be voluntary. Selection will be made by one's peers.
- K. Unresolved SBDM site level issues will be submitted to the Central Team before implementation at the site.

ARTICLE 29 DISTANCE LEARNING

The parties to agree to 2022 contract.	begin	bargaining	Article	29 v	within	20	days	of	ratificatio	on of	the 2	2019-

APPENDIX A 2020-2021 COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

2020-2021

COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

Unit members accepting assignments as coaches shall receive payment for their coaching in a lump sum upon completion of the sport or activity.

Those assignments accepted that are year long activities will be paid in ten (10) equal installments commencing with the September 30 Warrant.

Qualified unit member applicants shall be given first consideration for the positions listed on this schedule before applicants from outside the bargaining unit. Under this right of "first consideration," outside applicants may not be hired if there are qualified applicants from within who have applied by the application deadline. Qualified is defined as a person with the appropriate training, experience, knowledge, licenses, certificates and skills to teach the level and or subject area and who received a satisfactory rating on the last formal evaluation.

The following compensations will be established:

HIGH SCHOOL SPORTS

Director of Intramural Programs 1 Section per year

Intermural Coaching \$1,956 per season per sport

Any positions added to the coaches' schedule will be bargained before adding.

Coaches Stipend

Based on Teachers Salary Schedule – 186 day

Based on Col. C Step 3: (this adjusts to whatever Col. C step 3 becomes with salary increase along with the stated stipends for coaches below) 2019-2020 base for Col. C Step 3 is \$70,863.

Four levels of stipends:

Level 1: Head Varsity Football, Basketball, & Track

Level 2: Head Varsity Soccer, Baseball, Softball, Cross Country, Volleyball, Swimming/Diving, Water Polo, Badminton & Wrestling

Level 3: Head Varsity Golf, Tennis, Lacrosse, JV/FS/Frosh Head & ALL Varsity Assistant Coaches

Level 4: Varsity Cheer Coach (payable after each season. The sideline cheer coach season fall/winter payable after winter and competitive cheer coach season/spring paid at the end of spring), & JV/FS/Frosh Assistant Coaches

2020-2021

COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

Level 1	7% of Col. C Step 3	\$4,960
Level 2	6% of Col. C Step 3	\$4,251
Level 3	5% of Col. C Step 3	\$3,543
Level 4	4% of Col. C Step 3	\$2,835

High School Athletic Director: 5% of Col. C Step 3 \$3,543 and 2 release periods (per article 18)

The remaining portion of appendix A will increase at the same percent as Salary increases.

OTHER HIGH SCHOOL EXTRA DUTY

Positions	
Director of Student Activities	\$1,956
Drama	\$1,304 per major production (two max)
Instrumental Music	\$1,434-\$2,346*
Newspaper	\$1,629
Stage Craft Manager	\$912 per major production (two max)
Vocal Music	\$1,434-\$2,346*
Site Tech Coordinator	\$1,956
Television Coordinator	\$1,956
Scholarship and Awards	\$1,043
Yearbook Advisor	\$1,629
Dance Performance**	\$1,304 per performance (two max)

^{*} The stipend will be agreed upon between the principal and the unit member. In an effort to ensure equity the president of HEA and the superintendent must approve the stipend.

MIDDLE SCHOOL EXTRA DUTY

Positions	
Intramural Athletic Director	\$1,956
Intermural Coach	\$652 per sport
Instrumental Music	\$1,115
Vocal Music	\$1,115
Site Tech Coordinator	\$1,137
Newspaper Advisor	\$1,115
Yearbook Advisor	\$1,115
Pep Squad Advisor	\$1,304
Director of Students Activities	\$1,956

^{**} These positions are eligible for funding, when an appropriate funding source has been identified and approved by the District.

2020-2021

COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

Longevity Stipend

An incremental longevity stipend shall be paid to all elementary and middle school coaches beginning at year two per sport, as follows:

Years 2 and 3: \$246 Years 4 and 5: \$494 Years 6 and 7: \$738 Years 8 and 9: \$984 Years 10 and 11: \$1,231 Years 12 or more: \$1,847

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL EXTRA DUTY

\$1,304

Intermural Athletic Director \$1,956
Intermural Coach \$652 per sport
Yearbook Advisor \$652
Director of Student Activities \$1,956

Longevity Stipend

An incremental longevity stipend shall be paid to all elementary and middle school coaches beginning at year two per sport, as follows:

Years 2 and 3: \$246 Years 4 and 5: \$494 Years 6 and 7: \$738 Years 8 and 9: \$984 Years 10 and 11: \$1,231 Years 12 or more: \$1,847

Pep Squad Director

Other Stipends

Reading Specialist	\$671
SAPID Coordinator	\$1,956
Peer Mediation Conflict Resolution Coordinator	\$1,304
Program Resource Teacher	\$1,956
Special Education	\$1,434

2020-2021

COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

- ◆Teachers currently holding and using an appropriate credential who teach in a designated classroom shall receive a stipend of \$717 (i.e. CLAD, LDS, ESL certificate)
- ◆ After July 1, 1998, new teachers hired into the District who have the CLAD certificate at the time of hire shall not receive the stipend.
- ◆Teachers employed before July 1, 1998, who during the life of the contract received their CLAD shall be paid the stipend of \$717 while teaching in designated classrooms.
- ◆Teachers who are authorized by their administration to use a primary language other than English in their duties and who do not have a certificate (i.e. BCLAD, CLAD, LDS, ESL) shall receive a stipend of \$288 per year. This stipend is limited to three years.
- ◆ None of these stipends shall be paid to teachers who are not fully credentialed.
- ◆Bilingual Teacher holding and using an appropriate bilingual credential \$2,973.
- ◆Bilingual Speech Therapists, using their bilingual skills and who satisfy District proficiency requirements developed by the District and agreed to by the Association \$4,407 (total of Special Education Stipend (\$1,434) and Bilingual Teacher Stipend (\$2,973)).

2020-2021

COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

- High School
- Middle School
- Special Education
- ELC
- Continuation High School

Compensation
\$781
\$1,109
\$1,434
\$1,760
\$2,086
\$2,412
\$2,737
\$3,064
\$1,903 (minimum of 5 FTEs)
\$1,903
\$1,1903
\$1,903

^{**}Number of Sections within an area determined fifteen (15) school days after the beginning of the school year.

Remuneration for Expenses Related to Special Assignments.

Unit members shall be reimbursed for expenses related to their special assignments as follows:

Personal Auto: Current IRS Guidelines for travel expenses related to their

activities, plus toll and parking.

Meals: Up to current district allowance per teacher for meal expenses

related to their special assignment activities provided prior approval for such activity is obtained from the teacher's immediate

supervisor.

Note: HEA and HUSD will meet to negotiate the effects of the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) upon the State Board of Education adoption of the ESSA regulations.

APPENDIX A 2019-2020 COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

2019-2020

COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

Unit members accepting assignments as coaches shall receive payment for their coaching in a lump sum upon completion of the sport or activity.

Those assignments accepted that are year long activities will be paid in ten (10) equal installments commencing with the September 30 Warrant.

Qualified unit member applicants shall be given first consideration for the positions listed on this schedule before applicants from outside the bargaining unit. Under this right of "first consideration," outside applicants may not be hired if there are qualified applicants from within who have applied by the application deadline. Qualified is defined as a person with the appropriate training, experience, knowledge, licenses, certificates and skills to teach the level and or subject area and who received a satisfactory rating on the last formal evaluation.

The following compensations will be established:

HIGH SCHOOL SPORTS

Director of Intramural Programs 1 Section per year

Intermural Coaching \$1,918 per season per sport

Any positions added to the coaches' schedule will be bargained before adding.

Coaches Stipend

Based on Teachers Salary Schedule – 186 day

Based on Col. C Step 3: (this adjusts to whatever Col. C step 3 becomes with salary increase along with the stated stipends for coaches below) 2019-2020 base for Col. C Step 3 is \$69,474.

Four levels of stipends:

Level 1: Head Varsity Football, Basketball, & Track

Level 2: Head Varsity Soccer, Baseball, Softball, Cross Country, Volleyball, Swimming/Diving, Water Polo, Badminton & Wrestling

Level 3: Head Varsity Golf, Tennis, Lacrosse, JV/FS/Frosh Head & ALL Varsity Assistant Coaches

Level 4: Varsity Cheer Coach (payable after each season. The sideline cheer coach season fall/winter payable after winter and competitive cheer coach season/spring paid at the end of spring), & JV/FS/Frosh Assistant Coaches

2019-2020

COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

Level 1	7% of Col. C Step 3	\$4,863
Level 2	6% of Col. C Step 3	\$4,168
Level 3	5% of Col. C Step 3	\$3,474
Level 4	4% of Col. C Step 3	\$2,779

High School Athletic Director: 5% of Col. C Step 3 \$3,474 and 2 release periods (per article 18)

The remaining portion of appendix A will increase at the same percent as Salary increases.

OTHER HIGH SCHOOL EXTRA DUTY

Positions	
Director of Student Activities	\$1,918
Drama	\$1,278 per major production (two max)
Instrumental Music	\$1,406-\$2,300*
Newspaper	\$1,597
Stage Craft Manager	\$894 per major production (two max)
Vocal Music	\$1,406-\$2,300*
Site Tech Coordinator	\$1,918
Television Coordinator	\$1,918
Scholarship and Awards	\$1,023
Yearbook Advisor	\$1,597
Dance Performance**	\$1,278 per performance (two max)

^{*} The stipend will be agreed upon between the principal and the unit member. In an effort to ensure equity the president of HEA and the superintendent must approve the stipend.

MIDDLE SCHOOL EXTRA DUTY

Positions	
Intramural Athletic Director	\$1,918
Intermural Coach	\$639 per sport
Instrumental Music	\$1,093
Vocal Music	\$1,093
Site Tech Coordinator	\$1,115
Newspaper Advisor	\$1,093
Yearbook Advisor	\$1,093
Pep Squad Advisor	\$1,278
Director of Students Activities	\$1,918

^{**} These positions are eligible for funding, when an appropriate funding source has been identified and approved by the District.

2019-2020

COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

Longevity Stipend

An incremental longevity stipend shall be paid to all elementary and middle school coaches beginning at year two per sport, as follows:

Years 2 and 3: \$241 Years 4 and 5: \$484 Years 6 and 7: \$724 Years 8 and 9: \$965 Years 10 and 11: \$1,207 Years 12 or more: \$1,811

ELEMENTARY SCHOOL EXTRA DUTY

Intermural Athletic Director \$1,918
Intermural Coach \$639 per sport
Yearbook Advisor \$639
Director of Student Activities \$1,918
Pep Squad Director \$1,278

Longevity Stipend

An incremental longevity stipend shall be paid to all elementary and middle school coaches beginning at year two per sport, as follows:

Years 2 and 3: \$241 Years 4 and 5: \$484 Years 6 and 7: \$724 Years 8 and 9: \$965 Years 10 and 11: \$1,207 Years 12 or more: \$1,811

Other Stipends

\$658
\$1,918
\$1,278
\$1,918
\$1,406

2019-2020

COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

- ◆Teachers currently holding and using an appropriate credential who teach in a designated classroom shall receive a stipend of \$703 (i.e. CLAD, LDS, ESL certificate)
- ◆ After July 1, 1998, new teachers hired into the District who have the CLAD certificate at the time of hire shall not receive the stipend.
- ◆Teachers employed before July 1, 1998, who during the life of the contract received their CLAD shall be paid the stipend of \$703 while teaching in designated classrooms.
- ◆Teachers who are authorized by their administration to use a primary language other than English in their duties and who do not have a certificate (i.e. BCLAD, CLAD, LDS, ESL) shall receive a stipend of \$282 per year. This stipend is limited to three years.
- ◆ None of these stipends shall be paid to teachers who are not fully credentialed.
- ◆Bilingual Teacher holding and using an appropriate bilingual credential \$2,915.
- ◆Bilingual Speech Therapists, using their bilingual skills and who satisfy District proficiency requirements developed by the District and agreed to by the Association \$4,321 (total of Special Education Stipend (\$1,406) and Bilingual Teacher Stipend (\$2,915)).

2019-2020

COMPENSATION FOR EXTRA WORK LOAD

- High School
- Middle School
- Special Education
- ELC
- Continuation High School

Sections**	Compensation	
0-5	\$766	
6-15	\$1,087	
16-25	\$1,406	
26-35	\$1,725	
36-45	\$2,045	
46-55	\$2,365	
56-65	\$2,683	
66-	\$3,004	
Nurses	\$1,866	(minimum of 5 FTEs)
• Childrens Center	\$1,866	
 Adult Education 	\$1,866	
Latchkey	\$1,866	

^{**}Number of Sections within an area determined fifteen (15) school days after the beginning of the school year.

Remuneration for Expenses Related to Special Assignments.

Unit members shall be reimbursed for expenses related to their special assignments as follows:

Personal Auto: Current IRS Guidelines for travel expenses related to their

activities, plus toll and parking.

Meals: Up to current district allowance per teacher for meal expenses

related to their special assignment activities provided prior approval for such activity is obtained from the teacher's immediate

supervisor.

Note: HEA and HUSD will meet to negotiate the effects of the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) upon the State Board of Education adoption of the ESSA regulations.

APPENDIX B SALARY SCHEDULES 2020-2021

SALARY SCHEDULES 2020-2021

B1

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2020-21

Teachers 200 Days

2% Increase Effective 7/1/2020

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	74,884	75,215	75,543	75,871	76,196	76,530
2	75,215	75,541	75,871	76,196	76,530	80,333
3	75,541	75,871	76,196	76,530	78,165	84,133
4	75,871	76,196	76,530	78,164	80,719	87,934
5	76,196	76,530	79,803	81,770	85,770	91,741
6	76,570	76,852	83,083	85,383	89,644	95,544
7	79,147	80,132	86,361	88,983	93,247	99,347
8	81,770	83,413	89,644	92,596	97,052	103,149
9	84,396	86,697	92,926	96,200	100,794	106,956
10	87,017	89,972	96,200	99,809	104,599	110,759
11	89,644	93,247	99,479	103,408	108,337	114,563
12	92,265	96,528	102,760	107,025	112,138	118,365
13	94,892	99,740	106,043	110,627	115,876	122,174
18	-	-	-	-	118,446	124,741

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2020-21

Teachers 186 Days

2% Increase Effective 7/1/2020

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	69,642	69,950	70,253	70,561	70,863	71,169
2	69,950	70,253	70,561	70,863	71,169	74,710
3	70,253	70,562	70,863	71,169	72,693	78,245
4	70,561	70,861	71,169	72,693	76,227	81,782
5	70,863	71,169	74,218	76,048	79,766	85,319
6	71,169	71,472	77,268	79,404	83,369	88,858
7	73,605	74,523	80,318	82,758	86,719	92,390
8	76,048	77,573	83,369	86,111	90,259	95,928
9	78,488	80,624	86,421	89,468	93,736	99,471
10	80,928	83,672	89,468	92,819	97,275	103,005
11	83,369	86,719	92,516	96,172	100,754	106,541
12	85,804	89,770	95,569	99,532	104,288	110,080
13	88,249	92,760	98,618	102,885	107,763	113,623
18	-	-	-	-	110,155	116,010

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

SALARY SCHEDULES 2020-2021

B3

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2020-21

Counselors/Speech Therapists 188 Days

2% Increase Effective 7/1/2020

Years of Experience	Col. CO Base + MA	Col. CF BA Degree + 90 or MA Degree + 30
1	85,680	93,167
2	89,421	96,868
3	93,167	100,653
4	96,868	104,667
5	100,653	108,141
6	104,667	111,920
7	108,141	115,623
8	111,920	119,308
9	115,623	123,111
18	119,329	126,893

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each counselor/speech therapist will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2020-2021

B4

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2020-21

School Psychologist 192 Days

2% Increase Effective 7/1/2020

Years of Experience	Col. PF BA Degree + 90 or MA Degree + 30
1	108,975
2	113,001
3	117,187
4	121,540
5	126,066
6	130,854
7	130,854
8	130,854
9	130,854
10	132,436
14	134,806
18	137,968

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each psychologist will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2020-2021

B5

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2020-21

Adult Education/School Nurse 183 Days

2% Increase Effective 7/1/2020

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	68,522	68,819	69,121	69,422	69,720	70,022
2	68,819	69,121	69,422	69,720	70,022	73,503
3	69,121	69,422	69,720	70,022	71,520	76,981
4	69,422	69,720	70,022	71,495	74,999	80,464
5	69,720	70,022	73,019	74,821	78,479	83,940
6	70,022	70,319	76,024	78,124	82,022	87,424
7	72,420	73,323	79,021	81,420	85,320	90,901
8	74,821	76,320	82,022	84,724	88,804	94,382
9	77,222	79,326	85,027	88,023	92,227	97,865
10	79,617	82,324	88,023	91,325	95,708	101,343
11	82,022	85,320	91,023	94,617	99,129	104,825
12	84,423	88,323	94,024	97,924	102,607	108,309
13	86,824	91,325	97,029	101,226	106,027	111,788
18	-	-	-	-	108,375	114,140

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher/nurse will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

SALARY SCHEDULES 2020-2021

B6

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2020-21

Adult Ed Hourly

2% Increase Effective 7/1/2020

Cumulative Hours	Hourly Pay Rate
0 – 550	54.99
551 – 1100	56.16
1101 – 3300	57.33
3301 +	58.55
5 yrs, 30 hrs/wk	59.64

1. Experience Increment:

Any Adult Education teacher who has taught thirty (30) hours per week and has a minimum of five (5) years in the District's Adult Education program shall receive one (1) additional dollar per hour over the rate established for that school year even if the teacher then teaches less than thirty (30) hours per week. All experience must be from the Hayward Unified School District Adult Education Program.

Substitute Hourly Rate: \$25

SALARY SCHEDULES 2020-2021

B7

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2020-21

Child Development Programs (225 Days)

2% Increase Effective 7/1/2020

Years of Experience	Col. AA Permit	Col. CA BA Degree	Col. CB BA Degree +15 units	Col. CC BA Degree +30 units (+)
1	61,124	68,609	69,944	73,426
2	64,348	71,614	72,946	77,025
3	67,576	74,628	75,939	80,625
4	70,804	77,631	78,956	84,244
5	74,035	80,625	81,952	87,856
6	77,250	83,639	84,968	91,450
7	80,470	86,642	87,968	95,068
8	-	89,655	90,970	98,665
9	-	92,663	93,980	102,275
10	-	95,658	96,991	105,873

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2020-2021

B8

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2020-21

Child Development Programs (186 Days)

2% Increase Effective 7/1/2020

Years of Experience	Col. AA Permit	Col. CA BA Degree	Col. CB BA Degree +15 units	Col. CC BA Degree +30 units (+)
1	52,149	58,332	59,421	62,310
2	54,810	60,820	61,910	65,285
3	57,477	63,301	64,394	68,273
4	60,148	65,791	66,883	71,252
5	62,816	68,275	69,358	74,235
6	65,473	70,750	71,849	77,217
7	68,140	73,245	74,324	80,200
8	-	75,726	76,813	83,172
9	-	78,207	79,295	86,151
10	-	80,688	81,781	89,131

1. **Professional Increments:**

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

APPENDIX B SALARY SCHEDULES 2019-2020

SALARY SCHEDULES 2019-2020

B9

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2019-20

Teachers 200 Days

4% Increase Effective 7/1/2019

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	73,416	73,740	74,062	74,383	74,702	75,029
2	73,740	74,060	74,383	74,702	75,029	78,758
3	74,060	74,383	74,702	75,029	76,632	82,483
4	74,383	74,702	75,029	76,631	79,136	86,210
5	74,702	75,029	78,238	80,167	84,088	89,942
6	75,069	75,345	81,454	83,709	87,886	93,671
7	77,595	78,561	84,668	87,238	91,419	97,399
8	80,167	81,777	87,886	90,780	95,149	101,126
9	82,741	84,997	91,104	94,314	98,818	104,859
10	85,311	88,208	94,314	97,852	102,548	108,587
11	87,886	91,419	97,528	101,380	106,213	112,317
12	90,456	94,635	100,745	104,926	109,939	116,044
13	93,031	97,784	103,964	108,458	113,604	119,778
18	-	-	-	-	116,124	122,295

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

SALARY SCHEDULES 2019-2020

B10

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2019-20

Teachers 186 Days

4% Increase Effective 7/1/2019

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	68,276	68,578	68,875	69,177	69,474	69,774
2	68,578	68,875	69,177	69,474	69,774	73,245
3	68,875	69,178	69,474	69,774	71,268	76,711
4	69,177	69,472	69,774	71,268	74,732	80,178
5	69,474	69,774	72,763	74,557	78,202	83,646
6	69,774	70,071	75,753	77,847	81,734	87,116
7	72,162	73,062	78,743	81,135	85,019	90,578
8	74,557	76,052	81,734	84,423	88,489	94,047
9	76,949	79,043	84,726	87,714	91,898	97,521
10	79,341	82,031	87,714	90,999	95,368	100,985
11	81,734	85,019	90,702	94,286	98,778	104,452
12	84,122	88,010	93,695	97,580	102,243	107,922
13	86,519	90,941	96,684	100,868	105,650	111,395
18	-	-	-	-	107,995	113,735

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

SALARY SCHEDULES 2019-2020

B11

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2019-20

Counselors/Speech Therapists 188 Days

4% Increase Effective 7/1/2019

Years of Experience	Col. CO Base + MA	Col. CF BA Degree + 90 or MA Degree + 30
1	84,000	91,340
2	87,668	94,969
3	91,340	98,679
4	94,969	102,615
5	98,679	106,021
6	102,615	109,725
7	106,021	113,356
8	109,725	116,969
9	113,356	120,697
18	116,989	124,405

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each counselor/speech therapist will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2019-2020

B12

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2019-20

School Psychologist 192 Days

4% Increase Effective 7/1/2019

Years of Experience	Col. PF BA Degree + 90 or MA Degree + 30
1	106,838
2	110,785
3	114,889
4	119,157
5	123,594
6	128,288
7	128,288
8	128,288
9	128,288
10	129,839
14	132,163
18	135,263

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each psychologist will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2019-2020

B13

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2019-20

Adult Education/School Nurse 183 Days

4% Increase Effective 7/1/2019

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	67,178	67,470	67,766	68,061	68,353	68,649
2	67,470	67,766	68,061	68,353	68,649	72,062
3	67,766	68,061	68,353	68,649	70,118	75,472
4	68,061	68,353	68,649	70,093	73,528	78,886
5	68,353	68,649	71,587	73,354	76,940	82,294
6	68,649	68,940	74,533	76,592	80,414	85,710
7	71,000	71,885	77,472	79,824	83,647	89,119
8	73,354	74,824	80,414	83,063	87,063	92,531
9	75,708	77,771	83,360	86,297	90,419	95,946
10	78,056	80,710	86,297	89,534	93,831	99,356
11	80,414	83,647	89,238	92,762	97,185	102,770
12	82,768	86,591	92,180	96,004	100,595	106,185
13	85,122	89,534	95,126	99,241	103,948	109,596
18	-	-	-	-	106,250	111,902

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher/nurse will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

SALARY SCHEDULES 2019-2020

B14

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2019-20

Adult Ed Hourly

4% Increase Effective 7/1/2019

Cumulative Hours	Hourly Pay Rate
0 – 550	53.91
551 – 1100	55.06
1101 – 3300	56.21
3301 +	57.4
5 yrs, 30 hrs/wk	58.47

1. Experience Increment:

Any Adult Education teacher who has taught thirty (30) hours per week and has a minimum of five (5) years in the District's Adult Education program shall receive one (1) additional dollar per hour over the rate established for that school year even if the teacher then teaches less than thirty (30) hours per week. All experience must be from the Hayward Unified School District Adult Education Program.

Substitute Hourly Rate: \$25

SALARY SCHEDULES 2019-2020

B15

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2019-20

Child Development Programs (225 Days)

4% Increase Effective 7/1/2019

Years of Experience	Col. AA Permit	Col. CA BA Degree	Col. CB BA Degree +15 units	Col. CC BA Degree +30 units (+)
1	59,925	67,264	68,573	71,986
2	63,086	70,210	71,516	75,515
3	66,251	73,165	74,450	79,044
4	69,416	76,109	77,408	82,592
5	72,583	79,044	80,345	86,133
6	75,735	81,999	83,302	89,657
7	78,892	84,943	86,243	93,204
8	-	87,897	89,186	96,730
9	-	90,846	92,137	100,270
10	-	93,782	95,089	103,797

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

APPENDIX B SALARY SCHEDULES 2018-2019

SALARY SCHEDULES 2019-2020

B16

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2019-20

Child Development Programs (186 Days)

4% Increase Effective 7/1/2019

Years of Experience	Col. AA Permit	Col. CA BA Degree	Col. CB BA Degree +15 units	Col. CC BA Degree +30 units (+)
1	51,126	57,188	58,256	61,088
2	53,735	59,627	60,696	64,005
3	56,350	62,060	63,131	66,934
4	58,969	64,501	65,572	69,855
5	61,584	66,936	67,998	72,779
6	64,189	69,363	70,440	75,703
7	66,804	71,809	72,867	78,627
8	-	74,241	75,307	81,541
9	-	76,674	77,740	84,462
10	-	79,106	80,177	87,383

1. **Professional Increments:**

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2018-2019

B17

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2018-19

Teachers 200 Days

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/18

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	70,592	70,904	71,213	71,522	71,829	72,143
2	70,904	71,212	71,522	71,829	72,143	75,729
3	71,212	71,522	71,829	72,143	73,685	79,311
4	71,522	71,829	72,143	73,684	76,092	82,894
5	71,829	72,143	75,229	77,084	80,854	86,483
6	72,182	72,447	78,321	80,489	84,506	90,068
7	74,611	75,539	81,412	83,883	87,903	93,653
8	77,084	78,632	84,506	87,288	91,489	97,237
9	79,559	81,728	87,600	90,687	95,017	100,826
10	82,030	84,815	90,687	94,088	98,604	104,411
11	84,506	87,903	93,777	97,481	102,128	107,997
12	86,977	90,995	96,870	100,890	105,711	111,581
13	89,453	94,023	99,965	104,287	109,235	115,171
18	-	-	-	-	111,658	117,591

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

B18

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2018-19

Teachers 186 Days

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/18

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	65,650	65,940	66,226	66,516	66,802	67,090
2	65,940	66,226	66,516	66,802	67,090	70,428
3	66,226	66,517	66,802	67,090	68,527	73,761
4	66,516	66,800	67,090	68,527	71,858	77,094
5	66,802	67,090	69,964	71,689	75,194	80,429
6	67,090	67,376	72,839	74,853	78,590	83,765
7	69,387	70,252	75,714	78,014	81,749	87,094
8	71,689	73,127	78,590	81,176	85,086	90,430
9	73,989	76,003	81,467	84,340	88,363	93,770
10	76,289	78,876	84,340	87,499	91,700	97,101
11	78,590	81,749	87,213	90,660	94,979	100,435
12	80,887	84,625	90,091	93,827	98,311	103,771
13	83,191	87,443	92,965	96,988	101,587	107,111
18	-	-	-	-	103,841	109,361

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

SALARY SCHEDULES 2018-2019

B19

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2018-19

Counselors/Speech Therapists 188 Days

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/18

Years of Experience	Col. CO Base + MA	Col. CF BA Degree + 90 or MA Degree + 30
1	80,769	87,827
2	84,296	91,316
3	87,827	94,884
4	91,316	98,668
5	94,884	101,943
6	98,668	105,505
7	101,943	108,996
8	105,505	112,470
9	108,996	116,055
18	112,489	119,620

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each counselor/speech therapist will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2018-2019

B20

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2018-19

School Psychologist 192 Days

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/18

Years of Experience	Col. PF BA Degree + 90 or MA Degree + 30		
1	102,729		
2	106,524		
3	110,470		
4	114,574		
5	118,840		
6	123,354		
7	123,354		
8	123,354		
9	123,354		
10	124,845		
14	127,080		
18	130,061		

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each psychologist will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2018-2019

B21

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2018-19

Adult Education/School Nurse 183 Days

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/18

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	64,594	64,875	65,160	65,443	65,724	66,009
2	64,875	65,160	65,443	65,724	66,009	69,290
3	65,160	65,443	65,724	66,009	67,421	72,569
4	65,443	65,724	66,009	67,397	70,700	75,852
5	65,724	66,009	68,834	70,533	73,981	79,129
6	66,009	66,288	71,666	73,646	77,321	82,413
7	68,269	69,120	74,492	76,754	80,430	85,691
8	70,533	71,946	77,321	79,868	83,714	88,972
9	72,796	74,780	80,154	82,978	86,941	92,256
10	75,054	77,606	82,978	86,090	90,222	95,535
11	77,321	80,430	85,806	89,194	93,447	98,817
12	79,585	83,261	88,635	92,312	96,726	102,101
13	81,848	86,090	91,467	95,424	99,950	105,381
18	-	-	-	-	102,163	107,598

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher/nurse will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

SALARY SCHEDULES 2018-2019

B22

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2018-19

Adult Ed Hourly

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/18

Cumulative Hours	Hourly Pay Rate		
0 – 550	51.84		
551 – 1100	52.94		
1101 – 3300	54.05		
3301 +	55.19		
5 yrs, 30 hrs/wk	56.22		

1. Experience Increment:

Any Adult Education teacher who has taught thirty (30) hours per week and has a minimum of five (5) years in the District's Adult Education program shall receive one (1) additional dollar per hour over the rate established for that school year even if the teacher then teaches less than thirty (30) hours per week. All experience must be from the Hayward Unified School District Adult Education Program.

Substitute Hourly Rate: \$25

SALARY SCHEDULES 2018-2019

B23

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2018-19

Child Development Programs (225 Days)

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/18

Years of Experience	Col. AA Permit	Col. CA BA Degree	Col. CB BA Degree +15 units	Col. CC BA Degree +30 units (+)
1	57,620	64,677	65,937	69,216
2	60,660	67,510	68,764	72,610
3	63,703	70,351	71,587	76,005
4	66,746	73,182	74,430	79,414
5	69,791	76,005	77,255	82,820
6	72,822	78,845	80,098	86,208
7	75,858	81,675	82,926	89,619
8	-	84,517	85,757	93,009
9	-	87,351	88,593	96,412
10	-	90,175	91,432	99,805

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2018-2019

B24

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2018-19

Child Development Programs (186 Days)

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/18

Years of Experience	Col. AA Permit	Col. CA BA Degree	Col. CB BA Degree +15 units	Col. CC BA Degree +30 units (+)
1	49,160	54,988	56,016	58,737
2	51,668	57,333	58,362	61,543
3	54,183	59,673	60,702	64,360
4	56,701	62,020	63,049	67,168
5	59,215	64,362	65,383	69,980
6	61,720	66,696	67,731	72,791
7	64,235	69,047	70,065	75,602
8	-	71,386	72,411	78,405
9	-	73,724	74,750	81,214
10	-	76,064	77,093	84,022

1. **Professional Increments:**

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

APPENDIX B SALARY SCHEDULES 2017-2018

SALARY SCHEDULES 2017-2018

B25

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2017-18

Teachers 200 Days

3.1% Increase Effective 7/1/17

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	68,370	68,672	68,971	69,271	69,568	69,872
2	68,672	68,970	69,271	69,568	69,872	73,345
3	68,970	69,271	69,568	69,872	71,366	76,815
4	69,271	69,568	69,872	71,365	73,697	80,285
5	69,568	69,872	72,861	74,658	78,309	83,761
6	69,910	70,167	75,856	77,955	81,846	87,233
7	72,262	73,161	78,849	81,243	85,136	90,705
8	74,658	76,157	81,846	84,540	88,609	94,176
9	77,055	79,155	84,843	87,832	92,026	97,652
10	79,448	82,145	87,832	91,126	95,500	101,124
11	81,846	85,136	90,825	94,413	98,913	104,598
12	84,239	88,131	93,821	97,714	102,384	108,069
13	86,637	91,063	96,818	101,004	105,797	111,546
18	-	-	-	-	108,143	113,890

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

SALARY SCHEDULES 2017-2018

B26

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2017-18

Teachers 186 Days

3.1% Increase Effective 7/1/17

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	63,584	63,864	64,141	64,422	64,699	64,978
2	63,864	64,141	64,422	64,699	64,978	68,211
3	64,141	64,423	64,699	64,978	66,370	71,439
4	64,422	64,697	64,978	66,370	69,596	74,667
5	64,699	64,978	67,762	69,432	72,827	77,897
6	64,978	65,255	70,546	72,497	76,116	81,128
7	67,203	68,041	73,331	75,558	79,176	84,353
8	69,432	70,825	76,116	78,621	82,408	87,584
9	71,660	73,611	78,903	81,685	85,582	90,818
10	73,888	76,393	81,685	84,745	88,814	94,045
11	76,116	79,176	84,468	87,806	91,989	97,274
12	78,341	81,961	87,255	90,874	95,216	100,505
13	80,572	84,691	90,039	93,935	98,389	103,739
18	-	-	-	-	100,572	105,919

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

SALARY SCHEDULES 2017-2018

B27

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2017-18

Counselors/Speech Therapists 188 Days

3.1% Increase Effective 7/1/17

Years of Experience	Col. CO Base + MA	Col. CF BA Degree + 90 or MA Degree + 30
1	78,227	85,062
2	81,643	88,442
3	85,062	91,897
4	88,442	95,562
5	91,897	98,734
6	95,562	102,184
7	98,734	105,565
8	102,184	108,930
9	105,565	112,402
18	108,948	115,855

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each counselor/speech therapist will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2017-2018

B28

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2017-18

School Psychologist 192 Days

3.1% Increase Effective 7/1/17

Years of Experience	Col. PF BA Degree + 90 or MA Degree + 30
1	99,495
2	103,171
3	106,993
4	110,968
5	115,099
6	119,471
7	119,471
8	119,471
9	119,471
10	120,915
14	123,080
18	125,967

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each psychologist will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2017-2018

B29

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2017-18

Adult Education/School Nurse 183 Days

3.1% Increase Effective 7/1/17

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	62,561	62,833	63,109	63,383	63,655	63,931
2	62,833	63,109	63,383	63,655	63,931	67,109
3	63,109	63,383	63,655	63,931	65,299	70,285
4	63,383	63,655	63,931	65,276	68,475	73,464
5	63,655	63,931	66,667	68,313	71,652	76,638
6	63,931	64,201	69,410	71,328	74,887	79,819
7	66,120	66,944	72,147	74,338	77,898	82,994
8	68,313	69,681	74,887	77,354	81,079	86,171
9	70,505	72,426	77,631	80,366	84,204	89,352
10	72,692	75,163	80,366	83,380	87,382	92,528
11	74,887	77,898	83,105	86,386	90,506	95,707
12	77,080	80,640	85,845	89,406	93,681	98,887
13	79,272	83,380	88,588	92,420	96,804	102,064
18	-	-	-	-	98,947	104,211

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher/nurse will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

One quarter equals 2/3's semester unit.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2017-2018

B30

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2017-18

Adult Ed Hourly

3.1% Increase Effective 7/1/17

Cumulative Hours	Hourly Pay Rate
0 – 550	50.21
551 – 1100	51.27
1101 – 3300	52.35
3301 +	53.45
5 yrs, 30 hrs/wk	54.45

1. Experience Increment:

Any Adult Education teacher who has taught thirty (30) hours per week and has a minimum of five (5) years in the District's Adult Education program shall receive one (1) additional dollar per hour over the rate established for that school year even if the teacher then teaches less than thirty (30) hours per week. All experience must be from the Hayward Unified School District Adult Education Program.

Substitute Hourly Rate: \$25

SALARY SCHEDULES 2017-2018

B31

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2017-18

Child Development Programs (225 Days)

3.1% Increase Effective 7/1/17

Years of Experience	Col. AA Permit	Col. CA BA Degree	Col. CB BA Degree +15 units	Col. CC BA Degree +30 units (+)
1	55,806	62,641	63,861	67,038
2	58,751	65,385	66,600	70,325
3	61,698	68,137	69,334	73,612
4	64,645	70,878	72,088	76,915
5	67,594	73,612	74,823	80,213
6	70,530	76,363	77,577	83,495
7	73,470	79,105	80,316	86,798
8	-	81,856	83,057	90,082
9	-	84,602	85,804	93,378
10	-	87,337	88,554	96,663

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2017-2018

B32

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2017-18

Child Development Programs (186 Days)

3.1% Increase Effective 7/1/17

Years of Experience	Col. AA Permit	Col. CA BA Degree	Col. CB BA Degree +15 units	Col. CC BA Degree +30 units (+)
1	47,613	53,257	54,252	56,889
2	50,042	55,529	56,525	59,606
3	52,477	57,795	58,792	62,334
4	54,916	60,068	61,065	65,054
5	57,351	62,336	63,325	67,777
6	59,777	64,596	65,599	70,500
7	62,213	66,874	67,859	73,223
8	-	69,139	70,132	75,937
9	-	71,404	72,397	78,657
10	-	73,669	74,666	81,377

1. **Professional Increments:**

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

APPENDIX B SALARY SCHEDULES 2016-2017

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2016-17

Teachers 200 Days

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/16

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	66,314	66,607	66,897	67,188	67,476	67,771
2	66,607	66,896	67,188	67,476	67,771	71,140
3	66,896	67,188	67,476	67,771	69,220	74,505
4	67,188	67,476	67,771	69,219	71,481	77,871
5	67,476	67,771	70,670	72,413	75,954	81,242
6	67,808	68,057	73,575	75,611	79,385	84,610
7	70,089	70,961	76,478	78,800	82,576	87,978
8	72,413	73,867	79,385	81,998	85,945	91,344
9	74,738	76,775	82,292	85,191	89,259	94,716
10	77,059	79,675	85,191	88,386	92,629	98,083
11	79,385	82,576	88,094	91,574	95,939	101,453
12	81,706	85,481	91,000	94,776	99,306	104,820
13	84,032	88,325	93,907	97,967	102,616	108,192
18	-	-	-	-	104,891	110,466

1. **Professional Increments:**

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

One quarter equals 2/3's semester unit.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2016-2017

B34

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2016-17

Teachers 186 Days

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/16

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	61,672	61,944	62,212	62,485	62,754	63,024
2	61,944	62,212	62,485	62,754	63,024	66,160
3	62,212	62,486	62,754	63,024	64,374	69,291
4	62,485	62,752	63,024	64,374	67,503	72,422
5	62,754	63,024	65,725	67,344	70,637	75,555
6	63,024	63,293	68,425	70,317	73,827	78,689
7	65,182	65,995	71,126	73,286	76,795	81,817
8	67,344	68,695	73,827	76,257	79,930	84,951
9	69,505	71,398	76,531	79,229	83,009	88,087
10	71,666	74,096	79,229	82,197	86,144	91,217
11	73,827	76,795	81,928	85,166	89,223	94,349
12	75,985	79,497	84,631	88,142	92,353	97,483
13	78,149	82,145	87,332	91,111	95,431	100,620
18	-	-	-	-	97,548	102,734

1. **Professional Increments:**

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

One quarter equals 2/3's semester unit.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2016-2017

B35

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2016-17

Counselors/Speech Therapists 188 Days

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/16

Years of Experience	Col. A Base + MA	Col. B BA Degree + 90 or MA Degree + 30
1	75,875	82,504
2	79,188	85,783
3	82,504	89,134
4	85,783	92,689
5	89,134	95,765
6	92,689	99,112
7	95,765	102,391
8	99,112	105,655
9	102,391	109,022
18	105,672	112,371

1. Professional Increments:

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each counselor/speech therapist will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2016-2017

B36

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2016-17

School Psychologist 192 Days

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/16

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree + 90 or MA Degree + 30
1	96,503
2	100,069
3	103,776
4	107,631
5	111,638
6	115,879
7	115,879
8	115,879
9	115,879
10	117,279
14	119,379
18	122,179

1. **Professional Increments:**

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each psychologist will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2016-2017

B37

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2016-17

School Nurse 183 Days

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/16

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	60,680	60,944	61,211	61,477	61,741	62,009
2	60,944	61,211	61,477	61,741	62,009	65,091
3	61,211	61,477	61,741	62,009	63,336	68,172
4	61,477	61,741	62,009	63,313	66,416	71,255
5	61,741	62,009	64,662	66,259	69,498	74,334
6	62,009	62,271	67,323	69,183	72,635	77,419
7	64,132	64,931	69,978	72,103	75,556	80,499
8	66,259	67,586	72,635	75,028	78,641	83,580
9	68,385	70,248	75,297	77,950	81,672	86,665
10	70,506	72,903	77,950	80,873	84,755	89,746
11	72,635	75,556	80,606	83,789	87,785	92,829
12	74,762	78,215	83,264	86,718	90,864	95,914
13	76,888	80,873	85,924	89,641	93,893	98,995
18	-	-	-	-	95,972	101,078

1. **Professional Increments:**

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher/nurse will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. Semester Units:

One quarter equals 2/3's semester unit.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2016-2017

B38

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2016-17

Adult Education 183 Days

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/16

Years of Experience	Col. A BA Degree	Col. B BA Degree +15 units	Col. C BA Degree +30 units	Col. D BA Degree +45 units	Col. E BA Degree +60 units	Col. F BA Degree +90 MA+30
1	60,680	60,944	61,211	61,477	61,741	62,009
2	60,944	61,211	61,477	61,741	62,009	65,091
3	61,211	61,477	61,741	62,009	63,336	68,172
4	61,477	61,741	62,009	63,313	66,416	71,255
5	61,741	62,009	64,662	66,259	69,498	74,334
6	62,009	62,271	67,323	69,183	72,635	77,419
7	64,132	64,931	69,978	72,103	75,556	80,499
8	66,259	67,586	72,635	75,028	78,641	83,580
9	68,385	70,248	75,297	77,950	81,672	86,665
10	70,506	72,903	77,950	80,873	84,755	89,746
11	72,635	75,556	80,606	83,789	87,785	92,829
12	74,762	78,215	83,264	86,718	90,864	95,914
13	76,888	80,873	85,924	89,641	93,893	98,995
18	-	-	-	-	95,972	101,078

1. **Professional Increments:**

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher/nurse will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

4. <u>Semester Units:</u>

One quarter equals 2/3's semester unit.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2016-2017

B39

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2016-17

Adult Ed Hourly

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/16

Cumulative Hours	Hourly Pay Rate
0 – 550	48.70
551 – 1100	49.73
1101 – 3300	50.78
3301 +	51.84
5 yrs, 30 hrs/wk	52.84

1. Experience Increment:

Any Adult Education teacher who has taught thirty (30) hours per week and has a minimum of five (5) years in the District's Adult Education program shall receive one (1) additional dollar per hour over the rate established for that school year even if the teacher then teaches less than thirty (30) hours per week. All experience must be from the Hayward Unified School District Adult Education Program.

Substitute Hourly Rate: \$25

SALARY SCHEDULES 2016-2017

B40

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2016-17

Child Development Programs (225 Days)

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/16

Years of Experience	Col. A Permit	Col. B BA Degree	Col. C BA Degree +15 units	Col. D BA Degree +30 units (+)
1	54,128	60,758	61,941	65,022
2	56,984	63,419	64,597	68,210
3	59,843	66,088	67,249	71,399
4	62,701	68,747	69,920	74,602
5	65,562	71,399	72,573	77,801
6	68,409	74,067	75,244	80,984
7	71,261	76,726	77,901	84,188
8	-	79,395	80,560	87,373
9	-	82,058	83,224	90,570
10	-	84,711	85,891	93,757

1. **Professional Increments:**

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SALARY SCHEDULES 2016-2017

B41

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2016-17

Child Development Programs (186 Days)

3.25% Increase Effective 7/1/16

Years of Experience	Col. A Permit	Col. B BA Degree	Col. C BA Degree +15 units	Col. D BA Degree +30 units
1	46,181	51,656	52,621	55,178
2	48,537	53,859	54,825	57,814
3	50,899	56,057	57,024	60,460
4	53,265	58,262	59,229	63,098
5	55,627	60,462	61,421	65,739
6	57,980	62,654	63,627	68,380
7	60,342	64,863	65,819	71,021
8	-	67,060	68,023	73,654
9	-	69,257	70,220	76,292
10	-	71,454	72,421	78,930

1. **Professional Increments:**

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to ten years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D.

3. Annual Advancement:

After placement on the salary schedule, each teacher will advance one step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days in the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

APPENDIX C EVALUATION FORMS

EVALUATION FORMS

California Standards for the Teaching Profession

Engaging and Supporting All Students in Learning	Creating and Maintaining Effective Environments for Student Learning
 1.1 Using knowledge of students to engage them in learning 1.2 Connecting learning to students' prior knowledge, backgrounds, life experiences, and interests 1.3 Connecting subject matter to meaningful, real-life contexts 1.4 Using a variety of instructional strategies, resources, and technologies to meet students' diverse learning needs 1.5 Promoting critical thinking through inquiry, problem solving, and reflection 1.6 Monitoring student learning and adjusting instruction while teaching 	 2.1 Promoting social development and responsibility within a caring community where each student is treated fairly and respectfully 2.2 Creating physical or virtual learning environments that promote student learning, reflect diversity, and encourage constructive and productive interactions among students 2.3 Establishing and maintaining learning environments that are physically, intellectually, and emotionally safe 2.4 Creating a rigorous learning environment with high expectations and appropriate support for all students 2.5 Developing, communicating, and maintaining high standards for individual and group behavior 2.6 Employing classroom routines, procedures, norms, and supports for positive behavior to ensure a climate in which all students can learn 2.7 Using instructional time to optimize learning
Understanding and Organizing Subject Matter for Student Learning	Planning Instruction and Designing Learning Experiences for All Students
 3.1 Demonstrating knowledge of subject matter, academic content standards, and curriculum frameworks 3.2 Applying knowledge of student development and proficiencies to ensure student understanding of subject matter 3.3 Organizing curriculum to facilitate student understanding of the subject matter 3.4 Utilizing instructional strategies that are appropriate to the subject matter 3.5 Using and adapting resources, technologies, and standards-aligned instructional materials, including adopted materials, to make subject matter accessible to all students 3.6 Addressing the needs of English learners and students with special needs to provide equitable access to the content 	 4.1 Using knowledge of students' academic readiness, language proficiency, cultural background, and individual development to plan instruction 4.2 Establishing and articulating goals for student learning 4.3 Developing and sequencing long-term and short-term instructional plans to support student learning 4.4 Planning instruction that incorporates appropriate strategies to meet the learning needs of all students 4.5 Adapting instructional plans and curricular materials to meet the assessed learning needs of all students
Assessing Students for Learning	Developing as a Professional Educator
 5.1 Applying knowledge of the purposes, characteristics, and uses of different types of assessments 5.2 Collecting and analyzing assessment data from a variety of sources to inform instruction 5.3 Reviewing data, both individually and with colleagues, to monitor student learning 5.4 Using assessment data to establish learning goals and to plan, differentiate, and modify instruction 5.5 Involving all students in self-assessment, goal setting, and monitoring progress 5.6 Using available technologies to assist in assessment, analysis, and communication of student learning 5.7 Using assessment information to share timely and comprehensible feedback with students and their families 	 6.1 Reflecting on teaching practice in support of student learning 6.2 Establishing professional goals and engaging in continuous and purposeful professional growth and development 6.3 Collaborating with colleagues and the broader professional community to support teacher and student learning 6.4 Working with families to support student learning 6.5 Engaging local communities in support of the instructional program 6.6 Managing professional responsibilities to maintain motivation and commitment to all students 6.7 Demonstrating professional responsibility, integrity, and ethical conduct

EVALUATION FORMS

HAYWARD UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT Certificated Personnel: Standards and Key Elements

EVALUATION WORKSHEET

		DATE _		
Evaluatee:Name	P	ermanent	_ Temporary _	Probationary
School	ol .		Ass	ignment
Temporary Teachers: Standards, namely Standards each Standard to identify choice of two standards. Permanent Teachers: Pareas of focus will be iden key elements under each of the unit member and the	ards one and two specific areas. Exermanent unit me tified by the permanent and add	, looking at a experienced to embers will id anent unit me ditional Stand	minimum of tweachers new to entify one or tweenber by lookin	o key elements under the District will have a o Standards. Specific g at a minimum of two
STANDARD:		Exceptio	nal Circumstan	ces
Key Element(s):		Support	Requirements	
STANDARD:				
Key Element(s):				
STANDARD:				
Key Element(s):				
Administrator	 Date	Evaluat	ee	 Date

EVALUATION FORMS

Hayward Unified School District Human Resources/Certificated Personnel

EVALUATION WORKSHEET

Name	School	Year
The element	s of evaluation are:	
Standard 1:	Engaging and supporting all students in learning)
1.1	Using knowledge of students to engage them in le	earning
1.2	Connecting learning to students' prior knowledge, and interests	backgrounds, life experiences,
1.3	Connecting subject matter to meaningful, real-life	contexts
1.4	Using a variety of instructional strategies, resource students' diverse learning needs	ces, and technologies to meet
1.5	Promoting critical thinking through inquiry, probler	n solving, and reflection
1.6	Monitoring student learning and adjusting instruction	on while teaching
Standard 2:	Creating and maintaining effective environments	s for student learning.
2.1	Promoting social development and responsibility where each student is treated fairly and respectful	, ,
2.2	Creating physical or virtual learning environments reflect diversity, and encourage constructive and students	
2.3	Establishing and maintaining learning enviro intellectually, and emotionally safe	nments that are physically,
2.4	Creating a rigorous learning environment with high support for all students	n expectations and appropriate
2.5	Developing, communicating, and maintaining hig group behavior	h standards for individual and
2.6	Employing classroom routines, procedures, non behavior to ensure a climate in which all students	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
2.7	Using instructional time to optimize learning	odii iodiii
Standard 3:	Understanding and organizing subject matter fo	or student learning.
3.1	Demonstrating knowledge of subject matter, aca curriculum frameworks	
3.2	Applying knowledge of student development and	proficiencies to ensure student

Organizing curriculum to facilitate student understanding of the subject matter

Using and adapting resources, technologies, and standards-aligned instructional materials, including adopted materials, to make subject matter accessible to all

Utilizing instructional strategies that are appropriate to the subject matter

understanding of subject matter

3.3

3.4 3.5

students

EVALUATION FORMS

- 3.6 Addressing the needs of English learners and students with special needs to provide equitable access to the content
- Standard 4: Planning instruction and designing learning experiences for all students.
 - 4.1 Using knowledge of students' academic readiness, language proficiency, cultural background, and individual development to plan instruction
 - 4.2 Establishing and articulating goals for student learning
 - 4.3 Developing and sequencing long-term and short-term instructional plans to support student learning
 - 4.4 Planning instruction that incorporates appropriate strategies to meet the learning needs of all students
 - 4.5 Adapting instructional plans and curricular materials to meet the assessed learning needs of all students
- Standard 5: Assessing students for learning.
 - 5.1 Applying knowledge of the purposes, characteristics, and uses of different types of assessments
 - 5.2 Collecting and analyzing assessment data from a variety of sources to inform instruction
 - 5.3 Reviewing data, both individually and with colleagues, to monitor student learning
 - 5.4 Using assessment data to establish learning goals and to plan, differentiate, and modify instruction
 - 5.5 Involving all students in self-assessment, goal setting, and monitoring progress
 - 5.6 Using available technologies to assist in assessment, analysis, and communication of student learning
 - 5.7 Using assessment information to share timely and comprehensible feedback with students and their families
- Standard 6: Developing as a professional educator.
 - 6.1 Reflecting on teaching practice in support of student learning
 - 6.2 Establishing professional goals and engaging in continuous and purposeful professional growth and development
 - 6.3 Collaborating with colleagues and the broader professional community to support teacher and student learning
 - 6.4 Working with families to support student learning
 - 6.5 Engaging local communities in support of the instructional program
 - 6.6 Managing professional responsibilities to maintain motivation and commitment to all students
 - 6.7 Demonstrating professional responsibility, integrity, and ethical conduct

EVALUATION FORMS

HAYWARD UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT Human Resources Certificated

OBSERVATION FORM

Page							
Employee School Department							
Class/Subject/G	Grade	e Level	Number of Students in Attendance				
Time of Observa	ation	to	to Date of Observation				
STANDARDS O	One t	:hrough Six: Circle	Standard(s	s) observed			
STANDARD ON	NE:	Engaging and suppo	orting all stu	udents in learning.			
STANDARD TV	VO:	Creating and mainta	aining effec	tive environments for stud	ent learning.		
STANDARD TH	IREE	: Understanding a	ınd organizi	ng subject matter for stud	ent learning.		
STANDARD FO)UR:	Planning instruction	and design	ning learning experiences	for all students.		
STANDARD FIV	∕E:	Assessing students	for learning	j.			
STANDARD SIX	X:	Developing as a pro	ofessional e	ducator.			
COMMENTS:							
A check in this box	indica	tes that additional sheets	are attached.				
Administrator's	Sign	ature	Title		Date		
I certify that thi necessarily indi-			ssed with I	me. I understand my sig	nature does not		
Employee's Sig	natui	re	Title		Date		
Distribution:		Original		Administrator			
		One Copy		Employee			

EVALUATION FORMS

Hayward Unified School District Human Resources/Certificated Personnel EVALUATION REPORT

☐ Interim Summary Name School/Department _____ Title/Subject/Grade Level _____ Due Date Meets **Partially Meets Does Not Evaluation Criteria: Key Elements** Standard Standard **Meet Standard Standard One** Standard Two **Standard Three** Standard Four П Standard Five П Standard Six П **Composite Evaluation: Partially Meets** Meets **Does Not Meet Standards Standards Standards** Comments by Evaluator: If additional comments are attached, check here **Comments by Evaluatee**: If additional comments are attached, check here. Evaluator's Signature Title Date I certify that this report has been discussed with me. I understand my signature does not necessarily indicate agreement. Evaluatee's Signature Title Date Reviewed by: _ Signature Title Date Signature Title Date

Date

Title

Signature

APPENDIX D EDUCATION CODE 48900 & 49079

48900. A pupil shall not be suspended from school or recommended for expulsion unless the superintendent of the school district or the principal of the school in which the pupil is enrolled determines that the pupil has committed an act as defined pursuant to one or more of subdivisions (a) to (r), inclusive:

- (a) (1) Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person.
 - (2) Willfully used force or violence upon the person of another, except in self-defense.
- (b) Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished a firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object, unless, in the case of possession of any object of this type, the pupil had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which is concurred in by the principal or the designee of the principal.
- (c) Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of, any controlled substance listed in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 11053) of Division 10 of the Health and Safety Code, an alcoholic beverage, or an intoxicant of any kind.
- (d) Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance listed in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 11053) of Division 10 of the Health and Safety Code, an alcoholic beverage, or an intoxicant of any kind, and either sold, delivered, or otherwise furnished to a person another liquid, substance, or material and represented the liquid, substance, or material as a controlled substance, alcoholic beverage, or intoxicant.
- (e) Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion.
- (f) Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property.
- (g) Stole or attempted to steal school property or private property.
- (h) Possessed or used tobacco, or products containing tobacco or nicotine products, including, but not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel. However, this section does not prohibit use or possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products.
- (i) Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity.
- (j) Unlawfully possessed or unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell drug paraphernalia, as defined in Section 11014.5 of the Health and Safety Code.
- (k) (1) Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority of supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties.
 - (2) Except as provided in Section 48910, a pupil enrolled in kindergarten or any of grades 1 to 3, inclusive, shall not be suspended for any of the acts enumerated in this subdivision, and this subdivision shall not constitute grounds for a pupil enrolled in kindergarten or any of grades 1 to 12, inclusive, to be recommended for expulsion.
- (I) Knowingly received stolen school property or private property.

EDUCATION CODE 48900 & 49079

- (m) Possessed an imitation firearm. As used in this section, "imitation firearm" means a replica of a firearm that is so substantially similar in physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm.
- (n) Committed or attempted to commit a sexual assault as defined in Section 261, 266c, 286, 288, 288a, or 289 of the Penal Code or committed a sexual battery as defined in Section 243.4 of the Penal Code.
- (o) Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for the purpose of either preventing that pupil from being a witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both.
- (p) Unlawfully offered, arranged to sell, negotiated to sell, or sold the prescription drug Soma.
- (q) Engaged in, or attempted to engage in, hazing. For purposes of this subdivision, "hazing" means a method of initiation or preinitiation into a pupil organization or body, whether or not the organization or body is officially recognized by an educational institution that is likely to cause serious bodily injury or personal degradation or disgrace resulting in physical or mental harm to a former, current or prospective pupil. For purposes of this subdivision, "hazing" does not include athletic events or school sanctioned events.
- (r) Engaged in an act of bullying. For purposes of this subdivision, the following terms have the following meanings:
 - (1) "Bullying" means any severe or pervasive physical or verbal act or conduct, including communications made in writing or by means of an electronic act, and including one or more acts committed by a pupil or group of pupils as defined in Section 48900.2, 48900.3, or 48900.4, directed toward one or more pupils that has or can be reasonably predicted to have the effect of one or more of the following:
 - (A) Placing a reasonable pupil or pupils in fear of harm to that pupil's or those pupils' person or property.
 - (B) Causing a reasonable pupil to experience a substantially detrimental effect on his or her physical or mental health.
 - (C) Causing a reasonable pupil to experience substantial interference with his or her academic performance.
 - (D) Causing a reasonable pupil to experience substantial interference with his or her ability to participate in or benefit from the services, activities, or privileges provided by a school.
 - (2) (A) "Electronic act" means the creation or transmission originated on or off the schoolsite, by means of an electronic device, including, but not limited to, a telephone, wireless telephone, or other wireless communication device, computer, or pager, of a communication, including, but not limited to, any of the following:
 - (i) A message, text, sound, video, or image.
 - (ii) A post on a social network Internet Web site, including, but not limited to:

EDUCATION CODE 48900 & 49079

- (I) Posting to or creating a burn page. "Burn page" means an Internet Web site created for the purpose of having one or more of the effects listed in paragraph (1).
- (II) Creating a credible impersonation of another actual pupil for the purpose of having one or more of the effects listed in paragraph (1). "Credible impersonation" means to knowingly and without consent impersonate a pupil for the purpose of bullying the pupil and such that another pupil would reasonably believe, or has reasonably believed, that the pupil was or is the pupil who was impersonated.
- (III) Creating a false profile for the purpose of having one or more of the effects listed in paragraph (1). "False profile" means a profile of a fictitious pupil or a profile using the likeness or attributes of an actual pupil other than the pupil who created the false profile.
- (iii) (I) An act of cyber sexual bullying.
 - (II) For purposes of this clause, "cyber sexual bullying" means the dissemination of, or the solicitation or incitement to disseminate, a photograph or other visual recording by a pupil to another pupil or to school personnel by means of an electronic act that has or can be reasonably predicted to have one or more of the effects described in subparagraphs (A) to (D), inclusive, of paragraph (1). A photograph or other visual recording, as described above, shall include the depiction of a nude, semi-nude, or sexually explicit photograph or other visual recording of a minor where the minor is identifiable from the photograph, visual recording, or other electronic act.
 - (III) For purposes of this clause, "cyber sexual bullying" does not include a depiction, portrayal, or image that has any serious literary, artistic, educational, political, or scientific value or that involves athletic events or school-sanctioned activities.
- (B) Notwithstanding paragraph (1) and subparagraph (A), an electronic act shall not constitute pervasive conduct solely on the basis that it has been transmitted on the Internet or is currently posted on the Internet.
- (3) "Reasonable pupil" means a pupil, including, but not limited to, an exceptional needs pupil, who exercises average care, skill, and judgment in conduct for a person of his or her age, or for a person of his or her age with his or her exceptional needs.
- (s) A pupil may not be suspended or expelled for any of the acts enumerated in this section unless the act is related to school activity or school attendance occurring within a school under the jurisdiction of the superintendent of the school district or principal or occurring within any other school district. A pupil may be suspended or expelled for acts that are enumerated in this section and related to school activity or attendance that occur at any time, including, but not limited to, any of the following:
 - While on school grounds.

EDUCATION CODE 48900 & 49079

- (2) While going to or coming from school.
- (3) During the lunch period whether on or off the campus.
- (4) During, or while going to or coming from, a school sponsored activity.
- (t) A pupil who aids or abets, as defined in Section 31 of the Penal Code, the infliction or attempted infliction of physical injury to another person may be subject to suspension, but not expulsion, pursuant to this section, except that a pupil who has been adjudged by a juvenile court to have committed, as an aider and abettor, a crime of physical violence in which the victim suffered great bodily injury or serious bodily injury shall be subject to discipline pursuant to subdivision (a).
- (u) As used in this section, "school property" includes, but is not limited to, electronic files and databases.
- (v) For a pupil subject to discipline under this section, a superintendent of the school district or principal may use his or her discretion to provide alternatives to suspension or expulsion that are age appropriate and designed to address and correct the pupil's specific misbehavior as specified in Section 48900.5.
- (w) It is the intent of the Legislature that alternatives to suspensions or expulsion be imposed against any pupil who is truant, tardy, or otherwise absent from school activities.

EDUCATION CODE 48900 & 49079

49079.

- (a) A school district shall inform the teacher of each pupil who has engaged in, or is reasonably suspected to have engaged in, any of the acts described in any of the subdivisions, except subdivision (h), of Section 48900 or in Section 48900.2, 48900.3, 48900.4, or 48900.7 that the pupil engaged in, or is reasonably suspected to have engaged in, those acts. The district shall provide the information to the teacher based upon any records that the district maintains in its ordinary course of business, or receives from a law enforcement agency, regarding a pupil described in this section.
- (b) A school district, or school district officer or employee, is not civilly or criminally liable for providing information under this section unless it is proven that the information was false and that the district or district officer or employee knew or should have known that the information was false, or the information was provided with a reckless disregard for its truth or falsity.
- (c) An officer or employee of a school district who knowingly fails to provide information about a pupil who has engaged in, or who is reasonably suspected to have engaged in, the acts referred to in subdivision (a) is guilty of a misdemeanor, which is punishable by confinement in the county jail for a period not to exceed six months, or by a fine not to exceed one thousand dollars (\$1,000), or both.
- (d) For the 1994-95 school year, the information provided shall be from the previous two school years. For the 1996-97 school year and each school year thereafter, the information provided shall be from the previous three school years.
- (e) Any information received by a teacher pursuant to this section shall be received in confidence for the limited purpose for which it was provided and shall not be further disseminated by the teacher.

APPENDIX E Occupational Therapists Salary Schedule 2020-21

APPENDIX E

Hayward Unified School District Salary Schedule for 2020-21

Occupational Therapists 188 Days

Years of Experience	Col. A Hourly Pay	Col. A Base
1	81.98	123,298.07
2	83.66	125,818.67
3	85.74	128,956.21
4	87.90	132,199.50
5	90.09	135,495.67

1. **Professional Increments:**

Master's Degree \$ 550.00 Doctor's Degree \$ 725.00

2. Year for Year Credit:

Newly hired employees shall receive credit for <u>up to five years</u> of teaching experience as defined in the contract between H.E.A. and H.U.S.D. After placement on the salary schedule, each Occupational Therapist will advance.

3. Annual Advancement:

One step for each school year of service in the Hayward Unified School District. A school year constitutes 75% of the number of days the schools of the District are in session (from September to June). A unit employee who works less than 75% in a school year shall receive a step advancement after finishing a second year.

SIDE LETTERS

SIDE LETTERS:

School Improvement Grant – Burbank	lxiv
School Improvement Grant – Longwood	lxix
School Improvement Grant – Tennyson	lxxiv
School Improvement Grant - Tennyson Summer Academy	lxxx
Adult School - Hourly Teachers - Change in Working Conditions	lxxxi
Adult School - Contracted Teachers - Change in Working Conditions	lxxxiii
Child Development Center	lxxxv
Transitional Kindergarten	lxxxvi
Reemployment Rights of K-12 Members Reemployed After Layoff	lxxxviii
Reemployment Rights of Permanent Adult School Teachers	xc
Nurse Staffing	xcii
Budget Forum	xciii

Side letter of Agreement Between Hayward Unified School District (HUSD) And the Hayward Education Association (HEA)

School Improvement Grant (SIG)
For Persistently Low Achieving Schools (PLAS):
Site Specific Contract Amendment-Burbank Elementary
Effective July 1, 2010

Background

The State Department of Education has identified schools throughout California that meet criteria as Persistently Low Achieving (PLAS). HUSD has three schools in that category. The State mandated intervention at these schools and HUSD has received a School Improvement Grant (SIG) to support these schools' plans.

The HUSD has adopted and implemented the Transformation Model for school improvement at Burbank Elementary.

In order to implement the terms of the SIG, HUSD and HEA agree to the following contract amendments. These provisions are not precedent setting and will remain in effect for the duration of the SIG grant, including any renewals of SIG pursuant to continuing Grant requirements including any other schools that are designated as Persistently Low Achieving and receive SIG funding.

Item 1) Staff Recruitment/Retention Stipends—In order to support the recruitment and retention of staff committed to fully implement the site plan, if the budget revision is approved by the CDE, an annual stipend of \$1,000 shall be paid to full time HEA staff. This payment shall be paid bi- annually (\$500.00 per semester). The stipends will be paid in year 1, 2, and 3. Part time staff completing a full school year shall receive pro-rated compensation.

Staff Performance Incentive (PI) Stipends- A component of the SIG is identified for rewarding employees for increasing student achievement. This is demonstrated by meeting the minimum requirement for API under the AYP requirement. A stipend shall be awarded to all HEA staff who are assigned to the site when at least adequate AYP growth is achieved in all student subgroups in Math and/or English Language Arts. If the site makes AYP adequate growth as indicated above in both academic areas the total stipend per individual member shall be \$1,000. Adequate growth is defined as meeting Safe Harbor in all subgroups in either Math or English Language Arts. If a school site makes Safe Harbor in both academic areas the total stipend shall be \$1,000. If a school site makes Safe Harbor in one academic area, the stipend shall be \$500.00.

Stipends will be paid at the beginning of years 2, and 3, and 4 retroactively to the previous year/staff.

The (PI) stipends shall be paid within 45 days following the announcement of the demonstrated school improvement.

Item 3 Staff Transfers

The SIG grant requires an intense focus on raising student achievement. To that end, a more intense commitment is required by all stakeholders to assist this school and its students to reach high achievement by adhering to a new set of practices and philosophy. At the end of the 2010-2011 school year, teachers who desire to transfer out of Burbank will be given a one-time priority to transfer. After all district involuntary transfers have been made, Burbank and other SIG school transfers will be allowed to transfer prior to other voluntary transfers.

Teachers who are administratively placed, or who choose a position at a SIG school as a result of layoff shall be afforded the same opportunity for transfer as described in the above provision.

Item 4 Staff Development/Professional Development

Intensive professional development is required as a part of the SIG program funding. Although some professional development is embedded during the school year, training for the staff as a whole will need to take place on non-instructional time. In order to build a staff community focused on the same vision; to increase staff knowledge and understanding of curriculum; and to implement consistent instructional and school-wide practices requires all staff to receive the same training and collaborate on its implementation.

Staff/professional development on non-duty time may be designated as mandatory. Non-duty time can occur on Saturdays, after the work day, or during non-instructional days. Professional development focused on SIG goals and objective, planning, and structured collaboration for 2011, and 2012, will be paid at the at a stipend of \$300.00 per day for full day training and the hourly rate for after the work day training. Mandatory staff development shall not be scheduled on any legal holiday. Dates for the mandatory staff development shall be announced at least 14 calendar days in advance of the training. A maximum of 10 mandatory staff development days shall be required in any fiscal year.

Voluntary staff development may also be provided at the stipend rate of \$150.00 per day.

Staff members will be allowed to use the various leave sections of the contract in the event of circumstances which do not allow attendance during the scheduled S/PD times. Notices of leave usage shall follow the regular notification procedures. Alternative options will be provided to make up the mandatory staff development if equivalent training is available.

Item 5 Intervention Classes

Students will be assigned to intervention classes, based on needs as determined by school leadership team and a site administrator. However there may be specific situations that are confidential in nature that will necessitate the site administrator making the final determination of placement.

For the before/after school intervention funded through SIG, Teachers will be hired from among the bargaining unit at that site. If bargaining unit members are not qualified or interested, teachers maybe hired from other sites within the bargaining unit.

When intervention classes are done outside the workday, bargaining unit members will receive compensation at the extra duty rate of \$38.00 per hour. Positions will be posted consistent with the collective bargaining agreement.

Item 6 Additional Responsibilities

The parties acknowledge that participating in the SIG grant may require additional responsibility and hours (in addition to the 40 hours defined in Article 10. 2.a.) that are beyond those expected at other sites in the district. Teachers may be required to do more planning with peers including but not limited to: fill out more forms regarding student needs and achievements, direct the services of tutors, classroom aides, parent volunteers, instructional facilitators, make home visits and coordinate with the social service personnel that are an integral part of the turnaround school. Administrators will be cognizant of the workload and will mutually agree to adjust as necessary to avoid burnout. Adjustments may include flex time, release time, and/or reduced instructional duties up to a maximum of 5 work days.

Item 7 Site Leadership Team (SLT)

The Site Leadership Team shall be selected to serve a two year term from 2011-2012 and 2012 - 2013. All SLT members shall be selected using the process identified below. The SLT shall be selected to serve one week prior to the opening of the staff work year.

Process for Selection of SLT

Positions will be posted on the Vacancy List indicating that it is open for HEA members assigned to the site. All members who apply shall be interviewed by a team which includes the Principal, SIG Coordinator and a Coach (TOSA). The interview will include an oral interview, review of a portfolio and performance based activities as needed. The selection criteria will be focused on the demonstrated ability to and/or the capacity to perform the duties listed under "Scope".

Composition

Elementary School - One bargaining unit per grade level (7 total)

Teachers will apply to be part of the Leadership Team and selected on an annual basis Selected teachers must be able to facilitate conversations regarding effective teaching and learning and have the ability to build capacity and support staff to successfully implement school reform.

The Leadership Team shall not evaluate their peers in any form.

Scope

The purpose of the Leadership Team is to provide guidance and support implementation of the components of the SIG grant. Specifically the SIG requires ongoing, high-quality, job-embedded professional development that is aligned with the school's comprehensive instructional program. This includes, but is not limited to;

o Developing data-supported action plans

o Implementation of strategies for increased student achievement

o Facilitate grade level/subject matter meetings with identified outcomes

o Participate in trainings and assist in supporting implementation

o Facilitate "Intentional Data Study Groups"

o Design, support, facilitate and/or evaluate professional development

 Identify successes in the implementation of strategies learned during professional development

O Support grade level teams in identifying target strategies and the implementation (Due to the intensive focus on professional development and instruction, the Leadership Team shall be the governing body in these areas for the duration of the SIG grant.)

Compensation

For the school years 2011-2012 and 2012-2013, leadership team members (7 per elementary school and 10 at high school) shall be compensated at the rate of \$4,000 per year. Attendance at the Leadership Team meetings and follow up on assigned tasks is required to receive stipend. For SLT members who served during the 2010-2011 school year, they will receive a total of \$4000.00 less amount already paid.

Schedule meetings for the SLT are approximately 10 hours per month. Activities that are part of the duties or "scope" of the SLT are preformed or implemented as various times and are part of the professional responsibility of the SLT member.

General Provisions

The effective period of this Memorandum of Understanding shall be retroactive to July 1, 2010.

The District and HEA shall review the Memorandum of Understanding annually.

It is understood that the enforcement of the provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding will be subject to all levels of Article 8 of the CBA. To the extent that the specific terms and conditions of this Memorandum of Understanding conflicts with any provisions of the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the parties in effect as the date hereof, the agreements set forth in this MOU shall control.

Under any circumstances, the effective period of this memorandum shall end June 30, 2013 unless extended by written agreement of HEA and the District. This MOU shall immediately terminate upon the loss or reduction in SIG funding.

The parties agree to meet to review the implementation of this MOU in January and June of each year. The review will identify areas that are working and areas that may need additional clarity. The parties will revise as necessary.

Part of the SIG grant requires the implementation of a new evaluation system. The evaluation system components are as follows:

- o Use rigorous, transparent, and equitable evaluation systems for teachers that
 - Take into account data on student growth as a significant factor as well as
 other factors such as multiple observation-based assessments of
 performance and ongoing collections of professional practice reflective of
 student achievement and increased high school graduation rates
 - o Are designed and developed with teacher and principal involvement

The parties agree to immediate begin negotiations regarding the new evaluation system to conform to the grant requirements.

K. Murcides For HEA

DATE

Side letter of Agreement Between Hayward Unified School District (HUSD) And the Hayward Education Association (HEA)

School Improvement Grant (SIG)
For Persistently Low Achieving Schools (PLAS):
Site Specific Contract Amendment- Longwood Elementary
Effective July 1, 2010

Background

The State Department of Education has identified schools throughout California that meet criteria as Persistently Low Achieving (PLAS). HUSD has three schools in that category. The State mandated intervention at these schools and HUSD has received a School Improvement Grant (SIG) to support these schools' plans.

The HUSD has adopted and implemented the Turnaround Model for school improvement at Longwood Elementary.

In order to implement the terms of the SIG, HUSD and HEA agree to the following contract amendments. These provisions are not precedent setting and will remain in effect for the duration of the SIG grant, including any renewals of SIG pursuant to continuing Grant requirements including any other schools that are designated as Persistently Low Achieving and receive SIG funding.

<u>Item 1)</u> Staff Recruitment/Retention Stipends—In order to support the recruitment and retention of staff committed to fully implement the site plan, if the budget revision is approved by the CDE, an annual stipend of \$1,000 shall be paid to full time HEA staff. This payment shall be paid bi- annually (\$500.00 per semester). The stipends will be paid in year 1, 2, and 3. Part time staff completing a full school year shall receive pro-rated compensation.

Item 2) Staff Performance Incentive (PI) Stipends—A component of the SIG is identified for rewarding employees for increasing student achievement. This is demonstrated by meeting the minimum requirement for API under the AYP requirement. A stipend shall be awarded to all HEA staff who are assigned to the site when at least adequate AYP growth is achieved in all student subgroups in Math and/or English Language Arts. If the site makes AYP adequate growth as indicated above in both academic areas the total stipend per individual member shall be \$1,000. Adequate growth is defined as meeting Safe Harbor in all subgroups in either Math or English Language Arts. If a school site makes Safe Harbor in both academic areas the total stipend shall be \$1,000. If a school site makes Safe Harbor in one academic area, the stipend shall be \$500.00.

Stipends will be paid at the beginning of years 2, and 3, and 4 retroactively to the previous year/staff.

The (PI) stipends shall be paid within 45 days following the announcement of the demonstrated school improvement.

Item 3 Staff Transfers

The SIG grant requires an intense focus on raising student achievement. To that end, a more intense commitment is required by all stakeholders to assist this school and its students to reach high achievement by adhering to a new set of practices and philosophy. At the end of the 2010-2011 school year, teachers who desire to transfer out of Longwood will be given a one-time priority to transfer. After all district involuntary transfers have been made, Longwood and other SIG school transfers will be allowed to transfer prior to other voluntary transfers.

Teachers who are administratively placed, or who choose a position at a SIG school as a result of layoff shall be afforded the same opportunity for transfer as described in the above provision.

Item 4 Staff Development/Professional Development

Intensive professional development is required as a part of the SIG program funding. Although some professional development is embedded during the school year, training for the staff as a whole will need to take place on non-instructional time. In order to build a staff community focused on the same vision; to increase staff knowledge and understanding of curriculum; and to implement consistent instructional and school-wide practices requires all staff to receive the same training and collaborate on its implementation.

Staff/professional development on non-duty time may be designated as mandatory. Non-duty time can occur on Saturdays, after the work day, or during non-instructional days. Professional development focused on SIG goals and objective, planning, and structured collaboration for 2011, and 2012, will be paid at the at a stipend of \$300.00 per day for full day training and the hourly rate for after the work day training. Mandatory staff development shall not be scheduled on any legal holiday. Dates for the mandatory staff development shall be announced at least 14 calendar days in advance of the training. A maximum of 10 mandatory staff development days shall be required in any fiscal year.

Voluntary staff development may also be provided at the stipend rate of \$150.00 per day.

Staff members will be allowed to use the various leave sections of the contract in the event of circumstances which do not allow attendance during the scheduled S/PD times. Notices of leave usage shall follow the regular notification procedures. Alternative options will be provided to make up the mandatory staff development if equivalent training is available.

Item 5 Intervention Classes

Students will be assigned to intervention classes, based on needs as determined by school leadership team and a site administrator. However there may be specific situations that are confidential in nature that will necessitate the site administrator making the final determination of placement.

For the before/after school intervention funded through SIG, Teachers will be hired from among the bargaining unit at that site. If bargaining unit members are not qualified or interested, teachers maybe hired from other sites within the bargaining unit.

When intervention classes are done outside the workday, bargaining unit members will receive compensation at the extra duty rate of \$38.00 per hour. Positions will be posted consistent with the collective bargaining agreement.

Item 6 Additional Responsibilities

The parties acknowledge that participating in the SIG grant may require additional responsibility and hours (in addition to the 40 hours defined in Article 10. 2.a.) that are beyond those expected at other sites in the district. Teachers may be required to do more planning with peers including but not limited to: fill out more forms regarding student needs and achievements, direct the services of tutors, classroom aides, parent volunteers, instructional facilitators, make home visits and coordinate with the social service personnel that are an integral part of the transformation school. Administrators will be cognizant of the workload and will mutually agree to adjust as necessary to avoid burnout. Adjustments may include flex time, release time, and/or reduced instructional duties up to a maximum of 5 work days.

Item 7 Site Leadership Team (SLT)

The Site Leadership Team shall be selected to serve a two year term from 2011-2012 and 2012-2013. All SLT members shall be selected using the process identified below. The SLT shall be selected to serve one week prior to the opening of the staff work year.

Process for Selection of SLT

Positions will be posted on the Vacancy List indicating that it is open for HEA members assigned to the site. All members who apply shall be interviewed by a team which includes the Principal, SIG Coordinator and a Coach (TOSA). The interview will include an oral interview, review of a portfolio and performance based activities as needed. The selection criteria will be focused on the demonstrated ability to and/or the capacity to perform the duties listed under "Scope".

Composition

Elementary School - One bargaining unit per grade level (7 total)

Teachers will apply to be part of the Leadership Team and selected on an annual basis Selected teachers must be able to facilitate conversations regarding effective teaching and learning and have the ability to build capacity and support staff to successfully implement school reform.

The Leadership Team shall not evaluate their peers in any form.

Scope

The purpose of the Leadership Team is to provide guidance and support implementation of the components of the SIG grant. Specifically the SIG requires ongoing, high-quality, job-embedded professional development that is aligned with the school's comprehensive instructional program. This includes, but is not limited to;

- o Developing data-supported action plans
- o Implementation of strategies for increased student achievement
- o Facilitate grade level/subject matter meetings with identified outcomes
- o Participate in trainings and assist in supporting implementation
- o Facilitate "Intentional Data Study Groups"
- o Design, support, facilitate and/or evaluate professional development
- Identify successes in the implementation of strategies learned during professional development
- o Support grade level teams in identifying target strategies and the implementation (Due to the intensive focus on professional development and instruction, the Leadership Team shall be the governing body in these areas for the duration of the SIG grant.)

Compensation

For the school years 2011-2012 and 2012-2013, leadership team members (7 per elementary school and 10 at high school) shall be compensated at the rate of \$4,000 per year. Attendance at the Leadership Team meetings and follow up on assigned tasks is required to receive stipend. For SLT members who served during the 2010-2011 school year, they will receive a total of \$4000.00 less amount already paid.

Schedule meetings for the SLT are approximately 10 hours per month. Activities that are part of the duties or "scope" of the SLT are preformed or implemented as various times and are part of the professional responsibility of the SLT member.

General Provisions

The effective period of this Memorandum of Understanding shall be retroactive to July 1, 2010.

The District and HEA shall review the Memorandum of Understanding annually.

It is understood that the enforcement of the provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding will be subject to all levels of Article 8 of the CBA. To the extent that the specific terms and conditions of this Memorandum of Understanding conflicts with any provisions of the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the parties in effect as the date hereof, the agreements set forth in this MOU shall control.

Under any circumstances, the effective period of this memorandum shall end June 30, 2013 unless extended by written agreement of HEA and the District. This MOU shall immediately terminate upon the loss or reduction in SIG funding.

The parties agree to meet to review the implementation of this MOU in January and June of each year. The review will identify areas that are working and areas that may need additional clarity. The parties will revise as necessary.

Part of the SIG grant requires the implementation of a new evaluation system. The evaluation system components are as follows:

O Use rigorous, transparent, and equitable evaluation systems for teachers that

- o Take into account data on student growth as a significant factor as well as other factors such as multiple observation-based assessments of performance and ongoing collections of professional practice reflective of student achievement and increased high school graduation rates
- o Are designed and developed with teacher and principal involvement

The parties agree to immediate begin negotiations regarding the new evaluation system to conform to the grant requirements.

For HUSD

DATE

Side letter of Agreement Between Hayward Unified School District (HUSD) And the Hayward Education Association (HEA)

School Improvement Grant (SIG)
For Persistently Low Achieving Schools (PLAS):
Site Specific Contract Amendment- Tennyson High School
Effective July 1, 2010

Background

The State Department of Education has identified schools throughout California that meet criteria as Persistently Low Achieving (PLAS). HUSD has three schools in that category. The State mandated intervention at these schools and HUSD has received a School Improvement Grant (SIG) to support these schools' plans.

The HUSD has adopted and implemented the Transformation Model for school improvement at Tennyson High School.

In order to implement the terms of the SIG, HUSD and HEA agree to the following contract amendments. These provisions are not precedent setting and will remain in effect for the duration of the SIG grant, including any renewals of SIG pursuant to continuing Grant requirements including any other schools that are designated as Persistently Low Achieving and receive SIG funding.

Item 1) Staff Recruitment/Retention Stipends—In order to support the recruitment and retention of staff committed to fully implement the site plan, if the budget revision is approved by the CDE, an annual stipend of \$1,000 shall be paid to full time HEA staff. This payment shall be paid bi- annually (\$500.00 per semester). The stipends will be paid in year 1, 2, and 3. Part time staff completing a full school year shall receive pro-rated compensation.

Item 2) Staff Performance Incentive (PI) Stipends- A component of the SIG is identified for rewarding employees for increasing student achievement. This is demonstrated by meeting the minimum requirement for API under the AYP requirement. A stipend shall be awarded to all HEA staff who are assigned to the site when at least adequate AYP growth is achieved in all student subgroups in Math and/or English Language Arts. If the site makes AYP adequate growth as indicated above in both academic areas the total stipend per individual member shall be \$1,000. Adequate growth is defined as meeting Safe Harbor in all subgroups in either Math or English Language Arts. If a school sile makes Safe Harbor in both academic areas the total stipend shall be \$1,000. If a school site makes Safe Harbor in one academic area, the stipend shall be \$500.00.

Stipends will be paid at the beginning of years 2, and 3, and 4 with approval of budget revision (Tennyson only) retroactively to the previous year/staff.

The (PI) stipends shall be paid within 45 days following the announcement of the demonstrated school improvement.

Item 3 Staff Transfers

The SIG grant requires an intense focus on raising student achievement. To that end, a more intense commitment is required by all stakeholders to assist this school and its students to reach high achievement by adhering to a new set of practices and philosophy. At the end of the 2010-2011 school year, teachers who desire to transfer out of Tennyson will be given a one-time priority to transfer. After all district involuntary transfers have been made, Tennyson and other SIG school transfers will be allowed to transfer prior to other voluntary transfers.

Teachers who are administratively placed, or who choose a position at a SIG school as a result of layoff shall be afforded the same opportunity for transfer as described in the above provision.

Item 4 Staff Development/Professional Development

Intensive professional development is required as a part of the SIG program funding. Although some professional development is embedded during the school year, training for the staff as a whole will need to take place on non-instructional time. In order to build a staff community focused on the same vision; to increase staff knowledge and understanding of curriculum; and to implement consistent instructional and school-wide practices requires all staff to receive the same training and collaborate on its implementation.

Staff/professional development on non-duty time may be designated as mandatory. Non-duty time can occur on Saturdays, after the work day, or during non-instructional days. Professional development focused on SIG goals and objective, planning, and structured collaboration for 2011, and 2012, will be paid at the at a stipend of \$300.00 per day for full day training and the hourly rate for after the work day training. Mandatory staff development shall not be scheduled on any legal holiday. Dates for the mandatory staff development shall be announced at least 14 calendar days in advance of the training. A maximum of 10 mandatory staff development days shall be required in any fiscal year.

Voluntary staff development may also be provided at the stipend rate of \$150.00 per day.

Staff members will be allowed to use the various leave sections of the contract in the event of circumstances which do not allow attendance during the scheduled S/PD times. Notices of leave usage shall follow the regular notification procedures. Alternative options will be provided to make up the mandatory staff development if equivalent training is available.

Item 5 Intervention Classes

Students will be assigned to intervention classes, based on needs as determined by school leadership team, counselor and a site administrator. However there may be specific situations that are confidential in nature that will necessitate the site administrator making the final determination of placement.

For the before/after school intervention funded through SIG, Teachers will be hired from among the bargaining unit at that site. If bargaining unit members are not qualified or interested, teachers maybe hired from other sites within the bargaining unit.

When intervention classes are done outside the workday, bargaining unit members will receive compensation at the extra duty rate of \$38.00 per hour. Positions will be posted consistent with the collective bargaining agreement.

Item 6 Twilight School

Twilight School is an after school offering to enhance/expand the educational opportunities for students. The offering's may include but are not limited to the following: intervention, ROP, college credit and high school credit. For classes that are offered for High School credit, teachers shall be paid their individual per diem hourly rate of pay. Additionally, for every 10 hours of student contact/ instructional time the teacher shall receive 2 hours of preparation time.

Classes to be taught by HUSD teachers for HUSD credit shall be posted in accordance with Article 14- Transfer Procedures of the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

Item 7 Focus on Advanced Placement Classes

Advanced Placement (AP) classes at the High School prepare students for the Advanced Placement test. Passing the test allows student to receive college credit while still in high school. All students, whether they are enrolled in AP classes, should be taught with the rigorous standards of AP and pre-AP.

The process for approval of AP classes shall follow the State, District and College Board guidelines and approval.

Item 8 Additional Responsibilities

The parties acknowledge that participating in the SIG grant may require additional responsibility and hours (in addition to the 40 hours defined in Article 10. 2.a.) that are beyond those expected at other sites in the district. Teachers may be required to do more planning with peers including but not limited to: fill out more forms regarding student needs and achievements, direct the services of tutors, classroom aides, parent volunteers, instructional facilitators, make home visits and coordinate with the social service personnel that are an integral part of the turnaround school. Administrators will be cognizant of the workload and will mutually agree to adjust as necessary to avoid burnout. Adjustments may include flex time, release time, and/or reduced instructional duties up to a maximum of 5 work days.

Item 9 Site Leadership Team (SLT)

The Site Leadership Team shall be selected to serve a two year term from 2011-2012 and 2012 - 2013. All SLT members shall be selected using the process identified below. The SLT shall be selected to serve one week prior to the opening of the staff work year,

Process for Selection of SLT

Positions will be posted on the Vacancy List indicating that it is open for HEA members assigned to the site. All members who apply shall be interviewed by a team which includes the Principal, SIG Coordinator and a Coach (TOSA). The interview will include an oral interview, review of a portfolio and performance based activities as needed. The selection criteria will be focused on the demonstrated ability to and/or the capacity to perform the duties listed under "Scope".

Composition

 High School – I bargaining unit member per department (9 subject areas- English, Math, World Languages, PE, Fine Arts, Science, Social Science, Special Education, and Vocational Education.

Teachers will apply to be part of the Leadership Team and selected on an annual basis Selected teachers must be able to facilitate conversations regarding effective teaching and learning and have the ability to build capacity and support staff to successfully implement school reform.

The Leadership Team shall not evaluate their peers in any form.

Scope

The purpose of the Leadership Team is to provide guidance and support implementation of the components of the SIG grant. Specifically the SIG requires ongoing, high-quality, job-embedded professional development that is aligned with the school's comprehensive instructional program. This includes, but is not limited to;

- Developing data-supported action plans
- Implementation of strategies for increased student achievement
- o Facilitate grade level/subject matter meetings with identified outcomes
- o Participate in trainings and assist in supporting implementation
- Facilitate "Intentional Data Study Groups"
- o Design, support, facilitate and/or evaluate professional development
- o Identify successes in the implementation of strategies learned during professional development
- O Support grade level teams in identifying target strategies and the implementation (Due to the intensive focus on professional development and instruction, the Leadership Team shall be the governing body in these areas for the duration of the SIG grant.)

Compensation

For the school years 2011-2012 and 2012-2013, leadership team members (7 per elementary school and 10 at high school) shall be compensated at the rate of \$4,000 per year. Attendance at the Leadership Team meetings and follow up on assigned tasks is required to receive stipend. For SLT members who served during the 2010-2011 school year, they will receive a total of \$4000.00 less amount already paid.

Schedule meetings for the SLT are approximately 10 hours per month. Activities that are part of the duties or "scope" of the SLT are preformed or implemented as various times and are part of the professional responsibility of the SLT member.

General Provisions

The effective period of this Memorandum of Understanding shall be retroactive to July 1, 2010.

The District and HEA shall review the Memorandum of Understanding annually.

It is understood that the enforcement of the provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding will be subject to all levels of Article 8 of the CBA. To the extent that the specific terms and conditions of this Memorandum of Understanding conflicts with any provisions of the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the parties in effect as the date hereof, the agreements set forth in this MOU shall control.

Under any circumstances, the effective period of this memorandum shall end June 30, 2013 unless extended by written agreement of HEA and the District. This MOU shall immediately terminate upon the loss or reduction in SIG funding.

The parties agree to meet to review the implementation of this MOU in January and June of each year. The review will identify areas that are working and areas that may need additional clarity. The parties will revise as necessary.

Part of the SIG grant requires the implementation of a new evaluation system. The evaluation system components are as follows:

- o Use rigorous, transparent, and equitable evaluation systems for teachers that
 - o Take into account data on student growth as a significant factor as well as other factors such as multiple observation-based assessments of performance and ongoing collections of professional practice reflective of student achievement and increased high school graduation rates
 - o Are designed and developed with teacher and principal involvement

The parties agree to immediate begin negotiations regarding the new evaluation system to conform to the grant requirements.

7. Mercicles ForHEA
7/11/11
DATE

For HUSD

7-11-11

DATE

Memorandum of Understanding Between

Hayward Education Association (HEA)

And The

Hayward Unified School District (HUSD)

Tennyson High School SIG Summer Academy

June 12, 2012

All of the articles of the HEA/HUSD contract and the School improvement Grant (SiG) MOU are in effect unless specifically modified. Toward this end, the partied expressly agree to:

Due to students taking summer school courses for additional credits or acceleration (i.e. rising 9th graders) during the SIG Summer Academy, there will be no adverse impact to the number of sections allocated to the departments at the school site. Although the courses may vary based on student need within the department, the actual number of courses / sections allocated will remain the same.

Additionally, as outlined in the SIG MOU, for classes that are offered for High School credit, teachers shall be paid their individual per diem hourly rate of pay. Additionally, for every 10 hours of student contact/instructional time the teacher shall receive 2 hours of preparation time.

Hercedes

Mercedes Farai, President HEA

Donna Becnel, Assistant Superintendent of HR

6-12-12

Sideletter of Agreement Between Hayward Unified School District And the Hayward Education Association Adult School – Hourly Teachers April 12, 2011

In recognition of the change in working conditions for the 2010-2011 school year and in light of the need to avoid confusion to the community at large and adhere to the published calendar for the 2010-2011 school year, the following letter of agreement has been negotiated between HUSD and HEA

Due to the significant reduction in funding for programs offered by the Hayward Adult School, and aligning the schedule of classes to the needs of the students, the Hayward Adult School has transitioned the student calendar from a "traditional" 180 instructional days to "sessions" for day classes and evening classes (57-60 hours per session). As such, class schedules are based on student needs, program hour requirements and attendance. Class period times have been extended resulting in the number of days required to obtain the 57-60 hours credits.

Teachers working hourly may have non-student responsibility days and be assigned other duties. Additional duties will be mutually agreed upon between the unit member and the administrator for days that classes are not in session. HEA will be notified of the agreement on the days that classes are not in session. If the unit members and HAS administrator do not reach agreement, the unit member may appeal the decision to Human Resources and the HEA president or designee. HR and HEA will reach consensus no more than 5 days after the receipt of the appeal.

Additional duties must be commensurate with skills, and may include the following:

- o Development of curriculum
- o Development of program
- o Writing Grant Applications
- o Outreach to businesses
- o Short term trainings (1-5) days
- o Creation/articulation of State and National Testing Centers
- o Projects/programs identified in the State Strategic Plan for Adult Education
- o Continuation/projects closely align with current assignment and/or committee
- Student assessment and data collection
- o Student advisement for class registration

The number of work weeks are determined based upon the class scheduling from Fall sessions through Spring sessions and associated with individual departments. The number of weeks will vary depending on the program.

Tenure will be achieved based on the number of hours per week worked over a 2 year period of time, Fall sessions through Spring sessions, based on Ed Code provisions 44929.25 and 44908.

4 12 11 Date For HUSD

7-10

Date

Sideletter of Agreement Between Hayward Unified School District And the Hayward Education Association Adult School – Contracted Teachers April 12, 2011

In recognition of the change in working conditions for the 2010-2011 school year and in light of the need to avoid confusion to the community at large and adhere to the published calendar for the 2010-2011 school year, the following letter of agreement has been negotiated between HUSD and HEA

Due to the significant reduction in funding for programs offered by the Hayward Adult School, and aligning the schedule of classes to the needs of the students, the Hayward Adult School has transitioned the student calendar from a "traditional" 180 instructional days to "sessions" for day classes and evening classes (57-60 hours per session). As such, contracted teachers with 180 instructional days work year fewer "instructional days" with students. The 3 teacher work days currently identified in the Bargaining Agreement are not affected by the change in the "instructional days".

It is agreed teachers will work 180 work days. Additional duties to fulfill the 180 work days, will be mutually agreed upon between the unit member and the administrator for days that a unit members classes are not in session. HEA will be notified of the agreement on the days regarding the fulfillment of the 180 work days.. If the unit members and HAS administrator do not reach agreement, the unit member may appeal the decision to Human Resources and the HEA president or designee. HR and HEA will reach consensus no more than 5 days after the receipt of the appeal.

Additional duties must be commensurate with skills, and may include but not limited to the following:

- o Development of curriculum
- o Development of program
- o Writing Grant Applications
- o Outreach to businesses
- o Short term trainings (1 5 days)
- o Creation/articulation of State and National Testing Centers
- o Projects/programs identified in the State Strategic Plan for Adult Education
- o Continuation/projects closely align with current assignment and/or committee
- Student assessment and data collection
- o Student advisement for class registration

A unit member may request in writing to exchange non-instructional work days listed in the calendar with non-work days. This request shall be made at least 10 days in advance of the exchange and the site administrator/designee shall respond within 5 days. If the unit members request is denied, the unit member may appeal the decision to Human Resources and the HEA

president or designee. HR and HEA will reach consensus no more than 5 days after the receipt of the appeal.

If the number of work days or instructional days are modified for K-12 schools, the work days for the contracted teachers at the adult school will also be revisited by HUSD and HEA for negotiating any and all impacts of any modifications.

Calendar negotiations for the adult school for the 2011-2012 school year shall begin not later than April 30, 2011.

Date

Memorandum of Understanding

Between the Hayward Unified School District (HUSD)

And the

Hayward Education Association (HEA)

Wednesday, June 15 2011

Given the changing financial state of the Child Development funding, the HEA and HUSD agree to the following contract amendments:

- A. During the 2011-2012 fiscal year:
 - 1) The HEA CDC members' shall have a maximum of six (6) release days in addition to parent conference release time. The list below is the intent of when days will be taken.
 - a. Three (3) release days will occur throughout the 2011-2012 school year, one day shall be taken every 60 days to prepare for DRDP evaluations.
 - b. Two (2) release days shall occur during the 2011-12 school year. One (1) day in November/ December and one (1) day in May/ June to prepare for parent conferences.
 - One (1) release day will occur during January/February to prepare for ECCERS evaluations.
 - 2) The Parties agree to establish the following class size maximums:
 - a. Class size maximums shall be at 24 students to 1 teacher.
 - b. 1.00 FTE will equal 24 a.m. students and 24 p.m. students.
 - 3) CDC assignments will follow the current collective bargaining agreement, Article 14.
 - 4) The District agrees to provide additional clerical support for preparation of parent information and evaluation. Schedule to be determined by mutual agreement between the teacher and the Director.
 - 5) The Parties agree to return to establish four (4) meetings during the 2011-2012 school year to continue to review and develop future plans for the Child Development Program. At that time the Parties will assess the district's revenues and expenditures and State budget. The Parties shall determine if any CDC classes shall be restored. The first meeting will occur no later than October 1, 2011.

This Memorandum of Understanding shall sunset on June 30, 2012. All other provisions of the contract will remain in full force and effect of this agreement.

Mercedes Faraj, HEA President

Donna Becnel, Associate Superintendent HR

Memorandum of Understanding Between Hayward Education Association (HEA) And The Hayward Unified School District (HUSD) Transitional Kindergarten June 12, 2012

All articles of the HEA/HUSD contract are in effect unless specifically modified. Toward this end, the parties expressly agree to modify the following contract provisions:

Article 1 Recognition

Article 12 Class Size

Article 13 Evaluation

- 1. The District recognizes Hayward Education Association, CTA/NEA ("Association" or "HEA") as the exclusive representative for the following group of employees:
 - All temporary, probationary and permanent full-time certificated employees, which include interns, all temporary, probationary and permanent part-time certificated employees, which includes librarians, nurses, counselors, speech therapists, pre-school teachers, transitional kindergarten teachers, social workers, latchkey teachers, children center instructors, parent nursery teachers, program resource teachers, school psychologist and substitute teachers (other than those hired on a day-to-day basis) who are contracted to work more than 75% of the number of days the regular schools of the district are maintained, probationary and permanent certificated adult school teachers, hourly adult school teachers who work nine or more hours per week, and certificated summer school teachers.
- The selection process for unit members seeking to teach in the newly developed Transitional Kindergarten (TK) program beginning the 2012-13 school year shall be based upon current HEA/HUSD contract language as defined under Article 14, Transfer Procedures.
- 3. Transitional Kindergarten class size ratio shall be 25:1
- 4. Transitional Kindergarten classes shall not include combination classes.
- 5. The maximum length of instructional time for Transitional Kindergarten shall be 200 minutes.
- 6. Unit members will not be evaluated during the first year of Transitional Kindergarten implementation per Article 13.C.5.b, Evaluation (new program).
- 7. Unit members volunteering to transfer into the Transitional Kindergarten program shall:
 - a. Agree to teach the new curriculum and work within the schools and HUSD's program structure.
 - b. Agree to attend to participate in professional development opportunities in order to fully and successfully implement the new Transitional Kindergarten program.
- 8. Mandatory staff/professional development will be paid at the stipend rate of \$300,00 per day for full day training and the contract hourly rate for after the work day training.

- 9. Voluntary staff development may also be provided at the stipend rate of \$150 per day.
- 10. This MOU shall be for ONE year and will expire June 30, 2013. Upon its expiration, HUSD and HEA shall meet and confer to determine the success of the 2012-13 Transitional Kindergarten program and if necessary, make modifications to this MOU.

Mercedes Faraj, President

Hayward Education Association

Donna Becnet, Assistant Superintendent HR Hayward Unified School District

6-12-12

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING between HAYWARD UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT and

HAYWARD EDUCATION ASSOCIATION Re Reemployment Rights of K-12 Members Reemployed after Layoff

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is by and between the Hayward Unified School District ("District") and the Hayward Education Association ("HEA").

This MOU concerns the classification of HEA members who are K-12 employees and have been re-employed after being laid off in May 2009, May 2010, and/or May 2011. The purpose of this MOU is 1) to establish the employment classification of these employees; and 2) establish a process that will facilitate communication between HEA and the District concerning the classification of certain certificated employees as "temporary" in the future.

The parties mutually agree that:

- 1. Employees will be classified as "temporary" only if they:
 - (a) replace employees taking leaves of absence (Ed. Code § 44920). (The sum total of FTE temporary positions does not exceed the total of FTE positions held by employees on year-long leave of absence; or
 - (b) backfill for a permanent or probationary employee serving in a categorically funded position (Ed. Code § 44909).
- 2. All other certificated employees who are reemployed but do not meet any of the criteria listed in (a) or (b) shall be classified as permanent or probationary; as appropriate
 - (a) Attachment A is a list of Employees who have been reemployed and classified as permanent or probationary by the effective date of this MOU.
 - (b) Attachment B is a list of Employees who are currently classified as temporary.
 - (c) By September 15, 2011, the District will provide to HEA an updated list of Employees who are temporary but, as of that date, Employees who have been reclassified from temporary to permanent or probationary.
 - (d) By September 30, 2011, the District will provide to HEA a final list of Employees who are temporary and those who have been reclassified from temporary to permanent or probationary.
 - (e) Employees shall be reclassified from temporary to permanent or probationary in order of seniority.

- 4. Because of the confusion concerning the status of employees laid off since May 2009, the period of preferential reemployment rights for all such employees under Ed. Code § 44956 and 44957 shall be extended by one school year.
- 5. By August 15 of each school year, the District will issue a list of newly-hired or reemployed employees and their classifications, including those who have been classified as temporary in accordance with the criteria listed in Para. 2, and those who are classified as probationary or permanent. By September 15, the District will update the list, and by no later than September 30 will issue a final list showing the classifications of all newly-hired or reemployed employees.

8|1|11 Dais

8/1/11 Days

Downa Bornel

Mercedes Faraj

Asst. Superintendent of Human Resources
Hayward Unified School District

Hayward Education Association

7-21-11 Date

7-28-11

Approved as to form:

Dale Brodsky Attorney for NE

Laurie Juengert

Attorney for HUSE

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING Between HAYWARD UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT And

HAYWARD EDUCATION ASSOCTION
Re: Re-employment Rights of Permanent Adult School Teachers

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is by and between the Hayward Unified School District (District) and the Hayward Education Association (HEA) and concerns the classification of permanent Adult School HEA members re-employed after being laid off in May of 2011.

- 1. The Adult School employees will retain their permanent classification as Adult School employees.
- 2. If the Adult School is closed during the 2011-2012 school year, the District will offer each Adult School employee a position for which he or she is credentialed for the remainder of the 2011-2012 school year. The position may be in the K-12 program, in the Educational Services Department, in a long-term substitute position, or in a position for which a waiver can be granted. The District will meet and confer with the employee and the Association before any assignment is made.
- For the 2011-2012 school year, the employee will receive the pay rate applicable
 to the position to which he/she is assigned which, in no event, will be less than
 his/her current rate of pay.
- 4. If an employee does not accept the assignment, he/she may either take a leave of absence or resign. If the employee resigns or is ineligible for a position the District will not contest the employee's application for Unemployment Insurance.
- If an employee accepts a position as defined in paragraph 2 above, he/she will have the option to return to the Adult School if positions become available.
- 6. While serving in a position that is not within the Adult School, the employee will hold seniority on two seniority lists. The employee will have the seniority date he or she attained while serving in the Adult School. The employee will retain permanent classification only in the Adult School.

ADULT SCHOOL MOU

7. If the District decides to reduce particular kinds of service in the Adult School for the 2012-2013 school year, the District will conduct a layoff under Education Code sections 44949 and 44955, and the Adult School employees, even if assigned to other positions, will retain all rights available under 44955 and 44956. Under no circumstances will an Adult School employee lose his/her preferential reemployment rights as a permanent Adult School employee under 44956.

<u>8|1|11</u>

Date/

Mercedes Faraj

Hayward Education Association

Donna Becnel

Asst. Superintendent of Human Resources

Hayward Unified School District

Approved as to form:

7-28-11

7-28-11

Dale Brodsky

Attorney for HEA

Laurie Juengert

Attorney for HVSD

Agreement Between HEA and HUSD Regarding Nurse Staffing June 11, 2009

The parties agree that 50% of the MAA reimbursement money will go to sites/departments and an additional 25% will go to increasing nurse staffing and the remaining 25% will go to the general fund. Any MAA reimbursement money allocated to the sites which was not expensed by June 1, 2009 shall not be included in the 2009 allocation to the sites.

Letter of Agreement Between HEA and HUSD Regarding Budget Forum December 1, 2005

- 1. Beginning the month after ratification there shall be a budget forum meeting.
 - 2. Meeting participants will consist of the Superintendent, and one district business official, and three representatives chosen by HEA with additional members representing other constituent groups.
 - 3. The committee will meet ten times a year to review the district finances in SACS format.

Side Letter Agreement between the Hayward Unified School District and the Hayward Education Association

Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA) Stipend

The Hayward Unified School District ("District") and the Hayward Education Association ("HEA") recognize the importance of recruiting and retaining highly qualified employees. The parties also endeavor to provide the best education possible to students by ensuring that we effectively address social-emotional needs of students. To that end, the parties agree to provide a Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA) Stipend.

The parties agree to modify the contract language as follows, effective July 1, 2018.

Appendix A, Extra Compensation

Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA)

Unit members who possess valid certification as Board Certified Behavior Analysts (BCBAs) and are classified as Behaviorists or Behavior Specialist, shall receive a stipend of \$6,418.

For HEA:

Mercedes Farai Procident

Date:

For the District:

pelia Ruiz, Assistant Superintendent

Date: IDIOALLA



Hayward Unified School District

Board of Education

Dr. Annette Walker, President Dr. April Oquenda, Vice President Dr. Robert Carlson, Clerk Dr. Luis Reynoso, Trustee Mr. Ken Rawdon, Trustee

Administrative Staff

Matt Wayne, Ed.D., Superintendent
Chien Wu-Fernandez, Associate Superintendent, Student and Family Services
Kim Watts, Assistant Superintendent, Human Resources
Allan Garde, Assistant Superintendent, Business Services
Lisa Davies, Ed.D., Assistant Superintendent, Educational Services